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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EREE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
of Dragon Rise Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”), | am pleased to present the
annual report of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024 (the
“Review Year").

With the lifting of COVID-19 restrictions, Hong Kong has resumed
normal travel and trade with mainland China and other regions.
Measures such as social distancing and vaccine passports that
affected residents’ daily lives and businesses have been completely
abolished. These changes have directly impacted various business
sectors, and signs of business recovery have emerged. Overall, Hong
Kong's GDP growth rate of 3.2% in 2023, compared to negative
growth in 2022, demonstrates its resilience.

The construction industry in Hong Kong experienced a recovery
and returned to normalcy in 2023. The lifting of COVID-19
restriction measures has allowed construction sites to increase their
workforce, enabling them to operate more efficiently. Additionally,
the reopening of borders with the PRC and other countries has
facilitated the transportation of construction materials, making it
more convenient and cost-effective.

The recovery of the industry has directly resulted in an increase in
output. According to data from the Census and Statistics Department
of the Government of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
(the “Government”), the preliminary results for 2023 show that
the total nominal value of construction projects completed by
major contractors amounted to HK$271 billion, representing an
increase of 8.8% compared to 2022. In the piling and foundation
industry where our Group operates, the nominal value for 2023 is
approximately HK$21,468 million, showing a significant growth
compared to HK$14,477 million in 2022.

The Group is primarily engaged in undertaking foundation works
in Hong Kong as a subcontractor. During the Review Year, the
Group's total revenue amounted to approximately HK$945.9
million, increasing approximately 20.3% compared to HK$786.2
million from the year ended 31 March 2023 (“Last Year”). With the
increase in revenue, it recorded a gross profit of HK$39.5 million, an
increase of approximately 63.2% from Last Year’'s HK$24.2 million.

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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In the future, there are numerous potential business opportunities
for the foundation industry. The Chief Executive’s Policy Address,
released on 25 October 2023, highlighted the Government's plans
to develop the Northern Metropolis in the northern part of the New
Territories as a subcentre for the city. This planned development
presents potential project opportunities for various professionals in
the construction industry. However, the construction industry has
been and will continue to face challenges including rising cost of
labour and volatility in material prices. Factors such as changes in
population structure, emigration, and difficulties in attracting young
people to join the industry continue to contribute to a shortage of
labour supply in the local construction sector.

For our Group, the future is marked by a mix of opportunities and
challenges. However, amidst any changes in the external landscape,
we remain unwavering in our dedication to delivering services of
the highest quality to ensure customer satisfaction and upholding
rigorous production safety standards to safeguard our employees’
working environment. We firmly believe that only through these
commitments can we sustain and thrive in the long run.

Beyond our core foundation works business, we are strategically
expanding into new markets and sectors. This includes exploring
opportunities in nearby regions and deepening cooperation with
other corporations. Leveraging our expertise and capital, we are
actively seeking opportunities to diversify our operations, with a
sincere commitment to sustainable development.

As the Chairman of the Board, | would like to express my deep
gratitude for the diligent work of all employees in the Group,
the trust bestowed upon us by our valued customers, and the
unwavering support from our shareholders. We are determined
to continuously strive for excellence and seize opportunities both
within Hong Kong and beyond, with the aim of achieving greater
accomplishments to reward our shareholders.

Yip Yuk Kit
Chairman and Executive Director
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EHBIWESHh

INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

2023 was a year of comprehensive economic recovery for Hong
Kong, with the annual GDP growth rate reaching 3.2%, primarily
attributed to the resumption of normal operations across various
industries after the lifting of COVID-19 epidemic control measures.

The provisional data released by the Government’s Department of
Census and Statistics in March 2024 shows that the construction
industry in Hong Kong has exhibited a robust growth trajectory.
Overall, in 2023, the nominal total value of construction projects
completed by major contractors reached HK$271 billion, marking an
8.8% increase compared to the previous year. After accounting for
the impact of price changes and calculating in real terms, the actual
total value in 2023 showed a significant growth of 9.9% compared
to 2022. Additionally, as of December 2023, the number of public
construction sites in Hong Kong stood at 845, indicating a year-on-
year increase of 9.0%.

The foundation industry in which our Group operates has
experienced a significant recovery, influenced by favourable market
conditions. Official data shows that in 2023, the nominal value
of piling and foundation projects reached HK$21,468 million,
marking a 48.3% increase from HK$14,477 million in 2022, far
exceeding the overall level of the construction industry. This growth
rate can be attributed to the increase in new construction sites, as
foundation work is the initial phase of the construction process,
thereby benefiting first from industry recovery.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

The Group is a seasoned subcontractor in Hong Kong’s
construction industry, with three decades of experience, mainly
engaging in foundation works for commercial and residential
building construction. The Group has developed the experience
and capability to offer a comprehensive range of foundation
construction and related services. It specialises in (i) ELS and pile
cap construction works; (ii) disposal of excavated materials from
piling; and (iii) ancillary services including dismantling of shoring,
site formation, steel fixing and site clearance. Kit Kee Engineering
Limited (“Kit Kee Engineering”), the principal operating subsidiary,
is registered with the Construction Industry Council under the
Subcontractor Registration Scheme under the sub-register of the
structural and civil trade group.

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

During the Review Year, the Group had been awarded 8 projects
with a total original contract sum of approximately HK$1,255
million. The year's overall revenue reached HK$945.9 million, an
increase of 20.3% compared to the year ended 31 March 2023.
The Group's gross profit amounted to HK$39.5 million, an increase
of approximately 63.2% compared to HK$24.2 million for the year
ended 31 March 2023.

Looking ahead, in addition to the integrated development of
the Northern Metropolis in the northern New Territories, the
Government has planned a series of new infrastructure projects
in various districts of Hong Kong for different purposes, including
transportation, housing, and education. The Development Bureau
anticipates that approximately 3,370 hectares of land will be
available for development in the next decade. Private construction
projects may not be as extensive as Government initiatives, but new
residential developments are still continuously being planned. These
plans and data present favourable prospects for the future of the
foundation industry.

Although the overall volume of construction projects is expected to
increase in the foreseeable future, the construction industry in Hong
Kong is already well-developed, with a multitude of contractors
at each stage of the construction process. Consequently, the
competition for securing project contracts is highly intense.
Additionally, the ageing population and a lack of interest among
young people in pursuing careers in the construction industry
have led to a shortage of labour, which is also a significant factor
impacting the development of the construction industry. Data
indicates that as of December 2023, there were a total of 2,397
vacant positions for construction workers. However, with the
implementation of more lenient policies on importing foreign
labour, this situation may potentially be mitigated in the future.

As a seasoned market player, our Group will seize the opportune
moment of Hong Kong's booming construction industry to strive
for more business opportunities. At the same time, we will actively
expand our presence beyond Hong Kong, particularly by deepening
cooperation with corporations in the PRC and other regions,
aiming to broaden our influence and achieve higher returns.
Simultaneously, the Group is expanding its business horizons to
acquire more diversified sources of income, by venturing into the
trading of construction materials such as silica, sand, cement, and
steel, as well as modular integrated construction, and new energy
sector. Leveraging the Group’s capital strength and reputation as
a listed company, the Board aims to create synergies across these
related business lines and strengthen the Group's long-term growth.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
THEBWRE S H

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

For the Review Year, the revenue of the Group has increased by
approximately HK$159.7 million, or approximately 20.3% compared
to Last Year, from approximately HK$786.2 million to approximately
HK$945.9 million. The increase was primarily attributable to an
increase in contract revenue due to an increase in the number of
projects with revenue contribution during the Review Year.

The Board regards the Group’s business was a single operating
segment and reviews the overall results of the Group as a whole to
make decisions about resources allocation. Accordingly, no segment
analysis information is presented and no separate analysis of
segment information by geographical segment is presented as the
Group's revenue and non-current assets are mainly attributable to a
single geographical region, which is Hong Kong.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

Our direct costs increased by approximately HK$144.4 million or
approximately 19.0% from approximately HK$762.0 million for the
Last Year to approximately HK$906.4 million for the Review Year.

The gross profit of the Group has increased by approximately
HK$15.3 million, or approximately 63.2% compared to Last
Year, from approximately HK$24.2 million to approximately
HK$39.5 million. The gross profit margin for the Review Year
was approximately 4.2%, compared to that for the Last Year of
approximately 3.1%. The increase in gross profit margin was mainly
due to the relatively high profit margin for certain projects.

Other Losses/Gains, Net

Other losses, net mainly included Government grants and subsidies,
changes in fair value on investment property and exchange
differences. For the Review Year, other losses, net amounted to
approximately HK$0.2 million as compared with other gains, net
approximately HK$7.1 million for Last Year. The decrease in other
gains, net for the Review Year was mainly due to the Government
grants and subsidies under the Anti-epidemic Fund of approximately
HK$7.8 million recognised for the Last Year.

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Administrative Expenses

For the Review Year, the administrative expenses increased by
approximately HK$5.8 million or approximately 26.4% compared
to Last Year, from approximately HK$22.0 million to approximately
HK$27.8 million. The increase was primarily due to (1) an increase
in staff costs included in administrative expenses of approximately
HK$1.4 million, (2) an increase in marketing expenses of
approximately HK$1.4 million and (3) an increase in consulting fees
for new business development of approximately HK$1.6 million for
the Review Year.

Expected Credit Loss (“ECL") Allowance on Trade
Receivables and Contract Assets, net

For the Review Year, the impairment under ECL allowance on trade
receivables and contract assets increased by approximately HK$3.6
million compared to Last Year, from approximately HK$74,000
to approximately HK$3.7 million. The increase was mainly due to
the slow recovery of the local economic environment, the financial
conditions and repayment abilities of the customers in the Group’s
business have been adversely affected.

Finance Costs

For the Review Year, the finance costs amounted to approximately
HK$1.0 million as compared to Last Year of approximately
HK$186,000. The increase was primarily due to the increase in
balance of bank borrowings during the Review Year.

Income Tax Expense

For the Review Year, the income tax expense increased by
approximately HK$1.5 million or approximately 136.4% compared
to the Last Year, from approximately HK$1.1 million to approximately
HK$2.6 million. Such increase was mainly due to the increase in
taxable income for the Review Year.

Net Profit

For the Review Year, the net profit amounted to approximately
HK$4.2 million, as compared to approximately HK$7.9 million
from Last Year. Our net profit margin for the Review Year was
approximately 0.4%, as compared with approximately 1.0% for Last
Year. The decrease in the net profit margin for the Review Year was
mainly due to the combined effect of the increase in ECL allowance
on trade receivables and contract assets, net and the decrease in
other gains during the Review Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
THEBWRE S H

Key Financial Ratio FEBKLER
As at As at
31 March 31 March
Notes 2024 2023
RZB-mME RZZT==F
i =A=+-8 =A=+-~
Current ratio VRS (1 2.7 times 1Z 6.2 times f&
Gearing ratio BEBELE ) 23.0% 1.3%
Return on total assets 484 7 B 3 R (3) 1.0% 2.6%
Return on equity J% 7K [3] 37 = (4) 1.6% 3.0%
Net profit margin 4 1) 2= (5) 0.4% 1.0%

Notes:

1.

Current ratio is calculated as current assets divided by current liabilities
as at the respective reporting dates.

Gearing ratio is calculated as total borrowings (including lease
liabilities) divided by the total equity as at the respective reporting
dates.

Return on total assets is calculated as profit for the year divided by the
total assets as of the respective reporting dates.

Return on equity is calculated as profit for the year divided by the
total equity as of the respective reporting dates.

Net profit margin is calculated as profit divided by the revenue for the
respective reporting years.

Current Ratio

Our Group's current ratio decreased from approximately 6.2
times as at 31 March 2023 to approximately 2.7 times as at 31
March 2024. The decrease was mainly due to the increase in bank
borrowings as at 31 March 2024.

Gearing Ratio

Our Group's gearing ratio increased from approximately 1.3% as at
31 March 2023 to approximately 23.0% as at 31 March 2024. The
increase was primarily due to the increase in bank borrowings as at
31 March 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Return on Total Assets

Our Group's return on total assets amounted to approximately 1.0%
as at 31 March 2024, as compared to the return on total assets of
approximately 2.6% as at 31 March 2023. The decrease in ratio was
primarily due to the decrease in net profit for the Review Year.

Return on Equity

Our Group’s return on equity amounted to approximately 1.6%
as at 31 March 2024, as compared to the return on equity of
approximately 3.0% as at 31 March 2023. The decrease in ratio was
primarily due to the decrease in net profit for the Review Year.

Net Profit Margin

Our Group’s net profit margin amounted to approximately 0.4%
as at 31 March 2024, as compared to the net profit margin of
approximately 1.0% as at 31 March 2023. The slight decrease was
mainly due to the combined effect of the increase in ECL allowance
on trade receivables and contract assets, net and the decrease in
other gains for the Review Year.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Directors are aware that the Group is exposed to various risks
and uncertainties. The following are the key risks and uncertainties
faced by the Group:

Industry Risks

The future development of the foundation industry and the
availability of foundation projects in Hong Kong depends largely
on the continued development of the property market in Hong
Kong. The nature, extent and timing of available foundation
projects will be determined by an interplay of a variety of factors,
including the Government'’s policies on the property market in Hong
Kong, its land supply and public housing policy, the investment of
property developers and the general conditions and prospects of
Hong Kong's economy. These factors may affect the availability
of foundation projects in Hong Kong. If there is any slowdown (in
terms of transaction volume and price) of the property market in
Hong Kong, there is no assurance that the availability of foundation
projects in Hong Kong would not decrease significantly and our
Group’s business and financial position and prospect may be
adversely and materially affected.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
THEBWRE S H

Compliance Risks

Many aspects of our business operation are governed by various
laws and regulations and Government policies. There is no assurance
that the Government will not extend the scope of the existing laws
and regulations or interpretation of new Government policies.
Further, we may not be able to respond to any such changes in
a timely manner. Such changes may also increase our costs and
burden in complying with them, which may materially and adversely
affect our business, financial condition and results of operation.
In particular, if there are any changes to and/or imposition of the
requirements for qualification in the foundation industry in relation
to environment protection and labour safety, and we fail to meet
the new requirements in a timely manner or at all, our business
operation will be materially and adversely affected.

Our executive Directors would hold regular meetings to ensure the
Group’s operations are in compliance with all applicable statutory
requirements.

Uncertainties in Construction Progress

Prior to commencement of the foundation works, the customers
would normally provide ground investigation reports to the Group.
However, information contained in these reports may not be
sufficient to reveal the actual geology beneath the construction
site due to limitation in the scope of the underground investigation
works that can be carried out at the site and/or other technical
limitations. There may be discrepancies between the actual
geological conditions and the findings set out in these investigation
reports, and the investigation may not be able to reveal the
existence of rocks or to identify any antiquities, monuments or
structures beneath the site.

All these may eventually present potential issues and uncertainties
in the carrying out of our foundations works, such as the possible
increase in the complexity of the project resulting from additional
work procedures, workers, equipment and times required to deal
with any unexpected existence of rocks, antiquities or monuments,
which may also lead to additional costs to be incurred. Nevertheless,
in case of any significant unexpected difficult geological or sub-
soil conditions, the Group may incur additional costs in dealing
with such unforeseen conditions, which may lead to cost overruns
and may thus materially and adversely affect the Group’s business
operation and financial position.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Services utilities may be laid underground or below carriageways
and footways in Hong Kong. The Group may be obstructed by
those service utilities when carrying out foundation works. There
is no assurance that damage to those utilities will not occur during
the foundation works. Accordingly, the Group may be liable to the
costs for the repair of such damaged service utilities to the extent
not covered by insurance.

Failure to Guarantee New Business

Our revenue is typically derived from projects which are non-
recurrent in nature and our customers are under no obligation to
award projects to us. During the Review Year, we secured new
businesses mainly through direct invitation for quotation or tender
by customers. There is no assurance that (i) we would be invited to
provide quotations or participate in the tendering process for new
projects; and (ii) our submitted quotations and tenders would be
selected by customers. There is no guarantee that the Group will
be able to secure new businesses from customers. The number and
scale of projects from which the Group derives revenue from may
vary significantly from period to period, and it may be difficult to
forecast the volume of future business. In the event that the Group
fails to secure new contracts or there is a significant decrease in the
number of tender invitations or contracts available for bidding in
the future, the business and financial positions and prospect of the
Group could be materially and adversely affected.

Nevertheless, the Group considers that a public listing status enable
us to enjoy several competitive advantages, such as transparent
financial disclosures, enhanced internal control and corporate
governance practices. Our Directors believe the customers would
give weight to these competitive edges when they select and
engage subcontractors for foundation services.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
THEBWRE S H

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

In undertaking foundation works, our operations may result in: (i)
emission of air pollutants; (ii) emission of noise from construction
activities; (iii) discharge of effluent from construction activities;
and (iv) disposal of construction waste. Therefore, our foundation
works are subject to the requirements of the following laws and
regulations in relation to the environmental protection.

The laws and regulations which have a significant impact on the
Group includes, among others, Air Pollution Control Ordinance
(Chapter 311 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Air Pollution Control
(Non-road Mobile Machinery) (Emission) Regulation (Chapter
311Z of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “NRMM Regulation”), Noise
Control Ordinance (Chapter 400 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Water
Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 358 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), Waste Disposal Ordinance (Chapter 354 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), Dumping at Sea Ordinance (Chapter 466 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), Environmental Impact Assessment Ordinance (Chapter
499 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and Public Health and Municipal
Services Ordinance (Chapter 132 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

The Group is committed to minimise the adverse impact on the
environment resulting from our business activities. In order to
comply with the applicable environmental protection laws, the
Group has established an environmental management system in
accordance with the ISO 14001:2015 international standards.
Since January 2017, the environmental management system of Kit
Kee Engineering has been certified to be in accordance with the
requirements of the ISO 14001:2015 standards. Our environmental
management system includes measures and work procedures
governing environmental protection compliance that are required to
be followed by our employees and our subcontractors.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group has 139 machines regulated
under the NRMM Regulation and out of which 38 machines were
exempted and 101 machines were approved by the Hong Kong
Environmental Protection Department under the NRMM Regulation.
In compliance with the NRMM Regulation on the emissions of
machinery, all of the 38 exempted machines are expected to be
phased out. To keep the Group abreast of the industry changes due
to the implementation the NRMM Regulation, we plan to acquire
new machines and equipment which are more environmental
friendly and are able to obtain approval under the NRMM
Regulation if applicable.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the Review Year, as far as the Board and the management
are aware, there was no material breach of or non-compliance with
the applicable laws and regulations by the Group that has material
impact on the business and operation of the Group.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS, SUPPLIERS AND SUB-CONTRACTORS
Employees

The Group considers its employees the key to sustainable business
growth and also recognises its employees as its valuable assets.
Further, in light of the shortage of skilled labour in the local
construction industry, it is crucial to maintain a competitive
remuneration package and fringe benefits for our potential
and existing employees. In this regard, the Group provides
comprehensive remuneration package includes salary, discretionary
bonuses and other cash subsidies to attract, motivate and retain
appropriate and suitable employees to serve the Group. In general,
our Group determines employee salaries based on each employee’s
qualifications, position and seniority. Our Group has designed an
annual review system to assess the performance of our employees,
which forms the basis of our decisions with respect to salary raises,
bonuses and promotions. The Group also provides on-the-job
training and development opportunities to enhance its employees’
career development and learning.

Customers

The Group is aware of the risk of customer concentration, and
sought to reduce the reliance on major customer by undertaking
more sizable projects for other customers.

Besides that, the Group believes a strong and good relationship
with customers would increase its recognition and visibility in the
foundation industry. As such, the Group values the views and
opinions of all customers through various means and channels,
including regular review and analysis on customer feedback.

The Group also believes that a strong and good relationship with
customers can further develop new business opportunities in the
foundation industry.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
THEBWRE S H

Suppliers and Sub-contractors

The Group has developed stable and strong working relationships
with suppliers and sub-contractors to meet the Group’s customers’
needs in an effective and efficient manner. The Group works closely
with the suppliers and sub-contractors to make sure the tendering,
procurement and sub-contracting are conducted in an open, fair
and just manner. The Group’s requirements and standards are also
well-communicated to them before the commencement of the
project.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL POSITION AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

During the Review Year, there has been no change in capital
structure of the Group. The Group continued to finance its working
capital with internally generated cash flows and bank borrowings.

As at 31 March 2024, the Company’s issued capital was HK$12.0
million and the number of its issued ordinary shares was
1,200,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had total cash, bank balances and
pledged deposits of approximately HK$134.0 million (31 March
2023: approximately HK$96.3 million).

TREASURY POLICY

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach
towards its treasury policy. The Board closely monitors the Group’s
liquidity position to ensure that the liquidity structure of the Group'’s
assets, liabilities, and other commitments can meet its funding
requirements all the time.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had pledged (i) an investment
property situated in Hong Kong of approximately HK$3.9 million
(31 March 2023: approximately HK$4.5 million); (i) approximately
HK$19.8 million and RMB13.0 million bank deposits (31 March
2023: approximately HK$10.2 million and RMB13.0 million bank
deposits); and (iii) corporate guarantee given by the Company in
order to secure bank facilities granted to Kit Kee Engineering.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

As the Group only operates in Hong Kong and all of the revenue
and transactions arising from its operations were settled in Hong
Kong dollars, the Directors are of the view that the Group’s foreign
exchange rate risks are insignificant. Thus, the Group has not
entered into any derivative contracts to hedge against the foreign
exchange rate risk for the Review Year.

During the Review Year, the Group placed a portion of its cash
reserves in RMB in certificates of deposit for interest return, and we
incurred an exchange loss of approximately HK$1.0 million (For Last
Year: approximately HK$1.3 million).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group had no capital
commitments for acquiring machine.

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group had been involved in
a number of claims, litigations and potential claims against the
Group in relation to work-related injuries and non-compliances. The
Directors are of the opinion that the claims, litigations and non-
compliances are not expected to have a material impact on the
consolidated financial statements, and the outcome for potential
claims is uncertain. Accordingly, no provision has been made to the
consolidated financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

During the Review Year, the Group did not have any significant
investment held, nor any material acquisitions or disposals of
subsidiaries or associated companies.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENT
OR CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in the prospectus of the Company dated 26
January 2018 (the “Prospectus”), the Group did not have any other
plans for material investments or capital assets during the Review
Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
THEBWRE S H

USE OF PROCEEDS

The net proceeds received by the Group, after deducting related
expenses, were approximately HK$91.9 million. These proceeds are
intended to be applied in accordance with the proposed application
set out in the section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds”
in the Prospectus. Such uses include: (i) enhancing the construction
machinery fleet; (i) strengthening the workforce and manpower; (iii)
reinforcing sales and marketing efforts; and (iv) funding of general
working capital. Details of the use of the proceeds are listed as
below:
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Enhancing the construction machinery fleet BRI E R 60,311 60,311 -
Strengthening the workforce and manpower MEAFRAN 19,272 19,272 -
Reinforcing sales and marketing efforts MEBEEREHENE 4,761 4,761 -
Funding of general working capital BN—REEES 7,596 7,596 -
Total Fob 91,940 91,940 -

As at 31 March 2024, the net proceeds were fully utilised.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2024, we employed a total of 338 full-time
employees (including two executive Directors but excluding three
independent non-executive Directors), as compared to a total of
304 full-time employees as at 31 March 2023. The remuneration
packages that the Group offers to employees includes salary,
discretionary bonuses and other cash subsidies. In general, the
Group determines employee salaries based on each employee’s
qualifications, position and seniority. The Group has designed an
annual review system to assess the performance of its employees,
which forms the basis of its decisions with respect to salary raises,
bonuses and promotions. The Group also adopted a share option
scheme whereby qualified participants may be granted options to
acquire shares in the Company. The total staff cost incurred by the
Group for the Review Year was approximately HK$140.0 million
compared to approximately HK$157.8 million of Last Year.

The remuneration of the Directors is decided by the Board upon
the recommendation from the remuneration committee of the
Company having regard to the Group’s operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics.

DIVIDENDS

The Board has resolved not to recommend the declaration of final
dividend for the Review Year (For Last Year: nil).
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BIOGRAPHICALDETAILSOF THE DIRECTORSANDSENIORMANAGEMENT

EFREREEBEESH

Biographical Details of the Directors and Senior Management are set
out as follows:

DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. YIP Yuk Kit (EBEZR) ("Mr. Yip”), aged 68, is one of the
controlling shareholders, the chairman of the Board, an executive
Director and chief executive officer of the Group. He joined the
Group in August 1993 and is one of the founders of the Group. He
is also a director of each and every wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Group.

Mr. Yip is responsible for the overall business development and
business strategies of the Group. He has more than 45 years of
experience in the foundation industry. In 1977, Mr. Yip commenced
his business of earthwork and air compressor rental in Hong Kong
through Kit Kee Mechanics* (RFEH##,) which was first registered
as a sole proprietorship. In 1986, Mr. Yip established Kit Kee
Engineering Company* (7R L2 2 F]) where he engaged in ELS
and foundation works in Hong Kong. On 19 August 1993, Mr. Yip
co-founded Kit Kee Engineering where Mr. Yip is responsible for
overseeing the projects and business development. From August
1993 and up to the present, Mr. Yip is the managing director of Kit
Kee Engineering.

Mr. Yip has entered into a service agreement with the Company
for an initial term of three years commencing on 8 February 2018
and will continue thereafter until terminated in accordance with
the terms of the agreement. The amount of emoluments paid for
the year ended 31 March 2024 to Mr. Yip is set out in note 12
to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2024 of the Company’s annual report. Such remuneration/
emoluments will be reviewed annually by the Board and the
remuneration committee and he is also entitled to a discretionary
bonus with reference to his performance and the operating results
of the Group.

Mr. Yip has not held any directorship in the last three years in
public companies the securities of which are listed on any securities
market in Hong Kong or overseas. As at the latest practicable
date, he was interested in 890,000,000 Shares held through Fame
Circle (representing 74.2% of the aggregate number of Shares
in issue). Save as disclosed above, Mr. Yip was not interested in
any Shares within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (“SFO") as at the latest practicable date. Save as
disclosed above, Mr. Yip does not have any relationship with any
other Directors, senior management or substantial shareholder or
controlling shareholder of the Company.

*  For identification purpose only
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. CHEUNG Chun Fai (3R#&x#&) (“Mr. Cheung”), aged 54, is an
executive Director of the Group. He joined the Group in October
1996.

Mr. Cheung is responsible for the overall management and
business operations of the Group. Mr. Cheung has over 25 years of
experience in the foundation industry. Mr. Cheung was a technician
at Fugro-McClelland Geotechnical Services (Hong Kong) Limited
from July 1990 to September 1991 and a resident technical officer
(laboratory) of Maunsell Consultants Asia Limited from December
1991 to January 1993. From March 1993 to April 1995, Mr. Cheung
worked in the Water Suppliers Department of the Government as a
technical officer. He then worked in High-Point Rendel (HK) Limited
as a technical officer from May 1995 to June 1996 and was a site
engineer at Hsin Chong (Foundations) Limited from June 1996 to
September 1996. Mr. Cheung joined the Group in October 1996 as
a site engineer. He was subsequently promoted to the position of
project manager in 2006 and was further promoted to the position
of director in 2017. Mr. Cheung obtained a Higher Diploma in
Building from the City University of Hong Kong in November 1995.

Mr. Cheung has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for an initial term of three years commencing on 8
February 2018 and will continue thereafter until terminated in
accordance with the terms of the agreement. The amount of
emoluments paid for the year ended 31 March 2024 to Mr. Cheung
is set out in note 12 to the consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 March 2024 of the Company’s annual report.
Such remuneration/ emoluments will be reviewed annually by the
Board and the remuneration committee and he is also entitled to
a discretionary bonus with reference to his performance and the
operating results of the Group.

Mr. Cheung has not held any directorship in the last three years
in public companies the securities of which are listed on any
securities market in Hong Kong or overseas. He is not connected
with any Directors, senior management, substantial or controlling
shareholders of the Company, nor does he have any interests in the
Shares which are required to be disclosed pursuant to Part XV of the
SFO.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EFREREEEERERH

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. CHAN Ka Yu (BFRZR=F) (“Mr. KY Chan”), aged 45, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 18 January
2018. He has entered into a letter of appointment for a fixed
term of three years with effect from 8 February 2018 and will
continue thereafter until terminated in accordance with the terms
of the appointment. He is entitled to an annual director’s fee of
HK$180,000. Mr. KY Chan is mainly responsible for overseeing the
management independently and providing independent judgement
on the issues of strategy, performance, resources and standard of
conduct of the Company. He is the chairman of the remuneration
committee, and a member of each of the audit committee and
nomination committee. Save as disclosed above, Mr. KY Chan does
not hold any position in the Group.

Mr. KY Chan has over 15 years of working experience in
professional accounting, financial reporting, compliance services
and corporate finance such as initial public offerings. Since June
2013, he has been working as the chief financial officer of Virtual
Mind Holding Company Limited (K##5 &5 BR A 7)) (stock code:
1520), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange.

Mr. KY Chan obtained a degree of Bachelor of Commerce in
Accounting from Hong Kong Shue Yan University in October
2009. He is a member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants since March 2009. Mr. KY Chan is currently an
independent non-executive director of TS Wonders Holding Limited
(stock code: 1767), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. KY Chan has not held any directorship
in the last three years in public companies the securities of which
are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas. He is
not connected with any Directors, senior management, substantial
or controlling shareholders of the Company, nor does he have any
interests in the Shares which are required to be disclosed pursuant
to Part XV of the SFO.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. LEE Kwok Lun (ZEB) ("Mr. Lee”), aged 40, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 18 January 2018. He
has entered into a letter of appointment for a fixed term of three
years with effect from 8 February 2018 and will continue thereafter
until terminated in accordance with the terms of the appointment.
He is entitled to an annual director’s fee of HK$180,000. Mr. Lee is
mainly responsible for overseeing the management independently
and providing independent judgement on the issues of strategy,
performance, resources and standard of conduct of the Company.
He is the chairman of the audit committee and a member of the
nomination committee. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Lee does not
hold any position in the Group.

Mr. Lee has over 15 years of experience in accounting, audit,
corporate finance and financial management. Mr. Lee obtained
a degree of Bachelor of Arts (Hons) in Accounting from the
University of Hertfordshire in September 2006. He is a member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants since January
2013 and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants since September 2013. Mr. Lee is currently an
independent non-executive Director of Wing Chi Holdings Limited
(stock code: 6080), and Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company
Limited (stock code: 3616), the shares of which are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Lee has not held any directorship in
the last three years in public companies the securities of which are
listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas. He is not
connected with any Directors, senior management, substantial or
controlling shareholders of the Company, nor does he have any
interests in the Shares which are required to be disclosed pursuant
to Part XV of the SFO.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EFREREEEERERH

Mr. CHAN Wa Shing (FRE ) (“Mr. WS Chan”), aged 62,
was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 26
March 2019. He has entered into a letter of appointment for a
fixed term of three years with effect from 1 April 2019 and will
continue thereafter until terminated in accordance with the terms
of the appointment. He is entitled to an annual director’s fee of
HK$180,000. Mr. WS Chan is mainly responsible for overseeing the
management independently and providing independent judgement
on the issues of strategy, performance, resources and standard of
conduct of the Company. Save as disclosed above, Mr. WS Chan
does not hold any position in the Group.

Mr. WS Chan, is a barrister-at-law of Hong Kong. He joined the
Hong Kong Police Force in 1986 and retired in 2016 with his last
position being chief superintendent. During his employment with
the Hong Kong Police Force, he was called to the bar in Hong Kong
in 1996.

Mr. WS Chan graduated with a bachelor of science in pharmacology
from the University of Portsmouth (previously known as Portsmouth
Polytechnic) in 1983. He obtained a postgraduate diploma in
business studies from London School of Economics in 1985 and
further obtained a master degree in public administration from the
University of Hong Kong in 1998.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. WS Chan has not held any directorship
in the last three years in public companies the securities of which
are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas. He is
not connected with any Directors, senior management, substantial
or controlling shareholders of the Company, nor does he have any
interests in the Shares which are required to be disclosed pursuant
to Part XV of the SFO.

Saved as disclosed above, there was no change to any information
required to be disclosed in relation to any Director pursuant to
Rule 13.51(2)(a) to (e) and (g) of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) during the
Review Year. The Board is not aware of any information that ought
to be disclosed pursuant to the requirements under Rule 13.51(2)
(h) to (v) of the Listing Rules, nor are there any other matters that
ought to be brought to the attention of the Shareholders.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Senior Management

Mr. CHAN Ho Shing (BR& ) (“Mr. HS Chan”), aged 55, has
been the contracts manager of Kit Kee Engineering since July 2005.
He is mainly responsible for overseeing tender process, contract
management, administration and quality assurance matters.

Mr. HS Chan obtained a Certificate in Building Studies from the
Morrison Hill Technical Institute (currently known as the Hong
Kong Institute of Vocational Education (IVE) (Morrison Hill)) in July
1988, a Higher Certificate in Building Studies from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University (formerly known as Hong Kong Polytechnic)
in November 1990.

Mr. HS Chan has 35 years of experience in the foundation industry.
Prior to joining our Group, Mr. HS Chan worked for various
construction companies in various capacities. He was a site foreman
at Kin Ming & Co. (f#R3 2 7)) from August 1987 to August 1988
and an assistant quantity surveyor at Gammon Construction Limited
from October 1988 to July 1992. He was employed by Fanta (CFC)
Construction Co. Limited from August 1992 and later left with
his last position being commercial manager. Mr. HS Chan was a
quantity surveyor at Yat Ming Construction Co., Limited from July
1997 to May 2005.

Mr. HS Chan is not connected with any Directors, senior
management, substantial or controlling shareholders of the
Company, nor does he have any interests in the Shares which are
required to be disclosed pursuant to Part XV of the SFO.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EFREREEEERERH

Mr. LEUNG Hoi Ki (/&%) ("Mr. Leung”), aged 35, has been the
financial controller of our Group since January 2017. He is primarily
responsible for the management of financial, accounting and
company secretarial matters of our Group.

Mr. Leung received a degree of Bachelor of Business Administration
in Accountancy from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in
October 2011. Mr. Leung was admitted as a Certified Public
Accountant in March 2015. He has over 10 years of accounting
experience. From September 2011 to May 2014, he was employed
by BDO Limited, with his last position being a senior associate of the
Assurance Department. From June 2014 to November 2014, Mr.
Leung worked as a senior accountant at the Assurance Department
of Ernst & Young. From December 2014 to January 2017, he was
employed by KPMG with his last position being a manager.

Mr. Leung has been appointed as the company secretary of Easy
Smart Group Holdings Limited (15 1& £ E$E A B BR 2 A]), a company
listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 2442), with effect from 9
May 2023.

Mr. Leung is not connected with any Directors, senior management,
substantial or controlling shareholders of the Company, nor does he
have any interests in the Shares, which are required to be disclosed
pursuant to Part XV of the SFO.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Group recognises the importance of incorporating elements
of good corporate governance in the management structures and
internal control procedures of the Group so as to achieve effective
accountability. The Group is committed to maintaining good
corporate governance to safeguard the interest of shareholders and
to achieve effective accountability because the Group believes that
is the best way to maximise our shareholder’s value.

The Company has adopted the corporate governance code (the “CG
code”) contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. Pursuant to
code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of the chairman of
the Board (“the Chairman”) and the chief executive officer of the
Company (the “Chief Executive Officer”) should be separated and
should not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Yip was the
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer during the Review Year. As
Mr. Yip has been assuming day-to-day responsibilities in operating
and managing Kit Kee Engineering since August 1993, the Board is
of the view that it is in the best interest of the Group to have Mr.
Yip taking up both roles for effective management and business
development.

Save for the above deviation, the Board considers that during the
period from 8 February 2018 (the “Listing Date"”) to 31 March
2024, the Company has complied with all the code provisions set
out in the CG Code.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS OF LISTED ISSUERS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed issuers (the “Model Code”) as set
out in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct
regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Having made specific
enquiries of the Directors, all the Directors have confirmed that they
have complied with the requirements of the Model Code during
the period from the Listing Date and up to the date of this annual
report.

THE BOARD
Composition

The Company is committed to the view that the Board should
include a balanced composition of executive Directors and non-
executive Directors (including independent non-executive Directors
so that there is a strong independent element on the Board, which
can effectively exercise independent judgement. As at the date of
this report, the Board is chaired by Mr. Yip and comprised of five
members including two executive Directors and three independent
non-executive Directors.

Biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section
headed “Biographical Details of the Directors and Senior
Management” in this report.

Executive Directors

Mr. Yip Yuk Kit (Chairman) (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Cheung Chun Fai

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chan Ka Yu
Mr. Lee Kwok Lun
Mr. Chan Wa Shing
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Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) since the Listing Date. The summary of the Board Diversity
Policy is disclosed as below:

o the Company recognises the benefits of having a diverse
Board to enhance the quality and effectiveness of the Board;

o in designing the Board’s composition, Board diversity has
been considered from a number of aspects, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service;

o all Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having
due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board,;

o the selection of candidates will be based on a range of
diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The
ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that
the selected candidates will bring to the Board; and

o the nomination committee of the Board will report on the
Board’s composition under diversified perspectives, monitor
the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy, review the
Board Diversity Policy to ensure effectiveness and recommend
for any revisions to the Board for consideration and approval.

Independent Non-executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors have been appointed by
the Company for an initial fixed term of three years commencing
either from 8 February 2018 or from 1 April 2019 and shall continue
thereafter unless and until terminated by either the Company or the
Director giving to the other three months of notice in writing and
subject to rotation and re-election at annual general meetings of
the Company in accordance with the articles of association of the
Company.

The independent non-executive Directors have brought in a
wide range of business and financial expertise, experience and
independent judgement to the Board. Through active participation
in the Board meetings and serving on various Board committees, all
independent non-executive Directors will continue to make various
contributions to the Company.
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Throughout the Review Year, the Company had three independent
non-executive Directors, meeting the requirements of the Listing
Rules that the number of independent non-executive Directors must
represent at least one-third of the Board members, and that at least
one of the independent non-executive Directors has appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has given an
annual confirmation of independence to the Company pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. As at the date of this annual
report, the Company is of the view that all independent non-
executive Directors are independent in accordance with the relevant
requirements under the Listing Rules.

Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors

Each of the Directors has entered into a service agreement or a
letter of appointment with the Company for a specific term and
is subject to termination provisions therein and provisions on
retirement by rotation of Directors as set out in the amended and
restated memorandum and articles of association (the “Restated
Articles”).

In accordance with article 108 of the Restated Articles, at each
annual general meeting, one third of the Directors for the time
being will retire from office by rotation. However, if the number of
Directors is not a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but
not less than one third shall be the number of retiring Directors. The
Directors who shall retire in each year will be those who have been
longest in the office since their last re-election or appointment but
as between persons who become or were last re-elected Directors
on the same day those to retire will (unless they otherwise agree
among themselves) be determined by lot.

In accordance with article 112 of the Restated Articles, any Director
appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall
hold office only until the next following AGM of the Company and
shall then be eligible for re-election.

In accordance with article 108 of the Restated Articles, Mr. Chan Ka
Yu and Mr. Lee Kwok Lun will retire as Directors by rotation and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company.
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Role and Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the overall management of the Group
and all day-to-day operations and management of the Company’s
business has been delegated to management under the leadership
of the chief executive officer of the Company.

The principal roles of the Board are:

set long term objectives and strategies;
o approve major policies and guidelines;

o prepare and approve financial statements, annual report and
interim report;

o approve major capital expenditures, acquisition and disposals;
] approve connected transactions;
o approve material borrowings and expenditures;

o review and monitor of internal control and risk management;
and

o declare and recommend the payments of dividends.

No corporate governance committee has been established and the
Board is responsible for the corporate governance functions of the
Company, which includes:

o develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance;

o review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management;

o review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

o develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to employees and directors;
and

o review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report.

The Directors will review the Group’s corporate governance policies
and compliance with the CG code each financial year and comply
with the “comply or explain” principle in the corporate governance
report.
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Directors’ Insurance

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage for all
directors in relation to the discharge of their responsibilities.

Directors’ Training and Professional Development

The Company, from time to time, provides in-house training for
the Directors in the form of seminars, workshops and/or reading
relevant material on the latest development of applicable laws,
rules and regulations, management, financial and business issues to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The above training
costs are borne by the Company.

The Directors are required to provide the Company with details
of the training’s records. Based on those training’s record, the
Directors received the following training during the Review Year:

EERE
ARBCREREZTETRSECARERY
BEMNRR

EERIIREXBRE
ApmABRESREASEIN - EPARER
BEFEREN R FEREHER - &
2 BB REHBEENORIE  HEER X
ABBIEREER  WBERLREFRENARZ
KB o EiEFIM R AR R AR BAGE -

EEAAARAREFIENFAER - R
EREEILE  EFCREEFEEZAT

Fal -

Type of

trainings

o] ki

Mr. Yip Yuk Kit EEAGE AandB
AKB

Mr. Cheung Chun Fai SR AR 5 A Aand B
AKB

Mr. Chan Ka Yu BRRFEAE Aand B
AKB

Mr. Lee Kwok Lun RIS A Aand B
AKB

Mr. Chan Wa Shing PR EE B o A Aand B
AKB

A attending seminars/conferences/forums
B: reading newspapers, journals and updates relating to the economy,

general business, corporate governance and directors’ duties and
responsibilities
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Board and General Meetings

The Board meets regularly with at least 14 days’ advanced notice
being provided for quarterly meetings. For all other Board meetings,
notice will be given in a reasonable time in advance. The Directors
are allowed to include any matter in the agenda that is required for
discussion and resolution at the meeting. To enable the Directors to
be properly briefed on issues arising at each of the Board meetings
and to make informed decisions, an agenda and the accompanying
Board papers will be sent to all Directors at least three days before
the intended date of the Board meeting, or such other period as
agreed.

Minutes of the Board and committee meetings are prepared and
kept by the company secretary of the Company, and are open for
inspection by Directors upon request. All Directors have access to
the advice and services of the company secretary, and are allowed
to seek external professional advice if needed.

The Board seeks to maintain an ongoing dialog with the
Shareholders through the holding of general meetings. The Board
and external auditor will attend the general meeting to answer
any questions that may be raised by the Shareholders. A separate
resolution shall be proposed at the general meetings to address
each separate issue.

During the Review Year, the Board held four meetings and one
general meeting. The attendance record of each member of the
Board is set out below:

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERELIRS

ExgEs

ErgxRues YNERFTESZMNE
HEDIABZBMA - SAERMESSEEM
5 ORERANAERHEELBN EFRE
BEMEEMNABRE L wmMRENEHEZE
B REEEZRATZEEEERMTRSE
ZEERELHMBERE  @RERERESES
XHBREZSERZRERTHHAMEL3H
(HHENEHEEMER) AR BES -

EEehEFREERRNERLEBARTA
NEAMERHELRE  AREFERFBAIHE
B 2BEFRAMRAAIMESKERZLR
% WEERTERSRKINEREES -

EXRRBRTRRRESHARR ZHNE
BYEE - BTG RINSRBEN B2 MRS
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REEFE  EFERTHRAERR —KER
RE - MEEFGREHFELEHIINT

Board Meetings General Meetings

attended/ attended/

Board Meetings General Meetings

convened convened

HEESEERRE HERRAERE

BITEEEERNRY BITRRAERE

Mr. Yip Yuk Kit (Chairman) EERNLA(EFE) 4/4 1/1

Mr. Cheung Chun Fai SR IR 4 A 4/4 11

Mr. Chan Ka Yu PRERFEAE 4/4 11

Mr. Lee Kwok Lun TR A 4/4 11

Mr. Chan Wa Shing PoR 2 s o A 4/4 11
2023/26 % o HERFEEBEEBERLE
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Subsequent to the Review Year and up to the date of this report,
the Board held one meeting and the attendance record of each

REEFERMEEARSBY > EFSHT
—ReHE MBEFEXEBHFLEHIIM

member of the Board is set out below: N

Meeting attended/
Meeting convened
HEGBERE,
BITEBREY
Mr. Yip Yuk Kit (Chairman) BANLEFEE) 1”71
Mr. Cheung Chun Fai RIREL A 11
Mr. Chan Ka Yu BRRFE 11
Mr. Lee Kwok Lun EEBLAE 11
Mr. Chan Wa Shing PREE B S A 11

BOARD COMMITTEES BEEXEY

To facilitate the work of the Board, the Board has established three
board committees to oversee specific aspects of the Company's
affairs, namely audit committee (the “Audit Committee”),
remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) and
nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”). Each board
of committee has its own terms of reference relating to its authority
and duties, which have been approved by the Board and are
reviewed periodically. The terms of reference of each committee are
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Each board of committee has been provided with sufficient
resources to discharge its duties and, upon reasonable request,
is able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company'’s expense.
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Audit Committee

The Company established an Audit Committee on 18 January
2018 with written terms of reference in compliance with the CG
code. The primary roles of the Audit Committee include, but are
not limited to, (a) making recommendations to our Board on the
appointment, reappointment and removal of the external auditor,
and approving the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditor, and any questions of its resignation or dismissal;
(b) monitoring the integrity of our financial statements and annual
reports and accounts, half-yearly reports and, if prepared for
publication, quarterly reports, and reviewing significant financial
reporting judgements contained in them; and (c) reviewing our
financial controls, internal control and risk management systems.

The Audit Committee consists of three members who are all
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Chan Ka Yu, Mr.
Lee Kwok Lun and Mr. Chan Wa Shing. Mr. Lee Kwok Lun is the
Chairman of the Audit Committee.
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During the Review Year, the Audit Committee held three meetings REBEE @ BEXZEBSBTZREE W&
and the attendance record of each member of the Audit Committee  EZZEE @B HBEREEHIINT
is set out below:
Meeting attended/
Meeting convened
HEEERE
BITEBAY
Mr. Lee Kwok Lun (Chairman) TR E(EE) 3/3
Mr. Chan Ka Yu PR F oA 3/3
Mr. Chan Wa Shing PR s o A 3/3
2023/24 FF o FHERKERZRERERALA
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Subsequent to the Review Year and up to the date of this report,
the Audit Committee held two meeting, and the following is a
summary of the work performed by the Audit Committee during

the Review Year and up to the date of this report:

o reviewed the annual results of the Group for the year ended e

31 March 2024;

o reviewed the Group’s financial information, financial report e
system, risk management and internal control procedures;

o reviewed the Company’s Auditor's independence and e

objectivity;

o made recommendations to the Board on the re-appointment e

of the Company’s external auditor;

o reviewed the Company’s external auditor’'s management e
letter, significant findings and recommendations;

o reviewed the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications e
and experience, training programmes and budget of the
Company'’s accounting and financial reporting function;

o reviewed and discussed the reports from the Company’s e
external consultant with the management; and

o met with the Company’s external auditor, in the absence of e

the management.

There had been no disagreement between the Board and the Audit
Committee from the Listing Date and up to the date of this report.

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Remuneration Committee

The Company established a Remuneration Committee on 18
January 2018 with written terms of reference in compliance with
the CG code. The primary roles of the Remuneration Committee
include, but are not limited to, (a) making recommendations to
our Board on our policy and structure for the remuneration of all
of our Directors and senior management personnel and on the
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing
remuneration policy; (b) reviewing and approving our management’s
remuneration proposals with reference to our Board’s corporate
goals and objectives; and (c) making recommendations to our Board
on the remuneration of non- executive Directors.

The Remuneration Committee consists of an executive Director,
namely Mr. Yip Yuk Kit and two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Chan Ka Yu and Mr. Chan Wa Shing. Mr.
Chan Ka Yu is the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The remuneration of the Directors and senior management is
determined with reference to the responsibilities, workload, the
time devoted and the performance of the Group. The Remuneration
Committee also ensures that no individual will be involved in
determining his own remuneration.

During the Review Year, the remuneration of senior management is
listed as below by band:

HNEE

Band of remuneration
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FMEES
ARBR-_FE-NF-ATN\BRIZFEMEZE
X RATELEERTANEERERE -
FHZEENTIERERBETRN@MEMM
EREENSPNEEABNFMBER RAERIA
KR IESUERNFH MR RGIERRFRES
SRHEE  O2REFENEXBERNTE
BERRAEERENHMI R 0 ROBMIEARTT
EEmFMmES=eRMtES

FHEZBEem -2 TEFTMAEEANLED R
MEBILIFRITESBIRRTFTAEERRER L
E)EK - REFEERFTMHEZEG L -

EXNERERRNFM2RESNERE
THE BREAKEFREASENRAE
o FMEZREeMERMEALSSEEER
%M -

REEFEE  aREEENFMEES RN
T

No. of person

A

nil-HK$ 1,000,000

Further details of the Directors’ and chief executives’ emoluments
and the five highest paid individuals is set out in note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements.

0% 1,000,000/ 7T 2

EHEERESTRABEURARSHFALH
I BEN A M B REME12 -
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During the Review Year, the Remuneration Committee held
one meeting and the attendance record of each member of the
Remuneration Committee is set out below:

REEFE  HFHEZEERT-Rgx %
FINZEeXE LRI

Meeting attended/
Meeting convened

HESBERE,

BITEERH

Mr. Chan Ka Yu (Chairman) BRRFIhE(FE) 171
Mr. Yip Yuk Kit BEENEE 11
Mr. Chan Wa Shing BREE B S A 11

Subsequent to the Review Year and up to the date of this report,
the Remuneration Committee held one meeting, and the following
is a summary of the work performed by the Remuneration
Committee during the Review Year and up to the date of this
report:

o considered the remuneration paid to Directors and senior
management with reference to their responsibilities, workload,
the time devoted and the performance of the Group, as well
as remuneration paid by other comparable listed companies;

J reviewed and made recommendations on the management
remuneration proposals with reference to the corporate goals
and objectives of the Board; and

° made recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
independent non-executive Directors.
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Nomination Committee

The Company established a Nomination Committee on 18 January
2018 with written terms of reference in compliance with the CG
code. The primary roles of the Nomination Committee include, but
are not limited to, (a) reviewing the structure, size and composition
(including the skills, knowledge and experience) of our Board at
least annually and making recommendations on any proposed
changes to our Board to complement our corporate strategy; (b)
identifying individuals suitably qualified to become our Board
members and selecting or making recommendations to our Board
on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships; (c)
assessing the independence of our independent non-executive
Directors; and (d) making recommendations relating to nomination
procedures, process and criteria.

The Nomination Committee consists of an executive Director,
namely Mr. Yip Yuk Kit and two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Chan Ka Yu and Mr. Lee Kwok Lun. Mr. Yip
Yuk Kit is the Chairman of the Nomination Committee.

During the Review Year, the Nomination Committee held one
meeting and the attendance record of each member of the
Nomination Committee is set out below:

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERELIRS

REEESE
ARBNR-_E-NF-A+TN\BKIIREREZE
X RATELEERTANEERERE -
REZEGNIZBREBFETER@QELE
FiR —REEGNRE - RERAK (B
B ABEERYAEZTENERERESE
RUZENERMANERRBEES  OWEA
BREEARAUEETEFENENAL AR
REFBATHEEFARMRESTSRER
R (QFHMEBILIFRITEFHBILM - R(d)5t
REERF  BRMRERHEESR -

REZBEH - B2ATEFTHEBERNED R
MEBILIFARTEFBIRXTAERFTEE L
K - EERNEERRELZEGER

REBEFE REZEERT-REH MH
REZBEKBHFREHRIIMAT -

Meeting attended/
Meeting convened

HEEERE

BITERIE

Mr. Yip Yuk Kit (Chairman) EEANEEFEE) 1”1
Mr. Chan Ka Yu PR F oL 11
Mr. Lee Kwok Lun TR E 11

Subsequent to the Review Year and up to the date of this report,
the Nomination Committee held one meeting. The Nomination
Committee had reviewed the Board Diversity Policy and reported
on the Board's composition under diversified perspectives, and had
monitored the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy. The
Nomination Committee had also recommended to re-elect Mr.
Chan Ka Yu and Mr. Lee Kwok Lun at the forthcoming AGM.
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY
FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Group. The Directors also acknowledge
their responsibility to ensure the financial statements are published
in a timely manner. The Directors are not aware of any material
uncertainty that may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern.

The Auditor’s reporting responsibilities are set out in the section
headed “Independent Auditor’s Report” in this report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the Review Year, the fee paid/payable to Grant Thornton Hong
Kong Limited by the Group, is set out as follows:

EERZRHARMBHRERNEE

EXANEREREAKTEMBRERZEE-E
ENABREHRVBHRRES NENEE -
EEUTABM RSB AEEFBLERD
EEEANERNEMNEATEEERE -

RBENEY B M E EHNARE B L XA R

HI—Em -

BBETE &
REEEE  AEECN BAHREESE
HAERHERAANBEARIIMT :

HK$
BT
Audit services EZ RS 1,046,700
Non-audit services IEFEIZARTS 157,500

The amount of fee incurred for the non-audit services represented
HK$157,500 of the service fee paid to Grant Thornton Hong Kong
Limited in relation to review of interim financial information. The
Audit Committee was satisfied that non-audit services for the
Review Year did not affect the independence of the auditor.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the Company’s risk
management and internal control systems, and for reviewing its
effectiveness.

In meeting its responsibility, the departmental heads of the Group
have to complete a risk management and internal control self-
assessment guestionnaires, identify and evaluate those significant
risks and confirm to the management that appropriate internal
control policies and procedures have been established and properly
complied with. The management then reviewed the findings and
summarised all material issues to the Board and Audit Committee
annually. Review of risk management and internal control functions
are conducted on an annual basis.
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The Group has established guidelines and procedures for the
approval and control of expenditures, to ensure the reliability of the
financial reporting, effectiveness and efficiency of operation and
the compliance with applicable laws and regulations. Whilst these
guidelines and procedures are designed to identify, monitor, report
and follow up on risks that could adversely impact the achievement
of the Group’s business objectives, they do not provide absolute
assurance against material misstatement, errors, losses, fraud or
non-compliance.

Although the Company does not have an internal audit function,
the Board has put in place adequate measures to perform the
internal audit function at different aspects of the Group. The Group
has engaged an independent internal control consultant to review
the effectiveness and efficiency of the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems in relation to the financial, operational
and compliance controls, and the results were summarised and
discussed with the Audit Committee and the Board. The Audit
Committee and the Board are satisfied with the effectiveness and
adequacy of the risk management and internal control systems of
the Group.

INSIDE INFORMATION POLICY

The Company has established policy for ensuring that inside
information is disseminated to the public in an equal and timely
manner in accordance with applicable laws and regulations.
Procedures such as limit access to inside information to those
who need to know and requiring external parties to execute
confidentiality agreement have been implemented by the Company
to guard against mishandling of inside information. The Company
also reminds those relevant personnel and other professional parties
to preserve confidentiality of the inside information until it is publicly
disclosed.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company has appointed Mr. Leung Hoi Ki, who is responsible
for facilitating the Board process, as well as communications among
the Directors, with shareholders and management. Mr. Leung has
confirmed that for the Review Year, he has taken no less than 15
hours of professional training to upgrade his skills and knowledge.
The biography of Mr. Leung is set out in the section headed
“Biographical Details of the Directors and Senior Management” in
this report.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Procedures for Convening General Meetings by
Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Restated Articles, the Board may,
whenever it thinks fit, convene an extraordinary general meeting.

Extraordinary general meetings shall also be convened on the
requisition of one or more shareholder holding, at the date of
deposit of requisition, not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital
of the Company having the right of voting at general meetings.

Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the
Company Secretary by mail at Unit 09, 28/F, North Tower,
Concordia Plaza, 1 Science Museum Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon,
Hong Kong for the purpose of requiring an extraordinary general
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall be held
within two months after the deposit of such requisition. If within
21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene
such meeting, the requisition(s) himself (themselves) may do so
in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at
Shareholders’ Meeting

Shareholders are requested to follow Article 64 of the Restated
Articles for including a resolution at an extraordinary general
meeting. The requirements and procedures are set out above in the
paragraph headed “Procedures for Convening General Meetings by
Shareholders”.

Pursuant to Article 113 of the Restated Articles, no person, other
than a retiring Director, shall, unless recommended by the Board
for election, be eligible for election to the office of Director at any
general meeting, unless notice in writing of the intention to propose
that person for election as a Director and notice in writing by that
person of his willingness to be elected shall have been lodged at the
head office or at the registration office. The period for lodgment
of the notices required will commence no earlier than the day after
the dispatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed for
such election and end no later than seven days prior to the date of
such general meeting and the minimum length of the period during
which such notices to the Company may be given will be at least
seven days.
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Procedures by which Enquiries may be Put to the
Board

The Group values feedback from shareholders on its efforts
to promote transparency and foster investor relationship.
Shareholders are welcomed to send their enquiries to the Board
by post to the principal place of business set out in the section
headed “Corporation Information” in this report or by email at
info@dragonrise-group.com.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Board strives to maintain on-going dialogue with shareholders
and the investment community, the Company has established a
shareholders’ communication policy to set out the Company’s
procedures in providing the shareholders and investment community
with ready, equal and timely access to balanced and understandable
information about the Company.

Latest information on the Group including, but not limited to
annual and interim reports, circulars, announcements and notices of
annual general meetings are updated on the website of the Stock
Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and on the website of the Company
(www.kitkee.com.hk).

In addition, the Company regards the annual general meeting as
the primary forum for communication by the Company with its
shareholders and for shareholder participation. Shareholders are
encouraged to attend the annual general meeting, where all Board
members and external auditor are available to answer questions on
the Group’s business.

The annual general meeting will be held on Friday, 16 August
2024, the notice of which shall be sent to the shareholders of the
Company at least 20 clear business days prior to the meeting.

In light of the availability of various channels to communicate with
the shareholders, the Board considered the implementation and
effectiveness of the shareholders’ communication policy to be
effective and adequate during the years.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN CONSTITUTIONAL
DOCUMENTS

Save for the adoption of the Restated Articles for the purpose of
the Listing, during the Review Year, there had been no significant
changes in the constitutional documents of the Company.
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B HERELIHRS

INTRODUCTION

Dragon Rise Group Holdings Limited and its operating subsidiary,
namely Kit Kee Engineering Limited ("KKE"” or the “Company”)
(Collectively, called "DRG" or “the Group”) are a long-established
subcontractor of foundation works services in Hong Kong. Our
services are mainly required in the construction of commercial
and residential buildings. We principally provides excavation
and lateral support works, pile cap construction works, and the
disposal of excavated materials from piling and ancillary services,
including dismantling of shoring, site formation, steel fixing and site
clearance, in Hong Kong.

The board of Directors (the “Board”) is fully committed to
formulating and implementing ESG strategies. Its ESG performance
is supervised by the Board members. Relevant risks and
opportunities have been embedded into the Group’s strategic
goals, which are also closely aligned with the overall mission and
vision on sustainability. While developing the Group’s goals, we
firmly adhered to principles of good corporate governance and had
carefully considered our activities’ influences on the environment
and the Hong Kong society. Corporate social responsibilities were
also integrated into the Group’s business strategy and management
approach.

The Group is delighted to present the Environmental, Social and
Governance (“ESG") Report for the year ended 31 March 2024
(“Review Year”) in the following to illustrate and highlight our
efforts and performance in achieving sustainable development in
both the environment and social aspects.

This ESG Report has been prepared in accordance with the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide as set out
in Appendix C2 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“the
Listing Rules”) (“ESG Reporting Guide”), with the aim to inform
relevant parties and stakeholders of our policies, measures and
performance regarding environmental, social and governance issues.
To ensure a comprehensive ESG reporting, we would continuously
take note of different ESG issues and assess their relevance to our
ESG reporting.

REPORTING PRINCIPLES AND BOUNDARY

This Report mainly covers the major operation of the Group in Hong
Kong which is provision of foundation works service. Information
in this Report was sourced from the official documents, statistical
data and operational information of the Group. We adhered to
the reporting principles of the ESG Guide, namely “Materiality”,
“Quantitative”, “Balance” and “Consistency” principles that are
described below.
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Materiality: The Group has identified key ESG issues through its
annual materiality assessment Topics that are relevant and important
to the stakeholder and the Group are covered in this Report.

Quantitative: Key performance indicators (KPIs) in this Report
explained its purpose and are applicable for comparisons.

Balance: An unbiased picture of the Group’s performance is
provided in this Report.

Consistency: Consistent methodologies are adopted over time to
allow meaningful comparisons of ESG data.

BOARD STATEMENT

The Group's internal strategies, policies and procedures are designed
with the objective of creating sustainable values for its stakeholders
and minimising the Group’s unavoidable environmental impacts
generated from operation. The Board has ultimate responsibility for
ensuring the effectiveness of the Group’s ESG management.

The governance structure is led by the Board while power and
authority are delegated to the management of the Group. The
management of the Group has embedded ESG issues in the Group’s
overall direction and strategies, and is responsible for establishing
an ESG strategy, managing risk management, and keeping
updated on regulatory updates with assistance from key members
of the operational department (the “ESG workgroup”). The ESG
workgroup is responsible for identifying business related ESG issues,
determining the Group’s ESG goals and target, monitoring ESG
performance and reporting to the management. All business entities
and departments are covered by the risk governance structure and
risk management process of the Group.

The Board, the management and the ESG workgroup organise
and hold an ESG management meeting quarterly to review the
implementation of ESG work, the content of policy and strategies
established, and the goals and targets set so as to ensure that
appropriate policy and effective ESG risk management are in place.

STAKEHOLDER COMMUNICATION

Communication with stakeholders is extremely crucial to our group,
we insist on continually seeking opportunities to do so. We work
to thoroughly understand the needs and expectations of various
stakeholders through daily communication, the Group’s official
website, e-mail, and other channels and respond to them. The
Group has established a communication mechanism for stakeholder
expectations and concerns and proactively builds a relationship of
mutual trust. The people and groups that significantly influence the
Group's activities or are significantly affected by its operations serve
as our key stakeholder group.
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

The Group conducts materiality assessment annually to identify the
material ESG factors. The Board and the ESG workgroup have taken
part in the assessment to be one of the key stakeholders to provide
opinions on the selection of material ESG factors.

In the materiality assessment, we first identify potential ESG
reporting issues. The issues are then being analysed to determine
the importance to the Group’'s stakeholders and business in
aspects such as the Group’s strategies, market development and
stakeholders’ concerns. Following this, the identified ESG issues
are listed, discussed and given priority. Finally, it is evaluated and
approved by the management.

. ENVIRONMENTAL

1.1

Environmental Policies

The Group complies with its industry relevant
environmental laws, regulations, codes of practice, and
other requirements. The Group implements different
measures to avoid, reduce or control pollution where
technically and economically feasible in order to reduce
greenhouse gas emissions and air emissions to safeguard
the health of both our workers and our stakeholders.

Air pollution control: ensure strict compliance
with the Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter
311 of the Laws of Hong Kong) in areas including
“construction dust” and “open burning”.

Procedures are set up to mitigate and control
dust or air pollutants emission. The procedures
cover areas relevant to storing, handling and
transporting construction materials, using tools
and vehicles, and using eco-friendly fuel.

Waste control: ensure strict compliance with
the Waste Disposal (Chemical Waste) (General)
Regulation (Chapter 354C of the Laws of Hong
Kong) in the handling of “general waste”,
“construction waste” and “chemical waste”.

Procedures are set up for handling and disposing
wastes, setting up and maintaining waste storage
conditions, and regulating protective gear for
personnel handling different types of wastes.
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o Noise pollution control: ensure strict compliance
with the Noise Control Ordinance (Chapter 400 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) in terms of “construction
time regulation” and “construction noise
mitigation and control”.

Procedures are set up to regulate the allowable
time and the specific types of equipment for
conducting percussive piling works. Measures
to mitigate the impact of noise pollution such
as choosing tools that would emit less noise,
scheduling noisy works to be further away from
residential areas, schools and hospitals, and
installing noise shields around equipment that is
expected to emit a lot of noise.

o Water pollution control: ensure strict
compliance with the Water Pollution Control
Ordinance (Chapter 358 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) concerning sewage that would result
from concrete works, vehicle cleaning, other
construction procedures, and site canteen and
toilet facilities.

Procedures are set up to regulate the discharge
of waste water into designated waste water
discharge points. Measures to prevent leakage of
waste water into non-designated discharge point
are instructed to foremen to control the impact of
waste water to the neighbouring communities.

We ensure that the execution of all construction works
complies with the relevant laws and regulations, namely,
the Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 311 of
the Laws of Hong Kong), the Noise Control Ordinance
(Chapter 400 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Water
Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 358 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) and the Waste Disposal Ordinance (Chapter
354 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

During the Review Year, the Group was not aware of
any material non-compliance with laws and regulations
relating to greenhouse gas emissions and air emissions
and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste
that would have a significant impact on the Group.
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1.2

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

Emissions 1.2 B
Plants, machineries and vehicles consuming fossil fuels is HEBEBDRBNEE  HERER
the major source of greenhouse gas emissions from our EHEMEEPAERBHERNEER
operations. R o
The following presents the Group’s Greenhouse Gas TXHNRAEBREEFERNAE
("GHG") emissions for the Review Year: FECEEREDY Y
GHG emissions from use of vehicles EHEHNBEEREHLY
Aspects 1.1 Unit 2024 2023
FEE1.1 B —E-lmEF —T=F
Nitrogen Oxides gram 355,178 364,821
REY) 7
Respiratory Suspended Particles gram 29,296 30,172
AR A E R 7
In 2022, the Group set target to reduce 10% of GHG R-ZZE_—_F XAEBEERER
emissions by 2027, using 2022 as the baseline year. B N2 _FREAEF - 5E
To manage the exhausts from our machineries and to EZZEZLFAIARD10%0AE
comply with the Air Pollution Control (Non-road Mobile R - RE RS PTEEN ) R
Machinery) (Emission) Regulation (Chapter 311Z of the RAREBTFCERSEES GEBERY
Laws of Hong Kong), all our machineries to be used at ) (BERO RO (BEESE
construction sites comply with the prescribed emission 3112%) - HMEZETHERMN
standards. Further, all our plants, machineries and motor B #Es /6 R EMEEBURE -
vehicles use diesels with sulphur content not exceeding AN - PR ERE - #es &R
0.005%. EFEA S E THEH0.005%H) 5
o
Use of Resources 1.3 ERER

In 2022, the Group set target to reduce 10% of energy
consumption by 2027, using 2022 as the baseline year.
The Group is committed to minimizing the impact of its
business activities to the environment by following the
below principles:

o comply with all the legal requirements
and contractual obligations relevant to the
environmental aspects in the construction
contracts in which the Group engaged.

o reduce and avoid creating wastes.

o obtain and renew the mandatory environmental
licenses, registrations and permits.

o turn off the air-conditioning system at night or
when leaving the office.
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o keep the office temperature at 25°C in summer.
o use LED lights or energy-saving lighting at our
office.

The following presents the Group’s direct energy
consumption for the Review Year:

BiR - -tgRELRES
c EFBBWATAERHE
25°C e

o HEMAEEMLEDEKERRLIR
BRER s

AEBREOBEFENEEZERHEE
Z5mT

Aspects 2.1 Unit 2024 2023
[EmE2.1 By —E-mF —Ez=
Electricity Usage kWh 11,021 11,229
HE&E= F R

Electricity Usage Intensity kWh/office 11,021 11,229
RAE=E FTEE/PAE

Owing to the nature of our operations, other than
the consumption of drinking water, our operations do
not require the use of water or raw materials or other
natural resources. There is also an absence of packing
materials involved in our operations. As such, the Group
has not placed emphasis on the development of policies
in these areas.

Waste Management 1.4

Due to the nature of our construction works, our major
non-hazardous waste is construction and demolition
(“C&D") materials composed principally of soil. To
control air pollution during transportation of C&D
materials to landfills, we ensure the dump trucks used
by our subcontractors are installed with a mechanical
cover system which is in good service condition to cover
the dump bed containing the C&D materials. Further,
all dump trucks exiting construction sites are required
to have the dust or debris on top of the mechanical to
be cleaned so as not to obstruct its operation or pollute
areas close to the vicinity of construction sites.

Although we are well aware of potential pollutions
C&D materials can bring to the environment, the Group
is unable to control the quantity of C&D materials
to be disposed in a project. The required disposal
quantity is stipulated in the construction program in the
construction contract, and the program is designed by
the main contractor or the employer to the contract.
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DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

Regarding hazardous waste, the Group does not
produce any from its operations and thus consider
ESG reporting in this aspect is irrelevant to the Group.
During the Review Year, the Group had 20 projects that
disposed of soil as compared to 22 for the year ended
31 March 2023. The following presents the relevant
comparison:

WBEEBEYME  ARENEBL
BELTMNBEZEY BARSEH
WA EMERE e REREAANE
EERR - NEBEE  AEEHEE
207 E L IRMNIER - MEAEIEC
T =HF-A=+—HLEFEIR
2218 - FERALLEEFIIT :

Aspects 1.4 Unit 2024 2023
[EBE1.4 B —E-E —E o=
Construction disposal: Soil tonnes 2,694,926 1,914,684
REREY - IR A
Construction disposal intensity tonnes/per construction

projects 134,746 87,031

BREBENEE

The soil that is required to be disposed as a part of our
operations are disposed of in designated locations as
prescribed under applicable laws. The quantity of soil
to be disposed of is determined by our customers and
is otherwise proportionate to the number of projects
undertaken by the Company. As such, the Company
does not have a reduction policy that may apply to the
disposal of soil.

The main type of waste disposed of in the course of the
Company's operations is that of soil. The Company is
not required to dispose of hazardous waste.

Climate Change

The Group recognises the importance of the
identification and mitigation of significant climate-
related matters; therefore, the Group is committed
to managing the potential climate-related risks which
may impact the Group'’s business activities. The Group
has established risk management policy in identifying
and mitigating different risks including climate-related
risks. The Board meets regularly and cooperates closely
with key management to identify and evaluate climate-
related risks and to formulate strategies to manage the
identified risks.

e, S {EEEEE
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Through the above method, the Group identified the
material impacts on the Group’s business arising from
the following risks:

Physical Risks

The increased frequency and severity of extreme
weather such as typhoons, storms and heavy rains can
disrupt the Group’s operations by damaging the power
grid and communication infrastructures, and injuring
its employees during their work, leading to reduced
capacity and decreased in productivity, or expose
the Group to risks associated with non-performance
and delayed performance. To minimise the potential
risks and hazards, the Group has flexible working
arrangements and precautionary measures during bad
or extreme weather conditions.

Transition Risks

The Group anticipates that there will be more stringent
climate legislations and regulations to support the
global vision of carbon neutrality. From a listed
company’s perspective, we acknowledge the increasing
requirements of climate-related information disclosures.
One example is the update of the ESG Reporting
Guide in respect to significant climate-related impact
disclosures of an issuer. Stricter environmental laws
and regulations may expose enterprises to higher risks
of claims and lawsuits. Corporate reputation may
also decline due to failure to meet the compliance
requirements for climate change. The related capital
investment and compliance costs thus increase.
In response to the policy and legal risks as well
as reputation risks, the Group regularly monitors
existing and emerging trends, policies and regulations
relevant to climate and be prepared to alert the top
management where necessary to avoid cost increments,
non-compliance fines and/or reputational risks due to
delayed response.
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DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

SOCIAL
1.1 Employment and Labor Practices

Employees are our most invaluable assets. It is our
priority to ensure that the occupational health and
safety of all employees, subcontractor workers and
the surrounding communities to our construction
sites is adequately maintained. Our comprehensive
Safety Management System provides a framework
for monitoring and evaluating the implementation of
our safety policies and measures. We further strive to
continuously improve our workplace safety policies
in accordance with guidance received from the Labor
Department from time to time.

It is also our aim to enhance the well-being and
development of our employees. As an equal opportunity
employer, the Group has put in place policies to
ensure that it treats all employees on an equal footing
in matters related to, among others, recruitment,
promotion, appraisals, discipline, remuneration and
benefits, compensation and dismissal, and working
hours and rest periods. An employee’s age, gender,
family status, sexual orientation, physical disability,
ethnicity and religion would not affect his career with
us. During the Review Year, we received no complaints
regarding discrimination issues from any of our
stakeholders. Needless to say, we ensured that no child
nor forced labor was employed by the Group.

Apart from providing competitive remuneration and
benefits, we continue to support and nurture our
employees through staff development and training
programmes.

The Group has devised a staff handbook for its
employees to understand important information relating
to the Group’s human resources policies, rules, and
work ethics surrounding employment. It is an essential
tool in helping to define the expectations of both the
management and the employees, and also to protect
them from unfair and/ or inconsistent treatment and
discrimination.

During the Review Year, there was no incidence of
labor dispute or litigation regarding compliance to the
Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57). Save as disclosed
above, the Group complied with all relevant laws with
respect to employment and labor, and child and forced
labor.
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The Group had employed 338 full-time employees as
at 31 March 2024, all of whom are from Hong Kong.
Out of the total number of staff, 300 of our employees
were male and 38 of them were female. Majority of the
workforce were within the 41-70 age group, accounting
for 259 of our staff, while 77 employees were under
40 years old. Since our business nature is mostly labour
intensive, majority of our staff are male. The Group
plans to employ at least 45 female employees by 2027.

During the Review Year, the Group's overall full-time
employee turnover rate was approximately 31%. The
employee turnover rate for male and female were
approximately 32% and 18% respectively. Majority
turnover was within the 41-70 age group, accounting
for 81% of our staff. The employee turnover rate for
under 40 age group was approximately 19%.

Health and Safety

The management of the Group is responsible for the
overall health and safety of employees. The Group has
been accredited with, and our policies follow, OHSAS
18001:2007 for our occupational health and safety
management system.

We place emphasis on occupational health and work
safety and provide safety training to our staff covering
topics such as our safety measures and procedures
for reporting accidents. Due to the nature of works
in construction sites, risks of accidents or injuries to
workers are inherent. As such, we devised a safety
management system to govern our site workers and
subcontractors.

Work injuries will be reported according to our internal
guidelines which was set up with reference to the work
injury reporting requirement by the Labor Department.
Based on our safety management system, we ensured
safety and health of our employees in connection with
the use, handling, storage and transport of articles
and substances; providing all necessary information,
instructions, training and supervision for ensuring safety
and health; providing and maintaining safe access to
and egress from the workplaces; and providing and
maintaining a safe and healthy working environment.

During the Review Year, 15 incidents of work injuries
arose, which led to 4,547 lost labor days (FY2023: 15
incidents of work injuries occurred, which led to 4,546
lost labor days). The Group is pleased to report that no
fatality cases related to our employees occurred during
the Review Year.
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DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

Our safety officer and board of directors are responsible
for overseeing our Group's health and safety
management system to ensure our compliance with the
relevant statutory requirements. A safety committee
meeting is held on a monthly basis with our foremen
for reviewing the health and safety issues related to our
operations. Under the direction of our safety officer,
our foremen are responsible for monitoring on-site
implementation of our safety management system.

Save as disclosed above, the Company complied with
all relevant laws with respect to the provision of a safe
working environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards.

Training and Development

The knowledge and skill levels of our employees are vital
to the Group's success, and hence we provide sufficient
training and development programmes to allow them to
excel at their work.

Our training programmes range from professional and
technical training to personal development skills and our
employees are required to attend an induction training
to ensure they thoroughly understood the Group's
safety and health policies. In addition, the Group
provides adequate job and safety training to employees
to equip them with the required safety knowledge and
work skills to tackle situations and challenges to be
encountered at diverse work sites.

During the Review Year, the percentage breakdown of
employees trained and the average training hours per
employee, by gender and employee category are as
follows:
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OPERATING PRACTICES
lll.1 Supply Chain Management

As mentioned, our quality management system which
governs our daily operation for quality control and
improvement meets the requirements of ISO 9001:2015.
Our internal policies and thus the procurement process
are governed by this standard. Apart from background,
reputation, cost and ability, important consideration
also include if the supplier has applicable ISO certificate
for environment and social management certificate. We
maintain an approved suppliers list set up by the board
of directors. Only suppliers meeting our stringent quality
standards can be added to the list for our purchases.

Under our policies, our Purchasing Department will
only purchase supplies from these approved suppliers
to ensure quality of our purchases. During the Review
Year, the Group had engaged 43 (FY2023: 51) suppliers
and subcontractors while all of them were located
in Hong Kong. Further, with reference to the quality
requirement of our construction projects, our project
staff or the directors would also pay visits to suppliers to
communicate our requirements, while at the same time
inspect the suppliers’ warehouse to conduct a sample
check on the quality of the goods. Upon reception of
goods at project sites, the foremen are responsible for
the inspection of the delivered goods to ensure they can
meet our quality requirements before settling payment.

For subcontractors’ quality management, similar to
that of purchasing, we maintain a list of approved
subcontractors. Regular inspection on the quality of
works and progress as delivered by our subcontractors
would be performed by our project managers. We have
made it clear to our subcontractors that compliance
with the labor laws and regulations is mandatory when
handling safety and employment matters at construction
sites.

During the Review Year, the Group did not identify any
non-compliances in relation to safety and labor laws and
regulations.
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l11.2 Product Responsibility n.2 EmEE

56

Achieving and maintaining high quality standard for
projects are the most important for the sustainable
growth of the Group. The Group strives to maintain
good relationship with our major customers to
establish good reputation and to gain future business
opportunity.

Acknowledging our responsibility in protecting
intellectual property rights, we protect intellectual
property rights by not infringing other’s intellectual
property rights and purchasing licensed software from
authorised suppliers.

In relation to data privacy, the Group manages all
information provided by clients, employees, business
partners in accordance with the related laws and
regulations such as Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance to
ensure that information is under proper protection.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware
of any material non-compliance with any laws and
regulations in Hong Kong related to product health
and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters
relating to products and services provided and methods
of redress including but not limited to, the Trade
Descriptions Ordinance and Personal Data (Privacy)
Ordinance, that would have a significant impact to the
Group. There was no complaint received during the
Reporting Period. Given the Group’s business nature,
the Group was not involved in the sale of products,
therefore disclosure on product recall procedures and
number of products recalled are not applicable.
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lll.3 Anti-corruption

Over the years, we have witnessed no incidences
of suspected or actual bribery, extortion, fraud and
money laundering activities occurring within the Group.
We stand firmly by our anti-corruption policies and
procurement practices as stated in our internal manuals
which comply with applicable laws. Acceptance of
kickbacks, commissions or any form of benefit is strictly
prohibited during any procurement exercise, contract
negotiation or other business dealings.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware
of any material non-compliance with any laws and
regulations in Hong Kong related to bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering including but not limited
to, the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance, that would have
a significant impact to the Group.

ll.4 Conflict of Interest Management

In order to prevent employees and directors from
not taking corresponding measures because of their
personal interests, the Group has formulated the
“Declaration of Interest” which provides guidelines and
procedures to employees and directors in exercising
their utmost good faith and honesty in all transactions
involving their duties and under no circumstances use
their positions or knowledge gained for their own
personal benefits. Employees and directors must ensure
that there is no conflict of interest between their
personal interests and their duties, obligations and
responsibilities to the Group. Those who have or have
had a personal relationship with related person where
a conflict of interest is perceived should provide written
declarations at the earliest possible opportunity.

.5 Whistleblowing Mechanism

Committed to the highest possible standards of
openness, probity and accountability, the Group
expects and encourages our employees and directors
who have concerns about any suspected misconduct
or malpractice within the Group to come forward
and voice those concerns. Therefore, the Group
adopts a “Whistleblowing Policy” for all levels and
operations. Complainants are assured of protection
against unfair dismissal, victimisation or unwarranted
disciplinary action, even if the concerns turn out to be
unsubstantiated. The Audit Committee is responsible
for monitoring and reviewing the effectiveness of the
“Whistleblowing Policy” and make recommendations
for further improvement based on investigation results.
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1.6 Community Investment

During the Review Year, the Group actively engaged in
various charity activities, reflecting our commitment to
giving back to the community.

In October 2023 and February 2024, through the
arrangement of Financial Asia Group, we brought
Cantonese opera performances and gifts to the Caritas
Elderly Centre in Yuen Long, bringing joy and warmth
to the elderly in the neighbourhood.

These initiatives underscore our dedication to supporting
and uplifting the less fortunate members of our
community. We will continue to seek opportunities to
contribute positively to society and enhance the well-
being of those in need.

IV. FUTURE APPROACH TO SUSTAINABLE
DEVELOPMENT

In the future, we will:

continue to raise our staff and subcontractors’
awareness in relation to environmental protection;

maintain the highest standards for occupational health
and safety to protect our staff members and the
communities located in the vicinity of our operations;
and

further extend our care to the community by
participating in more charity services.
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The Board is pleased to submit this annual report together with the
audited financial statements of the Group for the Review Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company, the principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

REORGANISATION AND SHARE OFFER

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 22
February 2017 as an exempted company with limited liability. The
Shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 8
February 2018.

Pursuant to the Reorganisation, the Company became the holding
company of the Group on 21 August 2017.

RESULTS/BUSINESS REVIEW

The results of the Group for the Review Year are set out in the
section headed “Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss” and
“Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income” on page 79 to
80 in this report. The business review of the Group for the Review
Year is set out in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on pages 6 to 19.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movement in the share capital of the Company during
the Review Year are set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the
Review Year are set out in the section headed “Consolidated
Statement of Changes in Equity” on page 83.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company at 31 March 2024, calculated
under the Companies Law of Cayman Islands amounted to
approximately HK$63.9 million (31 March 2023: HK$67.1 million).

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to recommend the declaration of a final
dividend for the Review Year.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
GROUP’S SECURITIES

During the Review Year, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Group'’s
securities.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movement in property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the Review Year are set out in note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Restated
Articles or the Laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company are set out in the section headed “Corporate Governance
Report” on pages 27 to 43 in this report.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING ("AGM")

The 2024 AGM will be held on 16 August 2024. The notice of
the AGM will be published and dispatched to shareholders of the
Company in the manner as required by the Listing Rules in due
course.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The Hong Kong branch register of members of the Company will
be closed from 13 August 2024 to 16 August 2024 (both dates
inclusive) for the purpose of ascertaining shareholders’ entitlement
to attend and vote at the forthcoming AGM. No transfer of
shares may be registered on those dates. In order to qualify for
the shareholders’ entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM, all
transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates should
be lodged with the Company’s Branch Registrar in Hong Kong,
Boardroom Share Registrars (HK) Limited, 2103B, 21/F, 148 Electric
Road, North Point Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on 12
August 2024.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the Review Year and up to the
date of this report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Yip Yuk Kit (Chairman)
Mr. Cheung Chun Fai

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chan Ka Yu
Mr. Lee Kwok Lun
Mr. Chan Wa Shing

In accordance with article 108 of the Restated Articles, at each
annual general meeting, one third of the Directors for the time
being will retire from office by rotation. However, if the number of
Directors is not a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but
not less than one third shall be the number of retiring Directors. The
Directors who shall retire in each year will be those who have been
longest in the office since their last re-election or appointment but
as between persons who become or were last re-elected Directors
on the same day those to retire will (unless they otherwise agree
among themselves) be determined by lot.

In accordance with article 112 of the Restated Articles, any Director
appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall
hold office only until the next following AGM of the Company and
shall then be eligible for re-election.

In accordance with article 108 of the Restated Articles, Mr. Chan Ka
Yu and Mr. Lee Kwok Lun will retire as Directors by rotation and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company.

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to the Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers all of the independent non-executive Directors to be
independent.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Details of Director’s service contracts are set out in the section
headed “Biographical Details of the Directors and Senior
Management” on pages 20 to 26.

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM has a service contract with any member of
the Group which is not determinable by the Group within one
year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

COMPETING INTERESTS

The Directors confirm that neither the controlling shareholders of
the Company nor their respective close associates is interested in
a business apart from the Group’s business which competes or is
likely to compete, directly or indirectly, with the Group’s business
during the Review Year, and is required to be disclosed pursuant to
Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKINGS

As disclosed in the prospectus of the company dated 26 January
2018, Mr. Yip and Fame Circle Limited (the “Controlling
Shareholders”) entered into a deed of non-competition in favour of
the Company on 18 January 2018 regarding the non-competition
undertakings given by each of the Controlling Shareholders in
favour of the Company (for itself and as trustee for its subsidiaries)
(the “Non-competition Undertakings”). A summary of the principal
terms of the Non-competition Undertakings is set out in the section
headed “Relationship with our Controlling Shareholders” of the
prospectus of the Company.

The Controlling Shareholders have provided a written confirmation
to the Company confirming that he/it has fully complied with the
Non-competition Undertakings. The independent non-executive
Directors have reviewed the confirmations of the Controlling
Shareholders and were satisfied that the Controlling Shareholders
have fully complied with the terms of the Non-competition
Undertakings during the Review Year. No new competing business
was reported by the Controlling Shareholders throughout the
Relevant Period.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited
consolidated financial statements in this report, is set out on page
164.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance coverage for
Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its
Directors and senior management arising from corporate activities.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No Director, or any entity connected with a Director, had any
material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transaction,
arrangement or contract of significance to the business of the
Group to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party
during the Review Year.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as otherwise disclosed, no contract of significance to which
the Company, its holding companies, or any of its subsidiaries was a
party or contract of significance for the provision of services to the
company, its holding companies, or any of its subsidiaries, and in
which the controlling shareholders’ of the Company had a material
interest, either directly or indirectly, subsisted or at any time during
the Review Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the Review Year.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of Directors and senior management of the
Group are set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of the
Directors and Senior Management” on pages 20 to 26.

EMOLUMENT POLICY FOR DIRECTORS

A remuneration committee is set up for reviewing the Group's
emolument policy and structure for all remuneration of the
Directors and senior management of the Group. The Remuneration
Committee recommends Directors’ remuneration to the Board by
reference to the benchmarking of the market. The Company also
looks into individual Director’'s competence, duties, responsibilities,
performance and the results of the Group in determining the exact
level of remuneration for each Director.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
EMOLUMENTS AND THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS

Details of the Directors’ and chief executives’” emoluments and the
five highest paid individuals are set in note 12 to the consolidated
financial statements.

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND
THE ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2023, the interests and short positions of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any of the
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”) which have been
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including any interests or
short positions which they are taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO) or which, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO,
have been entered in the register referred to therein, or have been,
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Companies (the “Model Code”) in the Listing Rules,
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

Long Position in Our Shares

ESERBETTHRABURERSSH
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RBROHNEE
Number of

ordinary Shares Percentage of

Name of Directors Capacity/Nature held/interested in shareholding
BEBERER

EENA 56, HE HEBEREE BEBDL

Mr. Yip Yuk Kit Interest in a controlled corporation (Note) 890,000,000 74.17%

EEANGE ZiEAE e () 890,000,000 74.17%

Note: The Company will be owned as to 74.17% by Fame Circle Limited.
Fame Circle Limited is legally and beneficially owned as to 100% by
Mr. Yip. Under the SFO, Mr. Yip is deemed to be interested in the
same number of Shares held by Fame Circle Limited.
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Long Position in the Shares of Associated
Corporation

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFEHE

REBEEROGPNER

Number of
Name of associated ordinary shares Percentage of
Name of Directors corporation Capacity/Nature held/interested in interest
BE HERR
EEnE HEEE AR B3 tHE VEBERE B EZEIL
Mr. Yip Yuk Kit Fame Circle Limited Beneficial interest 50,000 100%
EERNEAE Fame Circle Limited Ry 50,000 100%
Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, none of the Directors B XA EEN R -_MF=A=+—

had any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO, or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange under
the Model Code.

INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL AND OTHER
SHAREHOLDERS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2024, so far as is known to the Directors, the
following persons (not being a Director or chief executive of the
Company) had interests or short positions in Shares or underlying
Shares which would fell to be disclosed to the Company and the
Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO or, who are, directly or indirectly, interested in 10%
or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying
rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of the
Company or any other member of the Group, or which would be
required, pursuant to section 336 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register required referred to therein, were as follows:
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F2R3DEHREBAME AN R R R AT R S
HORE - REEREREE M RN EER
BRTRARRSHASE B HE MK E QR
RRE ERENTMERBANEE10%A
b RARBREFRAERDIEIZ6HE
RO AR E Pt & RO Al

Number of
ordinary Shares Percentage of
Name Capacity/Nature held/interested in interest
BE/BEER
B HE 54, HE VEBEREE EEEIL
Fame Circle Limited Beneficial interest (Note 1) 890,000,000 74.17%
Fame Circle Limited B (1) 890,000,000 74.17%
Ms. Yip Lai Ping Interest of spouse (Note 2) 890,000,000 74.17%
£ i B 4 =5 (T 1 2) 890,000,000 74.17%
2023/24 5% o REASKEEZEEARLA



66

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFERE

Notes:

1. Fame Circle is owned as to 100% by Mr. Yip. Mr. Yip is the sole
director of Fame Circle. Under the SFO, Mr. Yip is deemed to be
interested in the same number of Shares held by Fame Circle.

2. Ms. Yip is the spouse of Mr. Yip. Under the SFO, Ms. Yip is deemed
to be interested in the same number of Shares in which Mr. Yip is
interested.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) on 18 January 2018 which will remain in force for ten
years from that date. The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme
is approximately five years. The purpose of the Share Option
Scheme is to attract and retain the best available personnel of our
Group, and to allow the participants of the scheme an opportunity
to have a personal stake in the Company.

Eligible participants of the Share Option Scheme include any
employee (full-time or part-time), director, consultant or advisor of
any member of the Group, or any substantial shareholder of the
Company, or any distributor, contractor, supplier, agent, customer,
business partner or service provider of any member of the Group.
The basis of eligibility of any participant to the grant of an option
under the scheme will be determined by the Board from time to
time based on their contribution or potential contribution to the
development and growth of the Group.

The number of shares issuable under options granted to each
eligible participant in accordance with the Share Option Scheme
shall be limited to 30% of the shares of the Company in issue from
time to time, and limited to 10% of the shares in issue as at the
date of the Company’s listing.

Each grant of options to a Director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company (or any of their respective associates)
must be approved by our independent non-executive Directors
(excluding independent non-executive Director who is the grantee
of the option). Where any grant of options to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive Director (or any of
their respective associates) would result in the Company’s shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options already granted
and to be granted (including options exercised, cancelled and
outstanding) to such person in excess of 0.1% of the issued shares
of the Company in aggregate and with an aggregate value (based
on the closing price of the Company’s shares at the date of grant)
in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, is subject to
shareholders’ approval in advance in general meeting.

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

GEE

1. Fame CircleRE S E2EHE © B E BFame
CircleMME—EE - IBIFFBHFRBE KD - EiE
AR AR Fame Circle T AERIE B B ()
HEH R -

2. EXIRERENES REIHFLHERK
Pl BLE R\ /N ELEEREAERNAREK
B HEA R -

BRESE
ADEAR-T—N\F—A+\BRNT —EB
Bt B (AT B - RIS AR ARTF
RAR - B BB TFROARTE - 1
Bt B A 0 AR REBAEEREEY
AT ARG B2 ERE R — ER AR RR
AEAESNBE -

BREGFENAERSEERRAKREIM
RERRIMEMEES (2BEERR)  EF B
A AR BEM EEBIR - AR EERK
BRBIMNMEMYHEE - AZE - fHER - K
2BP  EBABAIRBHER - 28F
EERERERFERETNERE  SHES
EIRHREZFALHAEEERRIERAE
BRI EEBRIMIRE

BREERESB IR TEREERSEENT
BOIROHBBEBARQDARTRHEETROY
30% AR - ARRAAR ETEHE#ETRD
B10% &R -

MEE  ARATRAHKEERR(IEFE
BEMBE AR LBERESEREIFNITE
FTBESABREARANBLIENTE
B o WA EBBRRIBUIFATES (K
mEE B TABEA) R DB REREERART]
REM+—EAAREARSETERNBBAL
EREIGTROZBRE(BREBDITE - £
RERITEZBERE) MERTRATETZR
MBREBEANABEETRN20.1% » RIRE
ARBERERLRHBRN Z BT EFEZRE
HBESESET  AIARBIIRRNEEREARE L
SEHEAE o

2023/24 ANNUAL REPORT



The exercise price of options is determined by the Board, but shall
be at least the highest of (i) the closing price of the Company'’s
shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on
the date of grant of the option, which must be a business day; (ii)
the average closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant of the option; and (iii) the
par value of the Company’s shares.

As at the date of this annual report, the total number of securities
of the Company available for issue under the Share Option Scheme
was 120,000,000, representing 10% of the issued shares as at
the date of this annual report. No share option has been granted,
exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the Share Option Scheme since
its adoption on 18 January 2018, and there is no outstanding share
option as at 31 March 2024.

ARRANGEMENT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the Review Year and up to the date of this
report was the Company or any of its subsidiaries or a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors of the Company to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of
the Company or any body corporate.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The percentage of sales and purchases for the Review Year
attributable to the Group’ major customers and suppliers are as
follow:

Sales

40.4% (For the year ended 31 March
2023: 49.4%)

91.1% (For the year ended 31 March
2023:93.2%)

— the largest customer

— five largest customers

Purchases

22.0% (For the year ended 31 March
2023: 23.6%)

38.3% (For the year ended 31 March
2023:52.9%)

= the largest supplier

— five largest suppliers

None of the Directors, their close associates or any shareholder
(which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of
the Company’s share capital) had an interest in the major customers
or suppliers noted above.
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RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS

Details of the significant related party transactions undertaken in
the normal course of business are set out in the note 28 to the
consolidated financial statements, and none of which constitutes
a discloseable connected transaction as defined under the Listing
Rules.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the subsidiaries of the Company are set out in note 15 to
the consolidated financial statements.

USE OF PROCEEDS

The details of the use of proceeds for the Review Year is set out
in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on
pages 6 to 19 in this report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Directors confirmed
that the Company has maintained a sufficient amount of public
float for its Shares as required under the Listing Rules during the
Review Year and up to the date of this report.

RETIREMENT SCHEME

The Group participates in the mandatory provident fund prescribed
by the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter
485 of the Laws of Hong Kong). Save as the aforesaid, the Group
did not participate in any other pension schemes during the Review
Year.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the Review Year have
been audited by Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited, who will
retire and, being eligible, offer itself for re-appointment at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. There has
been no change in the auditor of the Company since its Listing.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REVIEW YEAR

There have been no material events occurring after 31 March 2024
and up to the date of this report.

By Order of the Board

Dragon Rise Group Holdings Limited
Yip Yuk Kit

Chairman and executive Director

Hong Kong, 25 June 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B ZBER RS

Q Grant Thornton
- H[E

To the members of Dragon Rise Group Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Dragon
Rise Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together, the “Group”) set out on pages 79 to 164, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of material
accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s “Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
Accounting for construction contracts

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B X BEN R

AREEREE@
BESHNETRE

Refer to the summary of significant accounting policies in note 2.14, note 4(a) for the critical accounting judgements

involved and note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

The Group recognised revenue and costs from construction
contracts amounted to approximately HK$911,778,000
and HK$873,455,000 respectively for the year ended 31
March 2024.

The Group's revenue and costs of construction contracts
are recognised based on output method by reference
to the direct measurements of the value of the services
transferred to the customer to date relative to the
remaining services promised under the contract. The value
of the services transferred to customer to date is measured
according to the progress certificate (by reference to
the construction works certified by the customers or
their agents). When the outcome of a construction
contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is
recognised only to the extent of contract costs incurred
that are likely to be recoverable.

These transactions require the management'’s estimation
and judgement of the contract revenue, direct cost and
variation works, if any, which may have an impact on the
accounting for construction contract and corresponding
profit margin incurred, we therefore identified such as a
key audit matter.

Our audit procedures in relation to the construction
contracts included the following:

o understanding the basis of estimation of the
budgets through discussion with the management
who is responsible for the budgeting of the
construction contracts, and evaluating the
reasonableness of the estimated profit margins
by taking into account of the profit margins of
historical similar projects;

o inspecting the key terms and conditions of
construction contracts and verifying the total
contract revenue;

o assessing and checking, on a sample basis, the
accuracy of the budgeted construction revenue by
agreeing to contract sum or variation orders as set
out in the construction contracts or the agreements
entered with customers;

. selecting, on a sample basis, the construction
contracts to examine management’s budget of
the cost components to actual cost incurred, such
as cost of materials, subcontracting charges and
labour costs, etc. We compared the budgeted
construction costs to the supporting documents
including but not limited to invoices, quotations
and rate of labour costs, etc.; and

] evaluating the management’s assessment on
revenue recognised from the construction contracts,
on a sample basis, based on the latest progress
certificates issued by the customers or their agents,
including the certified contract work and variation
orders, if any, and discussing with management
and the respective project managers about the
progress of the projects and cost incurred for work
performed but not certified.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Estimation of expected credit losses on trade

receivables and contract assets

HAREEREE@
TR SRERNRERANEENTER
FEEER

Refer to the summary of significant accounting policies in note 2.7,note 4(b) for the critical accounting estimates
involved, note 16, note 18 and note 32.4 to the consolidated financial statements.

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

As at 31 March 2024, the net carrying amount of
trade receivables and contract assets amounted to
HK$28,726,000 and HK$228,219,000 respectively (net
of expected credit losses (“ECL") of HK$27,000 and
HK$5,501,000, respectively), accounted for approximately
61% of the Group's total assets in aggregate.

Management performed periodic review on the status of
construction projects and individual credit evaluations on
significant customers. These evaluations focused on the
customer’s settlement history and current and future ability
to pay, and took into account the information specific
to the customer as well as pertaining to the current and
future economic environment in which the customer
operates. Independent valuer was engaged by the
management for the valuation of the ECL as at reporting
date.

We identified the ECL measurement on trade receivables
and contract assets as a key audit matter due to the
significant management’s judgements and estimates
involved in the ECL assessment.

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

Our audit procedures in relation to the management'’s
assessment on the ECL measurement of trade receivables
and contract assets included:

o understanding, evaluating and validating the design
of the controls over impairment assessment of trade
receivables and contract assets. Those controls
related to the identification of events that triggered
the provision for impairment of receivables from
construction contracts and estimation of the
impairment provisions;

o obtaining management’s assessment on the
collectability of individual significant customers, and
corroborating management'’s assessment against
relevant supporting evidence, including credit
history and financial capability of these customers;

o evaluating the independent external valuer’s
competence, capabilities and objectivities;

o consulting the independent valuer engaged by the
management and obtaining the independent ECL
valuation report to reassess the ECL allowance of
trade receivables and contract assets; and

o assessing the reasonableness of management’s ECL
allowance estimates by examining the information
used by the independent valuer engaged by the
management to form such judgement, including
testing the accuracy of the historical default data,
evaluating whether the historical loss rates are
appropriately adjusted based on current economic
conditions and forward-looking information.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
Accounting for construction contracts
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B X BEN R

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Estimation of expected credit losses on trade

receivables and contract assets
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information in the 2024 annual report
of the Company, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors assisted by the Audit Committee are responsible for
overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B X BEN R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed
terms of engagement and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B X BEN R
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B X BEN R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

11th Floor, Lee Garden Two

28 Yun Ping Road

Causeway Bay

Hong Kong SAR

25 June 2024

Kan Kai Ching
Practising Certificate No.: P07816
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
FERER

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z —F —pIF = =+—HI-F/Z

2024 2023
—EomE —EZ=F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FTER FH&T
Revenue Uy 5 5 945,852 786,209
Direct costs HERAR (906,389) (762,014)
Gross profit EF 39,463 24,195
Other (loss)/gain, net Hih(&8) M - FE 6 177) 7,127
Administrative expenses 1THRAX (27,759) (22,023)
Expected credit losses (“ECL") allowance & 5 W FIE K& & #EER
on trade receivables and contract TEER = B B 1 ([ TE A
assets, net EEEEDEE  F8 (3,733) (74)
Finance costs B 7% & A 7 (1,000) (186)
Profit before income tax B AT B B BT i A 8 6,794 9,039
Income tax expense TS > 9 (2,626) (1,116)
Profit for the year FRERF 4,168 7,923
Profit for the year attributable to: BT ATEEERER :
Equity holders of the Company PAYNCILSES TSN 4,188 7,923
Non-controlling interests FEIE AR 2 (20) -
4,168 7,923
HK cents HK cents
AL P
Earnings per share attributable to AATEREEAELZ
equity holders of the Company SRER
Basic and diluted AERREE 11 0.35 0.66
@ The notes on pages 86 to 164 are an integral part of these  * F86ZE 1648 L MABKZERFAMBREKZ

TAHES -

consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FezElaE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z —F —pUF =H=+—HIF)Z

2024 2023
—ECF —E_=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTHER FAET
Profit for the year FRER 4,168 7,923
Other comprehensive gain: Htt 2 HE WK :
Items that may be reclassified HE A EF SR Bzt
subsequently to profit or loss: EXMEE -
Exchange differences on translation of {2 &G INEFSHEE 3 =58
overseas operations 27 -

Total comprehensive income for the AAFEZZEEAELZ
year attributable to equity holders FEZHEKNZEEE

of the Company 4,195 7,923
@ The notes on pages 86 to 164 are an integral part of these  * E86E 1648 M EKZEHREMBEHRE L
consolidated financial statements. TR DEIHD -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
fRe MBI R

Asat 31 March 2024 &t —E —UF=H=+—HIFFZ

2024 2023
—EomE —EZ=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THxT THEIT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment VIEE - A R AR 13 21,712 35,179
Investment property WEME 14 3,910 4,480
Trade and other receivables H 5N E MR GRTE 16 - 168
Financial asset at fair value through RATEFABENSR
profit and loss BE 17 1,000 =
26,622 39,827
Current assets REBEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 N E b el FIE 16 30,377 39,867
Contract assets EREE 18 228,219 132,070
Cash, bank balances and pledged Be - IRITEHR LD ER
deposits T 19 133,962 96,261
392,558 268,198
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables B 5 N E b E R IE 20 (85,673) (40,490)
Contract liabilities aHaE 18 (464) (99)
Borrowings & 21 (58,505) (1,883)
Lease liabilities HEaE 22 (806) (876)
Current tax liabilities RBREEE (1,585) -
(147,033) (43,348)
Net current assets REBEEFE 245,525 224,850
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBEE 272,147 264,677
Non-current liabilities FREBEE
Borrowings [EE2 21 (2,000) =
Lease liabilities HEaE 22 (521) (618)
Deferred tax liabilities EERR BB E 23 (1,791) (777)
(4,312) (1,395)
Net assets BEE 267,835 263,282
2023/24 F3 o HEAKHEEERERLT
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
ReEMERAR

As at 31 March 2024 &= —FE —W#E=A=+—H I F/ZF

2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHET

CAPITAL AND RESERVES ERRGHE
Share capital &z 24 12,000 12,000
Reserves i 25 255,497 251,282

Equity attributable to equity holders of ~ AR EHEZIEH ATEERER

the Company 267,497 263,282
Non-controlling interests PRI A 338 =
TOTAL EQUITY R 267,835 263,282

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 25 EEFER T _NF XA - +ABIERE

June 2024. RET)E -
Mr. Yip Yuk Kit Mr. Cheung Chun Fai
BEEREE RIRE L4
Director Director
3 g

@ The notes on pages 86 to 164 are an integral part of these  * F86ZE 1648 L MARKZEFAMBREKZ
consolidated financial statements. TRIDEIEHD -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FeHRERR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z —F —pIF = =+—HI-F/Z

Non-
Share Share  Translation Other  Retained controlling
capital  premium*  Reserve*  reserve*  eamings* Total interests E]
Bx  RORE* RERET  HERE  REER f FEREs it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T Thn T Thr T BT Th ThT
Balance at 1 April 2022 RZE-ZENA-RER 12,000 96,893 - 686 145,775 255,359 - 255,359
Profit and total comprehensive income ~ FREFI R 2 ENELE
for the year - - - - 7,923 7923 - 7923
Balance at 31 March 2023 R=Z-=F=f=1-R
e 12,000 96,898 - 686 153,698 263,282 - 263,282
Balance at 1 April 2023 RZE-=FMA-AEH 12,000 96,898 - 686 153,698 263,282 - 263,282
Profit and total comprehensive income ~ E AR 2ENEEE
for the year - - - - 4188 4188 (20) 4168
Exchange differences on translation of ~ E S EBMEL 25
0Verseas operations - - 2 - - 2 - 21
Total comprehensive income EREENEES
for the year - - 2 - 4,188 4215 (20) 4,195
Transaction with owners BEEARS
Capital injection by a non-controlling ~ —&FFARER T E
interest - - - - - - 358 358
Balance at 31 March 2024 RZB-ME=B=1-R
ge 12,000 96,898 Wi 686 157,886 267,497 338 267,835
& The reserves accounts comprise the Group's reserves of  * ZERERERRASER _ZE-_NF=A=

HK$255,497,000 (2023: HK$251,282,000) as at 31 March 2024 in
the consolidated statement of financial position.

* The notes on pages 86 to 164 are an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.

*
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FeBReRER

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z —F —pUF =H=+—HIF)Z

Cash flows from operating activities

REFTDFB/RERE

2024
—EMmF

HK$'000
FET

2023
—E_=F
HK$'000
THEIT

Profit before income tax bR TSR AT 5 A 6,794 9,039
Adjustments for: HATHIEELHAE -
Depreciation e 13 18,449 21,678
ECL allowance on: ITHEEMESREER
Eia R

- contract assets, net -ARNEE  FE 18 3,968 321
- trade receivables, net - B RNFIAE - F5E 16 (235) (247)
Changes in fair value of investment REMERNTEES

property 14 570 310
Interest income F B U A 6 (1,202) (722)
Finance costs B 7% & 7 1,000 186
Net foreign exchange loss b X B8 5 5 842 1,034
Operating profit before working capital &8 & 4 & ) il £ 2% 7

changes 30,186 31,599
Decrease in trade and other receivables ‘2 5 Kz E {h JiE U 25 78 ik > 9,893 6,820
Increase in contract assets BHBEREM (100,117) (52,865)
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 I E th & 1~ FRIE IS AN 45,450 5,159
Increase in contract liabilities ARG EEM 365 54
Cash used in operations KEFRAR S (14,223) (9,233)
Tax paid BXIHIE
- Hong Kong profits tax - BEMEN (12) -
— Overseas tax - BHNTE (15) -
Net cash used in operating activities A& BT 2 F R (14,250) (9,233)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FERafER

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z —F —pIF = =+—HI-F/Z

2024 2023
—E-ME —E =4

HK$°000 HK$'000
FET TAT

Cash flows from investing activities REZBHFIERERE

Purchase of property, plant and BEYZE W ERE
equipment 13 (4,188) (9,950)
Purchase of financial asset at fair value ~ BEEIR A FE ABREH
through profit and loss SREE 17 (1,000) =
Purchase of financial asset at amortised B & 1% #5 5k A< 51| BR 49
cost TREE (14,079) (17,532)
Redemption of financial asset at & (] 4= 8 A AR D1 BR A
amortised cost TREE 14,079 17,532
Interest received B B 6 1,202 722
(Repayment to)/advanced from a director (BT — 2 £ %),/ K H
—REENBK (267) 1,047
Increase in pledged bank deposits B IR IR TIE R L h0 (9,600) (5,000)
Net cash used in investing activities KE B BT 2 F 58 (13,853) (13,181)

Cash flows from financing activities BEZBHERERE

Proceeds from bank borrowings SRITERATE A 21 62,150 3,136
Repayments of bank borrowings BEIBITER 21 (5,633) (7,892)
Proceed from corporate bond RNElEHFBIA 2,000 =
Principal portion of lease liabilities HEABENAEED 22 (961) (768)
Capital contribution from a non- —HIFERERTE

controlling interest 358 -
Interest paid BAFE (895) (186)
Net cash from/(used in) financing BB TEE S (BTH)

activities & FEE 57,019 (5,710)

Net increase/(decrease) in cashand BERBELEEY® M,

cash equivalents (B4)#%8 28,916 (28,124)
Cash and cash equivalents at the RENHRE RIS FEY
beginning of the year 71,082 99,206

Cash and cash equivalents at the end RERNWEERBESEEY

of the year (note 19) (M¥3£19) 99,998 71,082
& The notes on pages 86 to 164 are an integral part of these  * EB6E 1648 2 MFEKZEREMBEHRE L
consolidated financial statements. TR DEIER D
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Dragon Rise Group Holdings Limited (“the Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability. The Company’s shares are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”).

The addresses of the registered office and principal place
of business of the Company are disclosed in “Corporate
Information” section to the annual report. As at 31 March
2024, the directors considered the Company’s immediate
and ultimate holding company is Fame Circle Limited (“Fame
Circle”), a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
(the "BVI”) and is wholly owned by Mr. Yip Yuk Kit (“Mr.
Yip”, Mr. Yip and Fame Circle each being a “Controlling
Shareholder”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 15
to the consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2024 were approved for issue by the Board of Directors
on 25 June 2024.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

2.1 Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term
includes all applicable individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the "HKICPA”) and the accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong.

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ 2023/24 ANNUAL REPORT

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fReMBEHRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B{Z —FE_F=H=+—HI-F/Z

—RER
EARBIZRERAR(EAR)ERS
HERMALABREERAR « AD
ARDREEBERBHERAR (R
BT ER L7 -

ARARAMPAEREBLE IRt
BERAFRIABER]—f - RZT=
ME=A=+—H BERAKXQAH
BN & B A Rl AFame Circle Limited
([Fame Circle]) * " RREBR IS
((RBEZESDAMKINAT  BE
BAEE(ELE] - Eh4 KFame Circle
ZEA—R[ERBRR)E2EHRS -

ARBRIBRELRRAR - ANBAREE
KEH N AR A M MRS

HE_ZE_NE=A=+—HILFENZX
ERAMERERN - E-_NE A 1+H
AES=eH AT -

EXRSTHRME

2.1 REEE

DEBEAUBRENREBYE
SR (BB BREER (X
SEBEAEBSHHAG(EE
SHEAR ) BEHE A BB AR
EBPBRE LD - BB ER
([EHEGHEA ) R2B)REEA
Rt R



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M58 R

For the year ended 31 March 2024 {2 —FE _MF=H=+—HILF)Z

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. BEAESHHEHEE®
POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

2.1 REEE(E)

The consolidated financial statements also comply with
the applicable disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance (“CO") and the applicable
disclosure requirements of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”).

The material accounting policies that have been used
in the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements are summarised below. These policies have
been consistently applied to all the years presented in
the consolidated financial statements. The adoption
of new or amended HKFRSs and the impacts on the
Group’s consolidated financial statements, if any, are
disclosed in note 3.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for
investment property and financial asset at fair value
through profit and loss, which are stated at fair value.
The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is the functional
currency of the Group, and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousands (“HK$'000"), except when otherwise
indicated.

It should be noted that accounting estimates and
assumptions are used in preparation of the consolidated
financial statements. Although these estimates are based
on management’s best knowledge and judgement of
current events and actions, actual results may ultimately
differ from those estimates. The areas involving a
higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note 4.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 B{Z —FE_F=H=+—HI-F/Z

2.

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ 2023/24 ANNUAL REPORT

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.2 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2024 incorporate the financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the
“Group”). The financial statements of the subsidiaries
are prepared for the same reporting period as the
Company, using consistent accounting policies.

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed,
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. When assessing
whether the Group has power over the entity, only
substantive rights relating to the entity (held by the
Group and others) are considered.

The Group includes the income and expenses of a
subsidiary in the consolidated financial statements from
the date it gains control until the date when the Group
ceases to control the subsidiary.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised
gains and losses on transactions between group
companies are eliminated in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Amounts reported in the financial
statements of subsidiaries have been adjusted where
necessary to ensure consistency with the accounting
policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity on a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Company, and in respect of which the Group has not
agreed any additional terms with the holders of those
interests which would result in the Group as a whole
having a contractual obligation in respect of those
interests that meets the definition of a financial liability.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position within
equity, separately from the equity attributable to the
owners of the Company. Non-controlling interests in
the results of the Group are presented on the face of
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as an allocation of the total
profit or loss and total comprehensive income for the
year between non-controlling interests and the owners
of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

& M58 R

For the year ended 31 March 2024 {2 —FE _MF=H=+—HILF)Z

2. ERESTHBHEHMEw@w

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2

2.3

Basis of consolidation (continued)

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
subsidiaries are carried at cost less any impairment loss
unless the subsidiary is held for sale or included in a
disposal group. Cost also includes directly attributable
costs of investment.

The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the
Company on the basis of dividends received and
receivable at the end of the reporting period. All
dividends whether received out of the investee’s pre or
post-acquisition profits are recognised in the Company’s
profit or loss.

Foreign currency translation

In the individual financial statements of the consolidated
entities, foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency of the individual entity
using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. At the end of the reporting period,
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rates
ruling at that date. Foreign exchange gains and losses
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and
from the end of the reporting period retranslation of
monetary assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or
loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated
(i.e. only translated using the exchange rates at the
transaction date).

In the consolidated financial statements, all individual
financial statements of foreign operations, originally
presented in a currency different from the Group's
presentation currency, have been converted into HKS.
Assets and liabilities have been translated into HK$ at
the closing rates at the end of the reporting period.
Income and expenses have been converted into the
HK$ at the exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates, or at the average rates over the reporting period
provided that the exchange rates do not fluctuate
significantly. Any differences arising from this procedure
have been recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated separately in the translation reserve in
equity.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 B{Z —FE_F=H=+—HI-F/Z

2.

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ 2023/24 ANNUAL REPORT

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.4 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment (other than right-of-use
assets) are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses (see note 2.8). Cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition
of the asset. Costs of right-of-use assets are described
in note 2.11. Depreciation commences when the assets
are ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of assets
less their residual values over their estimated useful lives,
using the straight-line method, at the following rates
per annum:

Plant and machinery 20-30%
Motor vehicles 30%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 20%

Shorter of lease term
or 5 years

Leasehold improvements

Accounting policy for depreciation of right-of-use assets
is set out in note 2.11.

The assets’ residual values, depreciation methods and
useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at
the end of each reporting period.

The gain or loss arising on retirement or disposal
is determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part
is derecognised. All other costs, such as repairs and
maintenance, are charged to profit or loss during the
financial period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

& M58 R

For the year ended 31 March 2024 {2 —FE _MF=H=+—HILF)Z

2. ERESTHBHEHMEw@w

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.5

2.6

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and buildings which are
owned or held under a leasehold interest to earn rental
income and/or for capital appreciation.

On initial recognition, investment property is measured
at cost, and subsequently at fair value, unless its fair
value cannot be reliably determined at that time.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to
the acquisition of the investment property.

Fair value is determined by external professional valuers,
with sufficient experience with respect to both the
location and the nature of the investment property. The
carrying amounts recognised at the end of the reporting
period reflect the prevailing market conditions at the
end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from either changes in the fair
value or the sale of an investment property are included
in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the financial instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire,
or when the financial asset and substantially all of its
risks and rewards are transferred. A financial liability
is derecognised when it is extinguished, discharged,
cancelled or expires.
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2.6
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2.

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ 2023/24 ANNUAL REPORT

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.6 Financial instruments (continued)

Classification and initial measurement of
financial assets

Except for those trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component and are measured
at the transaction price in accordance with HKFRS 15
“Revenue from Contracts with Customers” (“HKFRS
15"), all financial assets are initially measured at fair
value, in case of a financial asset not at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL"”), plus transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the
financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets
carried at FVTPL are expensed in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.

Financial assets, other than those designated and
effective as hedging instruments, are classified into the
following categories:

- amortised cost;

- FVTPL; or

- fair value through other comprehensive income.

The classification is determined by both:

- the entity’s business model for managing the
financial asset; and

- the contractual cash flow characteristics of the
financial asset.

All income and expenses relating to financial assets that
are recognised in profit or loss are presented within
finance costs and “Other (loss)/gain, net” except for
ECL allowance of financial assets which is presented as a
separate item in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M58 R

For the year ended 31 March 2024 {2 —FE _MF=H=+—HILF)Z

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. BEAESHHEHEE®
POLICIES (continued)

2.6 Financial instruments (continued) 26 TRMIAEwWw

Subsequent measurement of financial assets
Debt investments

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the
assets meet the following conditions (and are not
designated as FVTPL):

- they are held within a business model whose
objective is to hold the financial assets and collect
its contractual cash flows; and

- the contractual terms of the financial assets give
rise to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

After initial recognition, these are measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Interest income from these financial assets is included in
“Other (loss)/gain, net” in profit or loss. Discounting is
omitted where the effect of discounting is immaterial.
The Group’s cash, bank balances, pledged deposits and
trade and other receivables fall into this category of
financial assets.

Financial assets that are held within a different business
model other than “hold to collect” or “hold to collect
and sell’ are categorised at FVTPL. Further, irrespective
of business model, financial assets whose contractual
cash flows are not solely payments of principal and
interest are accounted for at FVTPL.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 B{Z —FE_F=H=+—HI-F/Z

2.

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ 2023/24 ANNUAL REPORT

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.6 Financial instruments (continued)

Classification and measurement of financial

liabilities

The Group’s financial liabilities include borrowings, lease

liabilities and trade and other payables.

Financial liabilities (other than lease liabilities) are initially
measured at fair value, and, where applicable, adjusted
for transaction costs unless the Group designated a

financial liability at FVTPL.

Subsequently financial liabilities (other than lease
liabilities) are measured at amortised cost using the

effective interest method.

All interest-related charges reported in profit or loss are

included within finance costs.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated
as a derecognition of the original liability and the
recognition of new liability, and the difference in the
respective carrying amount is recognised in profit or

loss.

Accounting policy of lease liabilities is set out in note

2.11.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
stated at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in profit or loss over the period of

the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least twelve months after the end of

the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 {2 —FE _MF=H=+—HILF)Z

BEARSFTHEMEw@

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.6

2.7

Financial instruments (continued)

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at their
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.

Impairment of financial assets and
contract assets

The impairment requirements under HKFRS 9 “Financial
Instruments” (“HKFRS 9”) use forward-looking
information to recognise ECL — the “ECL model”.
Instruments within the scope included loans and other
debt-type financial assets measured at amortised cost,
trade receivables and contract assets recognised and
measured under HKFRS 15.

The Group considers a broader range of information
when assessing credit risk and measuring ECL,
including past events, current conditions, reasonable
and supportable forecasts that affect the expected
collectability of the future cash flows of the instrument.

In applying this forward-looking approach, a distinction
is made between:

- financial instruments that have not deteriorated
significantly in credit quality since initial
recognition or that have low credit risk (“Stage 1");
and

- financial instruments that have deteriorated
significantly in credit quality since initial
recognition and whose credit risk is not low
("Stage 2").

“Stage 3" would cover financial assets that have
objective evidence of impairment at the end of the
reporting period.

“12-month ECL" are recognised for the Stage 1
category while “lifetime ECL" are recognised for the
Stage 2 category.

Measurement of the ECL is determined by a probability-
weighted estimate of credit losses over the expected life
of the financial instrument.

2.6

2.7
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 B{Z —FE_F=H=+—HI-F/Z

2.

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ 2023/24 ANNUAL REPORT

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.7 Impairment of financial assets and

contract assets (continued)

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group
applies a simplified approach in calculating ECL and
recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECL at the
end of each reporting period. These are the expected
shortfalls in contractual cash flows, considering the
potential for default at any point during the life of the
financial assets. See note 32.4 for further details.

The Group measures the loss allowance for other
receivables equal to 12-month ECL, unless when
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should
be recognised is based on significant increase in the
likelihood or risk of default occurring since initial
recognition.

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
assets at the end of the reporting period with the risk of
default occurring on the financial assets at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

- significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase
in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices
for the debtor;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M58 R

For the year ended 31 March 2024 {2 —FE _MF=H=+—HILF)Z

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. EREFBEBEw
POLICIES (continued)
2.7 Impairment of financial assets and

27 SREERSHNEERE®

contract assets (continued)

- existing or forecast adverse changes in regulatory,
business, financial, economic conditions, or
technological environment that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability
to meet its debt obligations; and

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
end of each reporting period. A debt instrument is
determined to have low credit risk if it has a low risk of
default, the borrower has strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and
adverse changes in economic and business conditions in
the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the
ability of the borrower to fulfill its contractual cash flow
obligations.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 B{Z —FE_F=H=+—HI-F/Z

2.

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ 2023/24 ANNUAL REPORT

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.7 Impairment of financial assets and
contract assets (continued)

The Group considers the following as constituting an
event of default for internal credit risk management
purposes as historical experience indicates that
receivables that meet either of the following criteria are

generally not recoverable.

- when there is a breach of financial covenants by

the counterparty; or

- information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group,
in full (without taking into account any collaterals

held by the Group);

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset is more
than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information to demonstrate that a

more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Detailed analysis of ECL assessment of trade receivables,
contract assets and other financial assets at amortised

cost are set out in note 32.4.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M58 R

For the year ended 31 March 2024 {2 —FE _MF=H=+—HILF)Z

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. EREFBEBEw
POLICIES (continued)
2.8 Impairment of non-financial assets

2.8 FTMEERE

Property, plant and equipment (including right-of-
use assets) and the Company’s interests in subsidiaries
are subject to impairment testing. They are tested for
impairment whenever there are indications that the
asset’s carrying amount may not be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately for the amount by which the asset'’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value, reflecting
market conditions less costs of disposal, and value in
use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market assessment
of time value of money and the risk specific to the asset.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, where
an asset does not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets, the recoverable
amount is determined for the smallest group of assets
that generate cash inflows independently (i.e., a cash-
generating unit). As a result, some assets are tested
individually for impairment and some are tested at cash-
generating unit level. Corporate assets are allocated
to individual cash-generating units, when a reasonable
and consistent basis of allocation can be identified,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group
of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be identified.

The impairment loss is charged pro rata to the assets
in the cash-generating unit, except that the carrying
value of an asset will not be reduced below its individual
fair value less cost of disposal or value in use, if
determinable.

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a
favourable change in the estimates used to determine
the asset’s recoverable amount and only to the extent
that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined,
net of depreciation, if no impairment loss had been
recognised.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 B{Z —FE_F=H=+—HI-F/Z

2.

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ 2023/24 ANNUAL REPORT

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.9 Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is recognised when the Group
recognises revenue before being unconditionally entitled
to the consideration under the payment terms set out
in the contract. Contract assets are assessed for ECL
in accordance with the policy set out in note 2.7 and
are reclassified to receivables when the right to the
consideration has become unconditional.

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the Group recognises the related
revenue. A contract liability would also be recognised
if the Group has an unconditional right to receive
consideration before the Group recognises the related
revenue. In such cases, a corresponding receivable
would also be recognised.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net
contract asset or a net contract liability is presented. For
multiple contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities
of unrelated contracts are not presented on a net basis.

2.10Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and short term
highly liquid investments with original maturities of
three months or less that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value.

2.11Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group considers
whether a contract is, or contains a lease. A lease
is defined as ‘a contract, or part of a contract, that
conveys the right to use an identified asset (the
underlying asset) for a period of time in exchange
for consideration’.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

& M58 R

For the year ended 31 March 2024 {2 —FE _MF=H=+—HILF)Z

2. ERESTHBHEHMEw@w

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.11Leases (continued)

To apply this definition, the Group assesses
whether the contract meets three key evaluations
which are whether:

. the contracts contains an identified asset,
which is either explicitly identified in the
contract or implicitly specified by being
identified at the time the asset is made
available to the Group;

o the Group has the right to obtain
substantially all of the economic benefits
from use of the identified asset throughout
the period of use, considering its rights
within the defined scope of the contract;
and

o the Group has the right to direct the use of
the identified asset throughout the period
of use. The Group assess whether it has the
right to direct ‘how and for what purpose’
the asset is used throughout the period of
use.

For contracts that contains a lease component
and one or more additional lease or non-
lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease and
non-lease component on the basis of their relative
stand-alone prices.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 B{Z —FE_F=H=+—HI-F/Z

2.

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ 2023/24 ANNUAL REPORT

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.11Leases (continued)

Measurement and recognition of leases
as a lessee

At lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability
on the consolidated statement of financial
position. The right-of-use asset is measured at
cost, which is made up of the initial measurement
of the lease liability, any initial direct costs
incurred by the Group, an estimate of any costs to
dismantle and remove the underlying asset at the
end of the lease, and any lease payments made in
advance of the lease commencement date (net of
any lease incentives received).

The Group depreciates the right-of-use assets on a
straight-line basis from the lease commencement
date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of
the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term
unless the Group is reasonably certain to obtain
ownership at the end of the lease term. The
Group also assesses the right-of-use asset (except
for those meeting the definition of investment
properties) for impairment when such indicator
exists.

At the commencement date, the Group measures
the lease liability at the present value of the lease
payments unpaid at that date, discounted using
the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, the Group’s
incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of
the lease liability are made up of fixed payments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M58 R

For the year ended 31 March 2024 {2 —FE _MF=H=+—HILF)Z

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. BEAESHHEHEE®
POL'C'ES (continued)

2.11Leases (continued) 2.11MEE @

Measurement and recognition of leases
as a lessee (continued)

Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability
will be reduced for lease payments made and
increased for interest cost on the lease liability.
It is remeasured to reflect any reassessment or
lease modification, or if there are changes in in-
substance fixed payments.

When the lease is remeasured, the corresponding
adjustment is reflected in the right-of-use asset, or
profit and loss if the right-of-use asset is already
reduced to zero.

The Group has elected to account for short-term
leases using the practical expedients. Instead of
recognising a right-of-use asset and lease liability,
the payments in relation to these leases are
recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the lease term. Short-term
leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months
or less.

On the consolidated statement of financial
position, right-of-use assets have been included in
“Property, plant and equipment”.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted for
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition
are considered as additional lease payments and
included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

As a lessor, the Group classifies its leases as either
operating or finance leases.

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of the underlying asset, and classified
as an operating lease if it does not.

The Group also earns rental income from
operating leases of its investment property. Rental
income is recognised on a straight-line basis over
the term of the lease.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 B{Z —FE_F=H=+—HI-F/Z

2.

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ 2023/24 ANNUAL REPORT

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.12Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can
be made. Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

All provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more future uncertain events
not wholly within the control of the Group, are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability
of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

An onerous contract exists when the Group has a
contract under which the unavoidable costs of meeting
the obligations under the contract exceed the economic
benefits expected to be received from the contract.
Provisions for onerous contracts are measured at the
present value of the lower of the expected cost of
terminating the contract and the net cost of fulfilling the
contract (which includes both incremental costs and an
allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling
that contract).

2.13Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Share capital
is determined using the nominal value of shares that
have been issued. Any transaction costs associated with
the issuing of shares (net of any related income tax
benefit) to the extent they are incremental costs directly
attributable to the equity transaction are deducted from
share premium.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M58 R

For the year ended 31 March 2024 {2 —FE _MF=H=+—HILF)Z

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. BEAESHHEHEE®
POLICIES (continued)

2.14Revenue recognition 214 TR

Revenue arises mainly from the contracts for the
construction services.

To determine whether to recognise revenue, the Group
follows a 5-step process:
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1. Identifying the contract with a customer 1. HAEEFPHEL
2. ldentifying the performance obligations 2. WBABHEE

3. Determining the transaction price

4. Allocating the transaction price to the performance
obligations

5. Recognising revenue when/as performance
obligation(s) are satisfied

In all cases, the total transaction price for a contract is
allocated amongst the various performance obligations
based on their relative stand-alone selling prices. The
transaction price for a contract excludes any amounts
collected on behalf of third parties.

Revenue is recognised either at a point in time or over
time, when (or as) the Group satisfies performance
obligations by transferring the promised goods or
services to its customers.

Where the contract contains a financing component
which provides a significant financing benefit to
the customer for more than 12 months, revenue is
measured at the present value of the amount receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction with the
customer, and interest income is accrued separately
under the effective interest method. Where the contract
contains a financing component which provides a
significant financing benefit to the Group, revenue
recognised under that contract includes the interest
expense accreted on the contract liability under the
effective interest method.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.14Revenue recognition (continued)

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

Revenue from construction contracts are
recognised over time as the Group's performance
creates and enhances an asset that the customer
controls which referred as the designated areas
where the construction work services performed.
The progress towards complete satisfaction of
a performance obligation is measured based on
output method, which is to recognise revenue
on the basis of direct measurements of the value
of the services transferred to the customer to
date relative to the remaining services promised
under the contract, that best depict the Group's
performance in transferring control of services.
The value of the services transferred to customer
to date is measured according to the progress
certificate (by reference to the construction works
certified by the customers or their agents).

Contract costs are recognised when incurred.
When the outcome of a construction contract
cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is
recognised only to the extent of contract costs
incurred that are likely to be recoverable.

Revenue from the sales of construction materials
is recognised at the point in time when control of
the asset is transferred to the customers, generally
on delivery of the construction materials.

Interest income is recognised on a time proportion
basis using the effective interest method. For
financial assets measured at amortised cost that
are not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate
is applied to the gross carrying amount of the
asset.

Accounting policies for rental income are set out
in note 2.11.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M58 R

For the year ended 31 March 2024 {2 —FE _MF=H=+—HILF)Z

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. BEAESHHEHEE®
POLICIES (continued)

2.15Employee benefits 215EEEF

Retirement benefits to employees are provided through
defined contribution plans. In addition, the employees
employed under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance
are also entitled to long service payment (“LSP”) if the
eligibility criteria are met. The LSP are defined benefits
plans.

Defined contribution plans

The Group operates a defined contribution retirement
benefit plan under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance, for all of its employees who are
eligible to participate in the Mandatory Provident Fund
("MPF") Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in funds under the
control of independent trustees. The minimum monthly
contribution is made at the lower of (i) HK$1,500; or
(i) 5% of the relevant monthly payroll costs to the MPF
Scheme, which contribution is matched by employees.

Contributions are recognised as an expense in profit or
loss as employees render services during the year. The
Group's obligations under these plans are limited to the
fixed percentage contributions payable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B{Z —FE_F=H=+—HI-F/Z

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. BERAETHEHEME®
POLICIES (continued)

2.15Employee benefits (continued)

2.15EEER @

Retirement benefits (continued)
Short-term employee benefits

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of
services rendered by employees up to the end of the
reporting period.

Non-accumulating compensated absences such as sick
leave and maternity leave are not recognised until the
time of leave.

2.16 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in which
they are incurred.

2.17 Accounting for income taxes

Income tax comprises current tax and deferred tax.

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise
those obligations to, or claims from, fiscal authorities
relating to the current or prior reporting period, that
are unpaid at the end of the reporting period. They
are calculated according to the tax rates and tax laws
applicable to the fiscal periods to which they relate,
based on the taxable profit for the year. All changes
to current tax assets or liabilities are recognised as a
component of tax expense in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M58 R

For the year ended 31 March 2024 {2 —FE _MF=H=+—HILF)Z

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. EREFBEBEw
POLICIES (continued)
2.17 Accounting for income taxes (continued)

217 FIEHRMNETEE @

Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method on
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and their
respective tax bases. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, tax losses available to be carried
forward as well as other unused tax credits, to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit, including
existing taxable temporary differences, will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences,
unused tax losses and unused tax credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither taxable nor
accounting profit or loss and does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.

For investment property measured using the fair value
model in accordance with the accounting policy above,
the measurement of the related deferred tax liability
or asset reflects the tax consequences of recovering
the carrying amount of the investment property
entirely through sale, unless the investment property is
depreciable and is held within a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the investment property over time,
rather than through sale.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies
the requirements in HKAS 12 to the lease liabilities and
the related assets separately. The Group recognises
a deferred tax asset related to the lease liabilities to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will
be available against which the deductible temporary
difference can be utilised and a deferred tax liability for
all taxable temporary differences.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fn & M5 H RN

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B{Z —FE_F=H=+—HI-F/Z

2.

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ 2023/24 ANNUAL REPORT

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.17 Accounting for income taxes (continued)

Deferred tax is calculated, without discounting, at tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period the liability
is settled or the asset realised, provided they are enacted
or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting

period.

Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are
recognised in profit or loss, or in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity if they relate to items that
are charged or credited to other comprehensive income

or directly in equity.

When different tax rates apply to different levels of
taxable income, deferred tax assets and liabilities are
measured using the average tax rates that are expected
to apply to the taxable income of the periods in which

the temporary differences are expected to reverse.

The determination of the average tax rates requires
an estimation of (1) when the existing temporary
differences will reverse and (2) the amount of future
taxable profit in those years. The estimate of future

taxable profit includes:

- income or loss excluding reversals of temporary

differences; and

- reversals of existing temporary differences.

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are

presented in net if, and only if,

(@)  the Group has the legally enforceable right to set

off the recognised amounts; and

(b) intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise

the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

The Group presents deferred tax assets and deferred tax

liabilities in net if, and only if,

(@) the entity has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities; and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M58 R

For the year ended 31 March 2024 {2 —FE _MF=H=+—HILF)Z

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. EREFBEBEw
POLICIES (continued)
2.17 Accounting for income taxes (continued) 217 iR NETEE @

(b) the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax (b) BEEMRIBEEMRLEHIBEE
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same EBRE — G EAR AT E
taxation authority on either: A —IE B TSR

(i)  the same taxable entity; or () R—ERHEE: =X
(i)  different taxable entities which intend either (i) FFEIN S ARKEME (MIE

to settle current tax liabilities and assets on HEBBBEENGES
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle sk Y [B] KRB /Y 3 SE B I8
the liabilities simultaneously, in each future BESNEE)NFEEE
period in which significant amounts of HEANHHIEAEESE
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected EXRREHREERE
to be settled or recovered. EEENTRERKE

-

2.18 D PR
AEBRETHATELL REE

2.18 Segment reporting
The Group identifies operating segments and prepares

segment information based on the regular internal
financial information reported to the chief operating
decision maker (the “CODM") for their decisions
about resources allocation to the Group’s business
components and for their review of the performance of
those components.

2.19Related parties

For the purposes of the consolidated financial
statements, a party is considered to be related to the
Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over of the
Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or
(i) is @ member of the key management

personnel of the Group or of a parent of the
Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fn & M5 H RN

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B{Z —FE_F=H=+—HI-F/Z

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.19Related parties (continued)

(b) the party is an entity and if any of the following
conditions applies:

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of
the same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures
of the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a party, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
parent of the Group.

Close family members of an individual are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that individual in their dealings with the

entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M RERME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 {2 —FE _MF=H=+—HILF)Z

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED
HKFRSs

()

New and amended HKFRSs that are
effective for annual periods beginning on
1 April 2023

In the current year, the Group has applied for the first
time the following new and amended HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA effective for the Group’s consolidated
financial statements for the annual period beginning on
1 April 2023:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and related
amendments
Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform — Pillar Two
Model Rules

Except for those mentioned below, the adoption of the
new and amended HKFRSs had no material impact on
how the results and financial position of the Group for
the current and prior periods have been prepared and
presented.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B{Z —FE_F=H=+—HI-F/Z

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED 3. BRI RBETEBU B
HKFRSS (continued) £ 2 Bl @
(i) Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs (i) EEMAEMSKRERNEERY
1R & 2 A
At the date of authorisation of these consolidated RZEEEVBREATENER
financial statements, certain new and amended HKFRSs B AEEBEVEESHEME T2 T
have been published but are not yet effective, and have BB W R AT R] RIEEHERT BB
not been adopted early by the Group. BT s AR R o
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between ERMBREER  REEHEHEBERA
and HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint Z10RREEE: FEEPECHE
Venture? AR 2855 ERERBA’
(CHES
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback’ BETBRERDY  EREANES
Z165% (BT A) B
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or ERGTENE IR BEENES
Non-current and related amendments (IBETA) MBS IETRE R
to Hong Kong Interpretation 5' BERBESRH
E TN
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants’ ERGTERNE IR MEZENERD
(CHES B
Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements' BERSMENETRE HEARERE
and HKFRS 7 BERBIREES
EREACHES
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability? BRSIERENR B HgRe
(CHES
1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 g RZZE_MF-A—HB=szEH
January 2024 bR ) E B A R
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 2 RZZE-_RAF—A—HxkzEHA
January 2025 YRR S B A 3K
3 Effective date not yet determined 3 A H R EE
The directors anticipate that all of the pronouncements BEETE  TAAMHERBRA
will be adopted in the Group’s accounting policy for the AR B Bk 2 & R 6 A & 18 HA
first period beginning on or after the effective date of EREESTBEANLRRD Ik
the pronouncement. The new and amended HKFRSs are KIERIBAMBREEAERTE
not expected to have a material impact on the Group's HAEBRGEMBRREKER
consolidated financial statements. TE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M58 R

For the year ended 31 March 2024 {2 —FE _MF=H=+—HILF)Z

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED 3. BT RZIETE BT
HKFRSS (continued) 42 Bl @

(iii) New HKICPA guidance on the accounting (i) EEASFAESHEESHE

implication of the MPF-LSP offsetting
mechanism

In June 2022, the Hong Kong SAR Government (the
“Government”) gazetted the Hong Kong Employment
and Retirement Schemes Legislation (Offsetting
Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance 2022 (the
“Amendment Ordinance”), which will take effect on
1 May 2025 (the “Transition Date”). The Amendment
Ordinance abolishes the use of the accrued benefits
derived from employers’ mandatory MPF contributions
to offset LSP in respect of an employee’s service from
the Transition Date (the “Abolition”). In addition, the
last month's salary immediately preceding the Transition
Date is used to calculate the portion of the LSP in
respect of the employment period before the Transition
Date.

Prior to 1 April 2023, the Group applied practical
expedient in paragraph 93(b) of HKAS 19 (the “Practical
Expedient”) to account for the offsetable MPF benefits
as deemed employee contributions to reduce the current
service costs in the period in which the related services
were rendered.

In July 2023, the HKICPA published “Accounting
implications of the abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting
mechanism in Hong Kong” (the “Guidance”) that
provides guidance for the accounting for the offsetting
mechanism and the impact arising from the abolition of
the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism.

By following the Guidance, the Group has changed its
accounting policy in connection with its LSP obligations.
As a result of the Abolition, these contributions are
no longer considered “linked solely to the employee’s
service in that period” since the mandatory employer
MPF contribution after the Transition Date can still
be used to offset the pre-transition LSP obligation.
Therefore, the Group ceased to apply the Practical
Expedient and reattribute the deemed employee
contributions to periods of service in the same manner
as the gross LSP benefit by applying paragraph 93(a) of
HKAS 19. The directors of the Company consider that
the changes in the Group’s accounting policy in the
current year had no material impact on the company
level and consolidated financial statements of financial
position as at 31 March 2023 and 2024.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B{Z —FE_F=H=+—HI-F/Z

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 4. FESTHEEFTRAE

JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are HrT RAE HERBA LR R EMEARR
based on historical experience and other factors, including BRI - BEREEBEATHERGEY
expectations of future events that are believed to be RIREIE 2 TEH -

reasonable under the circumstances.

(a) Critical accounting judgements () EXEFHHER

As explained in note 2.14, revenue recognition on a
project is dependent on management'’s estimation of
the total outcome of the construction contracts, with
reference to the progress certificates issued by the
customers and their agents. The Group reviews and
revises the estimates of contract revenue, contract costs
and variation orders, prepared for each construction
contract as the contract progresses. Budgeted
construction costs are prepared by management on the
basis of quotations from time to time provided by the
major contractors, suppliers or vendors involved and
the experience of management. In order to keep the
budget accurate and up-to-date, management conducts
periodic reviews of the budgeted construction costs by
comparing the budgeted amounts to the actual costs
incurred.

Significant judgement is required in estimating
the contract revenue, contract costs and variation
work which may have an impact on progress of the
construction contracts and the corresponding profit
taken.

The Group recognised revenue and costs from
construction contracts amounted to approximately
HK$911,778,000 and HK$873,455,000 (31 March
2023: HK$784,126,000 and HK$759,964,000)
respectively for the year ended 31 March 2024.

As at 31 March 2024, the net carrying amount of
contract assets amounted to HK$228,219,000 (net
of ECL allowance of HK$5,501,000) (31 March
2023: HK$132,070,000 (net of ECL allowance of
HK$1,533,000)).

Details of the revenue and contract assets/liabilities are
disclosed in notes 5 and 18 respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M RERME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 {2 —FE _MF=H=+—HILF)Z

4, FTEEHFTRHAEH@

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(a)

(b)

Critical accounting judgements (continued)
Construction contracts (continued)

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities with the next financial year are
discussed below:

Key sources of estimation uncertainties

Estimation of impairment of trade
receivables and contract assets within the
scope of ECL under HKFRS 9

The Group makes allowances on items subjects to ECL
(including trade receivables and contract assets) based
on assumptions about risk of default and expected
loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, based on the Group’s past history, existing
market conditions as well as forward-looking estimates
at the end of each reporting period as set out in notes
2.7 and 32.4. As at 31 March 2024, the carrying
amounts of trade receivables and contract assets
amounted to HK$28,726,000 (net of ECL allowance of
HK$27,000) (31 March 2023: HK$38,816,000 (net of
ECL allowance of HK$262,000)) and HK$228,219,000
(net of ECL allowance of HK$5,501,000) (31 March
2023: HK$132,070,000 (net of ECL allowance of
HK$1,533,000)) respectively. Details of the trade
receivables and contract assets are disclosed in notes 16
and 18 respectively.

(a)

(b)
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)
(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainties

(continued)

Management estimates the recoverable amount
of items of property, plant and equipment when
an indication of impairment exists. This requires an
estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating
units. Estimating the value in use requires management
to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows
from the cash-generating unit and also to choose a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows. Changing the assumptions
selected by management to determine the level of
impairment, including the discount rates or the growth
rate assumptions in the cash flow projections, could
materially affect the net present value used in the
impairment test. The carrying amount of property,
plant and equipment as at 31 March 2024 was
HK$21,712,000 (2023: HK$35,179,000). Based on
the impairment assessment of the management, no
impairment of property, plant and equipment was
made for the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.
Further details are set out in note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the
expected manner of realisation or settlement of the
carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of each
reporting period. Deferred tax assets were recognised
in respect of the tax losses arising in Hong Kong to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will
be available against which the assets can be utilised.
Therefore, estimates are made to establish whether
deferred tax balances should be recognised. As at
31 March 2024, the Group has no unused tax losses
arising in Hong Kong (2023: HK$15,807,000) available
for offset against future profits. No deferred tax assets
(2023: HK$15,807,000) available for offset against
future profits, which were offset against deferred tax
liabilities. Further details are set out in notes 9 and 23 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B{Z —FE_F=H=+—HI-F/Z

4. FESFHEFIRHAE @

(b) HEFTHEEENETEREZ@®

ERERTFEREDREMGEY
¥ HERMAIREEBEENTKRES
o hFEMFREELABANE
RAEE HERAEEREEERE
B RS EEBEMNTERARRS
mE - WEEBEEMARENUGEHE
EEReRENHE - EXNEEE
EIEM R AR EREKFE(BER
REFBLREANFRHERERR
F) A ge EORERH P ERAFE
BEEASEAFE R_ZE-_NF=
A=1T—H %% #BRERED
BREEA21,712,0008 T(Z 2 ==
F : 35,179,000/ 7T) - RIFERE
RBER G  AEBRBEE-_Z =
mMER T -_=F=A=+—A801F
FEMERYE R REEED
BB - B — P BEENERE TSR

EEIERE

AAIREERENSEEREZEE
REBEENKRAEZBRAKREXEE
MR - BRERREERIENR
EEAMMBRGTE - KRBKATEE
BRERB S F Al AIA R HE ER -
AEBELERRBEBEENREAE

BRIAECHRBEEE - At

MEEL AT RS #ERE
EBIRERSR R T _MFE=A=
+—H $’$IIEEA%§/’§FE

MABRAREBR(ZT =% :

15,807,000 T) + A A LA 85 oK
RS A o M4 T R LA 8 R PR

MOBEERBREE(ZT =% :

15,807,000 ) * A AR SHE TR
HBE - E— T BEHNERE TS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.

5.1 Revenue

The Group’s principal activities are disclosed in note 1 of

the consolidated financial statements.

Revenue recognised for the years ended 31 March 2024

and 2023 are as follows:

Revenue from contracts with

e M RERME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z —F —pIF = =+—HI-F/Z

Wz & 7 2R & ¥
5.1 Wz

NEBNTEEKNGEETBERE
PBsF 19 58 o

BHE T -_NFK-_T-_=ZF=A
=T —HULEFEBRHRZOT

2024
—E-MmE

2023
—E-=F
HK$'000
T

HK$’000
FERT

RERMBHREERF 155

customers within the scope of WEERNEFSHkE
HKFRS 15
Contracting revenue Sl 911,778 784,126
Sales of construction materials SHEREM R 34,074 2,083
945,852 786,209
Timing of revenue recognition under £ & 81 7 3R & 2 B 1555
HKFRS 15 B TR U S AV R R B
Services transferred over time FE R 85 % 1) AR 75 911,778 784,126
Good transferred at a point in time REFERET N E M 34,074 2,083
945,852 786,209
Contracting revenue =yl

Revenue from construction contracts are recognised over
time as the Group’s performance creates and enhances
an asset that the customer controls which referred
as the designated areas where the construction work
services performed. The progress towards complete
satisfaction of a performance obligation is measured
based on output method, which is to recognise revenue
on the basis of direct measurements of the value of the
services transferred to the customer to date relative to
the remaining services promised under the contract.

Sales of construction materials

Revenue from sales of construction materials are
recognised at a point in time when the Group transfers
control of the goods to the customer.

K ERZEA KW — R fE A
R RARAKENEOTREIE
KRR T &P ARG EE (BNEE
TTRETERBEER) - 2%
RIEHNETRENEEHREER b
FitE - NEBERBESESE
BRTEPZREZEE  HEEH
THEGERENSR TR ZEEER

oz -
HEREIH

REHEREMHHBENAEE
R mEEHREEEE RO
$£ ﬁE E/u\ °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z —F —pUF =H=+—HIF)Z

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. W@k EBER @
(continued)
5.2 Segment information ’“‘Bﬁﬂ

The CODM has been identified as the executive directors
of the Company. The CODM regard the Group’s
business as a single operating segment and review the
overall results of the Group as a whole to make decision
about resources allocation. Accordingly, no segment
analysis information is presented.

Geographical information

No separate analysis of segment information by
geographical segment is presented as the Group’s
revenue and non-current assets are principally
attributable to a single geographical region, which is
Hong Kong.

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers which individually contributed
over 10% of the Group’s revenue is as follows:

Customer A EPEA
Customer B’ = B!
Customer C' =RC
Customer D' =D

DEBREECHEREALA
Mﬁﬁ%$ Igméﬁﬁ%%$
EEMNEBRAE —KEHI - I
HHEANEBEB I EE  UREBER
DERIELREK - At - WEZ5 5D
AT ER -

1th FE 25 F)

R AEBNKENIERBEEE
ZREE—MWEEE)  HITESR
R D L DD HER 2 B
BOT °

EBEFEEFHEFR
ERME AR EBMKLZEBIBI0%NES
kT

2024 2023
—E-NEF —F_=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT T

382,183 N/A2 73 3 2
333,580 387,609
N/A2TR3E 2 128,694
N/A2TR3E 2 103,711

1 The customer represents a collection of companies

within a group.

d The corresponding revenue did not individually
contribute over 10% of the Group's revenue during the

year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M58 R

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z —F —pIF = =+—HI-F/Z

OTHER (LOSS)/GAIN, NET 6. Hin(EE), Wi FE

Net losses from changes in fair value on

2024
—ECIF

HK$’000
FERT

BREME N FEEDER

2023
—E-=F
HK$'000
T

investment property (note 14) FE(MEE14) (570) (310)
Rental income He WA 156 156
Interest income M BUA 1,457 722
Net foreign exchange loss i be (978) (1,258)
Government grant and subsidies (note) B 76 B R e B (B 2) - 7,817
Others Efb (242) -

(177) 7,127
Note: 5T

During the year ended 31 March 2023, HK$7,817,000 from the
Employment Support Scheme (“ESS”) under the Anti-epidemic Fund,
set up by the Hong Kong Government was received by the Group.

FINANCE COSTS

7T

7. HMBEH

RBE_Z_=F=A=+—HLFE K&
ERBEERARINENRES B TR
KIat 8 (TR BURET 81 ) WAL 7,817,000/

2024 2023

—E-ImF —E=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHAT

Interests on borrowings EECUIS 921 146
Finance charges on lease liabilities HEARNREEHR 79 40
1,000 186
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z —F —pUF =H=+—HIF)Z

8. PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX 8. BRFFSBiADEF

2024
—ET-mF

HK$’000
FERT

BRFTS B A& M E HIBR
() ETIHA(BIFESH
) (MizE12(a))
—FE IE - TBAR

Profit before tax is stated after charging:
(a) Staff costs (including directors’
remuneration (note 12(a))
— Salaries, wages, bonus and other

2023
—E-=F
HK$'000
FHET

benefits HAbaw 136,383 153,591
— Retirement scheme contributions — IRIRET I
(note a) (P 7a) 3,651 4,253
Staff costs (including directors’ BIAKN(BIEESEH
remuneration) (note b) B) (Bid5EDb) 140,034 157,844
(b) Other items (b) 18 H
Depreciation, included in: e FHA
Direct costs BHEXR
- Owned assets -BEEE 17,196 20,861
Administrative expenses THAX
- Owned assets -BEEE 200 40
- Right-of-use assets - EREEE 1,053 777
18,449 21,678
Lease charges: HEME :
— Short term lease of office -WAEEHEE 155 25
= Short term lease of machinery - KEEPHE 24,091 27,339
Total lease charges HEM A% 24,246 27,364
Subcontracting charges (included in HBERAXGIAEE
direct costs) B AR) 156,750 172,637
Cost of sales of construction materials $HE EEM B A
(included in direct costs) Gt AEZEKA) 32,934 2,050
Outgoings in respect of investment REWHE Z X IH
property 18 18
Auditor’s remuneration ZE AN & 1,204 1,159
ECL allowance on trade receivables and FHRE 2 REIEIE K&
contract assets, net BHEENBHREE
EEEE - 8 3,733 74
Donation B 48 63

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX (continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M RERME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z —F —pIF = =+—HI-F/Z

8. BRFIBHANER w0

Notes: Bt aE
(@)  During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, there (@ REEZZ-_NEFR-_ZFT-_=F=A=
were no contributions forfeited by the Group on behalf of T—BIFE AEBUERKXRTEH
its employees who left the plan prior to vesting fully in such B AT AT 2 A B B WA
contribution, nor had there been any utilization of such MR NEB R EA 2R AR ER
forfeited contributions to reduce future contributions. As at BAREER - BE_ZT_WHFR-_T -
31 March 2024 and 2023, no forfeited contributions were =F=A=+—8 " $EDRUERA
available for utilization by the Group to reduce the existing HAE BB A LUR KRB fFOKTE -
level of contributions.
(b)  Staff costs (including directors’ remuneration) are as follows: by BIXKNBEZEZFHHNOT
2024
e [ 3
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT
Direct costs BERA 125,208 144,460
Administrative expenses THRAX 14,826 13,384
140,034 157,844

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

9. FIEBIRX

2024 2023
—E-MmEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT T
Current tax: BNEARR IE -
Hong Kong profit tax (note a) BEBNEB (M 5Ea) 1,590 -
Overseas tax (note b) B INHIE (M FED) 22 -
Deferred tax (note 22) EERIA (T 5E22) 1,014 1,116
Income tax expense for the year FARATSHRFES 2,626 1,116
Note: 5T
(@) Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 (@) WBEAESHMAS  2EREENE2E

&7 TTHDR T A $28.25% B B R
MBiE2 B & T aE M i51216.5% M B

million of profits of qualifying entities will be taxed at 8.25%,
and the profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The
profits of entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax EHB o TRE TS B RS K EEEH
rates regime will continue to be taxed at 16.5%. For the years i I M IZ 16 5% IR REF - BE
ended 31 March 2023 and 2024, Hong Kong profits tax of a —E_ =R -_EFE_NF=ZA=+—H
subsidiary of the Company is calculated in accordance with the HEFEE - ARRKBEARNESFE/H
two-tiered profits tax rate regime. BFST M ARGIETE

BONE RN Z RIB TR A R E R = EE
FRITRERANFRERBOGENE

(b)  Taxation on overseas profit has been calculated on the (b)
assessable profit for the year at the rates of taxation prevailing
in the country in which the Group operates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z —F —pUF =H=+—HIF)Z

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 9. FifS®iBEXZ@
The taxation for the year can be reconciled to the profit BEGEERRAMPEKER  FAK
before income tax per consolidated statement of profit or loss THELRR TS B AR A BR 0TS -

and other comprehensive income as follows:

2024 2023
—ECmE =%

HK$'000 HK$’'000
FET THET

Profit before income tax B PTAS B AT 4 K 6,794 9,039

Tax at Hong Kong profits tax rates of 16.5% 12 &EF S FL16.5%

(2023: 16.5%) (ZE==%F : 16.5%)
STERH 1,121 1,491

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses AR FE S OF S & 1,901 1,049
Tax effect of non-taxable income BAFRBANTRIEZE (236) (1,409)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AIERREE BN E 64 (5)
Tax effect of different tax rates of overseas  /BINERT R =R

operations W2 (53) =
Tax effect of two-tiered profit tax regime F 1S 50 R AR Bl O B 7 s 2 (165) =
Others Hitb (6) (10)
Income tax expense for the year FRMERAZ 2,626 1,116

10. DIVIDENDS 10. K&

No dividend was paid or proposed for the years ended 31 HEZZ - NFR-TE-_=F=-A=1+—
March 2024 and 2023, nor has any dividend been proposed BIEFE  ARRZEFTEDFHEZIK
since the end of the reporting period. MRS  B¥EAIRAZR - IMEER

IRAERIARR o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M58 R

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z —F —pIF = =+—HI-F/Z

11. EARNINGS PER SHARE 11. ERER
The calculation of basic earnings per share attributable to RAFIE=FEE ARIEERERBAIRIA
equity holders of the Company is based on the following: TEEFE
2024 2023
—E-mEF —F-_=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Earnings R
Profit for the year attributable to equity RATEREE AEG
holders of the Company F N A 4,188 7,923
‘000 '000
TR F &
Number of shares gvig =]
Weighted average number of ordinary shares & i % A4 S 5 £k
(note 24) (MtsE24) 1,200,000 1,200,000
There were no dilutive potential ordinary shares during the HE-Z-_NER-ZT-_=F=RA=1+—
years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023 and therefore, diluted HIEFEWRAESE NN T @R - Fit
earnings per share equals to basic earnings per share. BREERFBENTRERRF -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z —F —pUF =H=+—HIF)Z

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 12. EEREBETHRAEMERSA

EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID EREMEAL

INDIVIDUALS

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s (a) EERBRETHRAEME
emoluments

Emoluments of the directors and chief executive
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)
of the CO and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of

RIEEWRR - AEERPIFE383(1)
ERAR(KEEEFZER)HA
FE2MEENEERERTRAEN

126

Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as e
follows:
Salaries, Retirement
allowances Discretionary scheme
Fees and benefits bonuses contributions Total
g8
e  RBRAE MR  BIAGEHER H)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT AL THL 787 TET
Year ended 31 March 2024 HE-Z-ME
ZR=t-BLEE
Executive directors: HITEE
Mr. Yip ik - 79 66 - 860
Mr. Cheung Chun Fai RiRELE - 1,114 94 18 1,226
Independent non-executive directors: ~ BUHHTEE -
Mr. Chan Ka Yu RRFAA 180 - - - 180
Mr. Lee Kwok Lun TR LS 180 - - - 180
Mr. Chan Wa Shing RERLAE 180 - - - 180
540 1,908 160 18 2,626
Year ended 31 March 2023 HE-ZT-=F
=R=+-RALEE
Executive directors: HITEE
Mr. Yip 93 = 791 66 = 857
Mr. Cheung Chun Fai RiRELE = 1,067 89 18 1,174
Independent non-executive directors: ~ BUHHTEE -
Mr. Chan Ka Yu BRETEE 180 = = = 180
Mr. Lee Kwok Lun FEBLE 180 = = = 180
Mr. Chan Wa Shing RERLAE 180 - - - 180
540 1,858 155 18 2,571
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M58 R

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z —F —pIF = =+—HI-F/Z

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S 12. EERBRETHAEMERE
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID EREMEA L@
INDIVIDUALS (continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s (a) EERREITHRAEME@®

emoluments (continued)

For the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, no BHE_Z_NMFrR-_ZT-_=F=H
emoluments were paid by the Group to the above =+—HLFE  AEEWER L
directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the MEBEZNEAME - EAMER
Group or as compensation for loss of office. & B ol hn B2 7 £ B B A SR B ok B

A -

There were no arrangements under which a director FRWEEEWENRBREEM
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the e cB(ZT_=F : &) -

year (2023: Nil).

(b) Five highest paid individuals (b) TEBREEMEAL
The five individuals whose emoluments were the HE_Z_WNWFEF=RA=+—HItF
highest in the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024 E -AEBAEESHEALTE
included two (2023: two) directors whose emoluments EMBEESR(-Z __¢ 5 E
are disclosed in note 12(a). The aggregate emoluments =) EMSBERMTE12() - Hi
in respect of the remaining three (2023: three) ZZ(CEBE=F: =ZZ)ATH
individuals are as follows: SRRZRWT ¢
2024 2023
—E-MmEF —E-=4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT T
Salaries, fee and allowances e e KERL 2,747 3,065
Discretionary bonuses T IFIEAL 232 385
Retirement scheme contributions BRIRETEIH R 54 54
3,033 3,504
The emoluments fell within the following bands: MeeEmT

Number of individuals

A
2024 2023
—E-mE —E=F
Emolument bands: 5 & E -
Nil — HK$1,000,000 Z T2 1,000,000 T 2 1
HK$1,000,001 — HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 %
1,500,000/ 7T 1 2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z —F —pUF =H=+—HIF)Z

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

13. Y% - B R RE

Furniture,
fixtures and Plant and Right-of-use Leasehold
equipment machinery Motor vehicles assets  improvement Total
G BekE
Rk&fE  HEREE RE  RAREE HEUREE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TATL TATL TAL TAL TAL TAT
Cost 7S
Asat 1 April 2022 R-E-—FMA-H 1,161 152,478 9,522 2,638 - 165,799
Additions NE - 9,710 - - 240 9,950
Reassessment of lease term  E 47 A (i)

(Note) - - - 1,773 - 1,773
Witten off s - - - (2,638) - (2,638)
As at 31 March 2023 AZEZ=%=F=+-H 1,161 162,188 9,522 1,773 240 174,884
Asat 1 April 2023 AZEZ=EMA-A 1,161 162,188 9,522 1,773 240 174,834
Additions AE - 3,952 236 794 - 4,982
As at 31 March 2024 RZB-ME=A=1-H 1,161 166,140 9,758 2,567 240 179,866
Accumulated depreciation  R5HTE
Asat 1 April 2022 R-E-—FMA—H (1,161) (108,839) (8,509) (2,156) - (120,665)
Charge for the year ERFR - (20,361) (500) (777) (40) (21,678)
Depreciation written back MR EEANE

upon written off - - - 2,638 = 2,638
As at 31 March 2023 A—F-=#=B=+-H (1,161) (129,200) (9,009) (295) (40) (139,705)
Asat 1 April 2023 jA S Rl (1,161) (129,200) (9,009) (295) (40) (139,705)
Charge for the year ERRR - (16,649) (547) (1,053) (200) (18.449)
As at 31 March 2024 RZB-ME=A=1-H (1,161) (145,849) (9,556) (1,348) (240) (158,154)
Net book value REFE
As at 31 March 2024 R-B-ME=A=+-A - 20,291 202 1219 - 21,112
As at 31 March 2023 \ZE_=¥=A=1-H = 32,988 513 1478 200 35,179
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13.

14.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M RERME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z —F —pIF = =+—HI-F/Z

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)
Note:

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group has renewed the
lease arrangement for office premise with a remaining lease term of
20.6 months for an additional period after the end of the original
lease term. No option to renew the lease after the end of the contract.
The Group makes fixed payments during the contract period.

As at 31 March 2024, the carrying amount of the Group's right-of-
use assets in relation to the office premise and motor vehicle are
HK$649,000 and HK$708,000 respectively (2023: HK$1,478,000 and
nil).

INVESTMENT PROPERTY

Movements of the carrying amounts presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position can be
summarised as follows:

13.

14.

Y - EWRRE®

BAE

RBE-_Z-_=F=A=+—HIEE  X&
EEETHAESMENHERS  WERE
THEIAE R ET — B - 2 N 520.61E
B -RAENEME  WESERENRER-
AEERELHBRELBEEMK -

R-ZZE-_WF=ZA=+—H AEEHIE
MERAENFEAEEENREED A
649,000/8 7T }2708,000/8 T (Z T — =4 :
1,478,000 T K E) -

BREYE
AR RMESREE 2 E8) A
U1 N

2024
—ECmF

2023
—E-=F
HK$'000
T T

HK$'000
TR

Carrying amount as at 1 April RUA—H/ERAE 4,480 4,790
Changes in fair value of investment property RIBFERNIREDEN

recognised in profit or loss N EED) (570) (310)
Carrying amount as at 31 March R=ZA=+—HBMERAEE 3,910 4,480

2023/24 IR o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z —F —pUF =H=+—HIF)Z

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (continued) 14. REMHEmw
Fair value measurement of investment REMENAFETE
property
The following table shows the Group’s investment property T%ﬁ']ﬂ‘\??éﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁiﬂi?ﬂ$%@m&ﬁ
measured at fair value in the consolidated statement of MEREEUEEURNTERFE DA=
financial position on a recurring basis, categorised into three BRATEER AHRSHRENTAENGEA
levels of a fair value hierarchy. The levels are based on the Eﬁfﬁz—féﬂmﬁﬁizz&f BT
observability and significance of inputs to the measurements,
as follows:
Level 1:  quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for F—[E : HRAEERAGNERMISHR
identical assets and liabilities. BOCREHAR) o
Level 2:  inputs other than quoted prices included within FE BAESABRE EEENR
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or BAINEE S HEASEMEA
liability, either directly or indirectly, and not using HIE - WHNEREATERE
significant unobservable inputs. A o
Level 3:  significant unobservable inputs for the asset or FE-[E : EENBENEATAHERGA
liability. R -
2024 2023
“EREF —E_=F
Level 3 Level 3
B=F E=E
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER FAT
Recurring fair value measurement REMDNFETE
Investment property: LEME
Residential property in Hong Kong BENEEYE 3,910 4,480
There have been no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the BT NERE=F=HA=1—
years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023. HIEFE  SEEASERE=E -
The investment property was revalued by an independent E’\_ E_NMFRZB_=F=ZA=+—
qualified valuer as at 31 March 2024 and 2023, who have CREMER —RB LA ERIEER
the relevant experience in the location and category of (%Fﬁfﬁﬁ%%ﬁ’\]ﬂﬁx&iﬁ%”ﬁﬁ PRk
property being valued. There was no change to the valuation BB R MERNSEZSY -

techniques during the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M RERME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z —F —pIF = =+—HI-F/Z

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (continued)

Fair value measurement of investment
property (continued)

Set out below are information about the fair value of
investment property categorised under Level 3 fair value
hierarchy:

Valuation

technique

fh{ET %

Investment property:

FTUEEE ARE

14. REMHEmw

BREVENDAFLEFE@®

ATHINEEREEF="BAFEERSE
IR EMELFENEH

Range of unobservable input
FTHEEGABBENEE
31 March 31 March

Unobservable input 2024 2023

—EMF
=A=+—H

REW :

— Residential property Income Market yearly rental rate taking HK$450 per HK$434 per
capitalisation into account of individual square feet square feet
approach factors such as location,

environment, age,
accessibility, floor, size, etc.
-FEME WAB AT A misBFEEGIRUE - BYHER BFITR

RIE Bl BB 4508 T 43477
EEEFEREZR)

Capitalisation rate of 3.9% 3.3%
reversionary income

ERERABR(EE 3.9% 3.3%

The fair value of the residential investment property in Hong
Kong are determined using income capitalisation approach by
capitalisation of future rental, which largely use unobservable
inputs (e.g. market yearly rental rate, capitalisation rate,
etc.) and taking into account the significant adjustment on
term yield to account for the risk upon reversionary and the
estimation in vacancy rate after expiry of current lease. In the
valuation, the capitalisation rate adopted is by reference to
the yield rates observed by the valuer for similar properties
in the locality and adjusted for the valuer's knowledge of
factors specific to the respective properties. The fair value
measurement is positively correlated to the future rental and
negatively correlated to the capitalisation rate.

Fair value adjustment of the investment property is recognised
in the line item ‘Other (loss)/gains, net’ in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

The Group's borrowings and banking facilities are secured
by the investment property with carrying amount of
HK$3,910,000 (2023: HK$4,480,000) as at 31 March 2024
(note 21).

BEEEREVENQFERARAER
ETEEBBARAREEENMEMEE - =
EEATATERRE A REWmSEFHE
T BAMERE)  UE R EHRKSE
KMERNFHERECOREERRROER) KE
THMEREHZEXRNMEG - EHE
B FIRANERMCRTI2ZMAERMRE
WROUMEMBRI SR - WRER
EMSEEMERERZNT HETH
B -QAVEAEEAKRES2TE - &
EXERZ2Z8EH -

BREMERNFERAETAGAREREM
EEdERIEAM(ER), s o FE]

AEENBERMBITHRE AR EMEE
B HEREYER T -_MFE=A=
+—BHEEEEA3,910,0008 T(ZF =
=4 : 4,480,000/ 7T) (M 5E21) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z —F —pUF =H=+—HIF)Z

15. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 15. RKTE QRN ER
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2024 R-E-_NFER T -_=ZF=ZA=+—
and 2023 are as follows: B XZMBARIFBOT :
Place of Issued and
incorporation/ paid up
establishment  Type of legal capital/registered Equity interest
Company name and operation  entity capital attributable to the Group Principal activities
AL/ BRTRBRRE/
NEEH RIREEME ZARRER EMER AEEEERE TERH
2024 2023
ZBCME T
Directly held
EBRAE
Richer Ventures Limited The BVI Limited liability 350,000 ordinary 100% 100%  Investment holding
company shares of US$1
Richer Ventures Limited RBEXES  BRAR 350,0008 &R EfE 100% 100% RERR
1ETHERR
Top Growth Ventures Limited The BVI Limited liability 50,000 ordinary 100% 100%  Investment holding
company shares of US$1
Top Growth Ventures Limited RBRTEE  ARAA 50,000 S EE 100% 100%  RAER
1ETHERR
Able Standard Enterprise Limited The BVI Limited liability 1 ordinary shares 100% 100%  Investment holding
(note (a)) company of US$1
Able Standard Enterprise Limited KBRTEE  ARAA 1REREE 100% 100% HAER
(B @) 1ETHERR
Treasure Apex Enterprise Limited The BVI Limited liability 1 ordinary shares 100% 100%  Investment holding
company of US$1
Treasure Apex Enterprise Limited RBRTEE  ARAA \hEkaE 100% 100%  RAER
1ETHERR
Vast Perfect Enterprise Limited The BVI Limited liability 1 ordinary shares 100% 100%  Investment holding
(note (b)) company of US$1
Vast Perfect Enterprise Limited BRTEE  ARAA \REREE 100% 100% HEER
(RZE(b) 1ETHERR
Essential Quality Enterprises Limited ~ The BVI Limited liability 1 ordinary shares 100% = Investment holding
(note (c)) company of US$1
Essential Quality Enterprises Limited ~~ KBRZEE  ABAF \REREE 100% - RERR
(BE(c) 1ETHERR
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z —F —pIF = =+—HI-F/Z

15. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 15. KB QRN ER @
Place of Issued and
incorporation/ paid up
establishment  Type of legal capital/registered Equity interest
Company name and operation entity capital attributable to the Group Principal activities
EMAL/ BRIRBERK/
RRER RIREELYE AARRER EREE rRBEGRE TEEH
2024 2023
ZEopE “To=F
Indirectly held
BEEE
Kit Kee Engineering Limited Hong Kong Limited liability 300,000 100% 100%  Undertaking foundation
company ordinary shares works in Hong Kong
AT IRBRAH &R CINT 300,000 E1BMk 100% 100% EFEAEHEIR
Dragon Rise Asia Limited Hong Kong Limited liability 10,000 100% 100%  Trading of construction
company ordinary shares material and
investment holding
EFTNEHERAR &R ClINT 10,0008 % @ 100% 100% EBEREHHR
RERR
Dragon Rise Construction Technology ~ Hong Kong Limited liability 10,000 100% = Inactive
Limited (note (d)) company ordinary shares
ERREMEARLR (M) &R BRAR 10,0008 % @ 100% - TER
Dragon Rise Investment Limited Hong Kong Limited liability 10,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
company ordinary shares
RAREERARAT & BRAF 10,0008 & & 100% 100% RERR
Dragon Rise New Energy Holdings Hong Kong Limited liability 10,000,000 51% = Investment holding
Limited (note (¢)) company ordinary shares
EAMERERERLA(e)  BA ARAH 10,0008 & ik 51% - REER
Dragon Rise New Energy (HK) Limited ~ Hong Kong Limited liability 10,000,000 51% = Inactive
(note (f)) company ordinary shares
ERMERERERAAMZN) A BRAA 10,000/ & &k 51% - AR
Ocean Summit Credit Limited (note (g)) Hong Kong Limited liability 10,000 100% = Inactive
company ordinary shares
HEEEARAR () Bl BRAF 10,000/ & &k 100% - AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z —F —pUF =H=+—HIF)Z

15. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 15. KB D RS @
Place of Issued and
incorporation/ paid up
establishment  Type of legal capital/registered Equity interest
Company name and operation entity capital attributable to the Group Principal activities
EMAL/ BRIRBERE/
RRER RIREEHE ZAREER EREE FRBEGRE TEEH
2024 2023
ZEopE “To=F
Guangdong Dragon Rise Investment ~ The PRC Limited liability Registered capital of 100% 100% Investment holding
Limited (formerly know as Guangdong company RMBS5,000,000
Dragon Rise Construction Limited)
EREARAARLA i BRAA AF%5,000,0007C 100% 100% AR
(FIBEREAREARAR) &R
Guangdong Dragon Rise Trade The PRC Limited liability Registered capital of 100% 100%  Trading of construction
Development Limited company RMB5,000,000 material and
investment holding
EREFEHERARLA G CINT AF%5,000,0007C 100% 100% BEREHHR
M EA RERR
Yunnan FTZ Longzheng Industry The PRC Limited liability Registered capital of 67% = Inactive
Limited (note () company RMB 3,350,000
EHARESRRERERER P BRAF AR%3,350,0007 67% - TER
ARAF () &R
Guangdong Longfei Trade Limited The PRC Limited liability Registered capital of 67% = Trading of construction
(notes () & (1)) company RMB 13,400,000 material
EREFRMARLDMZOR) BRAR AR 13,400,000 67% - BEREHH
HEmER
Guangdong Longyu Trade Limited The PRC Limited liability Registered capital of 67% = Trading of construction
(notes () & (1)) company RMB 6,700,000 material
ERENEHARRDMWZORI)) BRAR AF%6,700,0007C 67% - BEREHH
HEmER
Guangdong Longyu Engineering The PRC Limited liability Registered capital of 67% = Inactive
Limited (notes (k) & (1)) company RMB 6,700,000
ERENIRARLDMZORN BRAAE AF%6,700,0007 67% - TEER
HEmER
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 {2 —FE _MF=H=+—HILF)Z

15. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Notes:

(a)

Able Standard Enterprise Limited was established and
incorporated on 2 September 2022 in the BVI.

Treasure Apex Enterprise Limited and Vast Perfect Enterprise
Limited were established and incorporated on 1 July 2022 in
the BVI.

Essential Quality Enterprises Limited was established and
incorporated on 28 November 2023 in the BVI.

Dragon Rise Construction Technology Limited was established
and incorporated on 6 February 2024 in Hong Kong.

The Group acquired 51% equity interest of Dragon Rise New
Energy Holding Limited on 27 November 2023.

Dragon Rise New Energy (HK) Limited was established and
incorporated on 27 November 2023 in Hong Kong.

The Group acquired the entire equity interest of Ocean Summit
Credit Limited on 11 July 2023 in Hong Kong.

Yunnan FTZ Longzheng Industry Limited was established and
incorporated on 14 November 2023 in the PRC.

Guangdong Longfei Trade Limited was established and
incorporated on 31 August 2023 in the PRC.

Guangdong Longyu Trade Limited was established and
incorporated on 11 December 2023 in the PRC.

Guangdong Longyu Engineering Limited was established and
incorporated on 25 December 2023 in the PRC.

The English names of the PRC companies refer to in this
note represents management'’s best efforts in translating the
Chinese names of those companies as no English names have
been registered or available.

15. R B2 R ERE @

MEE

(@)  Able Standard Enterprise Limitedi® =% =
—FENAZRERBRE SN KT
AT -

(b)  Treasure Apex Enterprise Limited 2 Vast
Perfect Enterprise Limited A =& = —
+A-—BERBEZHSHK Y KK

-~
VAR

(0) Essential Quality Enterprises Limitedid =
E=Ft+—AZ T \BERBEREZH
S eV S & alifp AV

(d) BEAZEMEBERATDN-Z_MF—
RARBEEEKL REMMKL -

() AAFTR-ZBE-_=F+—A-++tBlk
BB IAERIZIR AR AR5 %ARAE -

 BEAFEREB)ARARANR_ZT_=
Ft—A-t+EREFBRI REMK

-
AVARS

(@ AEBR-_Z-_=F+A+—HBEEB
WEEHS = E B IR A BT ARE -

) BEAHESARERRELARAF
R-F-=#+—A+WAEFERY
BRI -

() EREFEMHERAFANR-Z-_=FN
RA=+—H&EPRBELLFEMKL

() EREREMERARNNR-_ZT-_=F+
At BEFRBEKS REMKTL

k) BREAIRERARAR-Z_=F+
ZAZ TR BRAERBER REEMAKAL o

O AWMFRERENTEARIXEHRERE
EERABNIBEZERANH XA
o AR ZE AR A M B
BT -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z —F —pUF =H=+—HIF)Z

16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 16. EF R EMERRIE
2024 2023
—ECmE =%
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FHB T FHET
Trade receivables B S EWRE
— from third parties -REE=FH () 28,753 39,078
Less: ECL allowance, net o TEHEEEERE -
R (27) (262)
28,726 38,816
Deposit, prepayment and other #& - EAFHIER
receivables Hfth EUW TR TE
Other receivables H b fE UL FRIE 480 361
Prepayment (note) B FIE () 879 500
Utility and other deposits PREXERAMES 182 248
Amount due from the ultimate e e e S il /NCIE/ S
holding company (b) 110 110
1,651 1,219
30,377 40,035
Portion classified as non-current DEAERDEEN D
assets - (168)
Current portion mENEB 30,377 39,867
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e M RERME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z —F —pIF = =+—HI-F/Z

16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

Note:

Prepayment of HK$408,000 was made for purchasing materials as at
31 March 2024 (2023: Nil).

The directors of the Company consider that the fair values of trade
and other receivables which are expected to be recovered within one
year are not materially different from their carrying amounts, because
their balances have short maturity periods on their inception.

The Group usually provides customers with a credit term of 28 to 90
days (2023: 28 to 45 days). For the settlement of trade receivables
from provision of construction services, the Group usually reaches
an agreement on the term of each payment with the customer by
taking into account of factors such as, among other things, the credit
history of the customer, its liquidity position and the Group’s working
capital needs, which varies on a case-by-case basis that requires the
judgement and experience of the management.

The details of ECL measurement for trade and other receivables are
set out in note 32.4 to the consolidated financial statements. As
at 31 March 2024, ECL allowance of HK$27,000 (31 March 2023:
HK$262,000) was recognised on these debtors.

Based on the invoice dates (or date of revenue recognition, if earlier),
the ageing analysis of the trade receivables, net of ECL allowance,
was as follows:

16. E5 Kk HE At EWFIE @

B aE -

RZZE-_mWE=A=+—0  BEME N
8 1 FIEA08,000/8 L (Z T = =4F : %) o

AAREERR  ANZEHEHKRE RRETN
FMARE  RE S REMERFRGEHR
—FRAKREMNAFEEEREETESAE
Ho

AEBBERZFRMHE28EI0R(ZTE =
28T ASK)ZAH - MAERBEERS
MNESERUFIEMNS AEEBRERBENR
FER R P EK G ST R(HFRBER
WEEESE  mEEeMikAE@EEES
ETRERE - EERARBRmMAMTR - WA
REEEERH B RER -

FHEBESREMERRENBREEREEB
EFBHERGEAEMBRRNTEI24- RZF
ZWME=A=+—H  EXZSEWELE
227,000 T (ZE-_=F€=A=+—H :
262,000/ ) MTBHAZ E R 1B B4 -

REXZAHERERABEH  UREER
%) BHRUFANGREREREBEREEN
FREE DTN T

2024

—E_-MMEF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAIT
0 - 30 days 0E 30X 22,868 26,692
31 - 60 days 31260k 4,894 12,124
61— 90 days 61290K 964 =
28,726 38,816
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REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z —F —pUF =H=+—HIF)Z

16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)  16. B 5 & H th F& WU IE (50

(a) Trade receivables (a) EZEWFRIE
The movement in the ECL allowance on trade B ZRWFENEHREEBERE
receivables is as follows: BENT -
2024 2023
—EB-mF —E=F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FExT T
Balance as at 1 April RUA— B8 &R 262 509
ECL reversal recognised during the year, FRAERNFBHEZE
net EEEE - FEE (235) (247)
Balance as at 31 March R=ZA=+—HBW&EH# 27 262
(b) Amounts due from the ultimate holding (b) FEWHARZER D BFIE
company
The amounts due are unsecured, interest-free and BRREAEER  RERELRE
repayable on demand. KIEE -
Particulars of amounts due from the ultimate holding RIE R AMEAIEE383(1)(d)IEK B
company, disclosed pursuant to section 383(1)(d) of the R SEEZERARNRBEFBN
CO, are as follows: T
Maximum
amount
31 March outstanding 31 March
2024 during the year 2023
—E-NE FRES —E =
=A=+-—-H e AR B ERIE =A=+—H
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BT BT FHIT
Fame Circle (note) Fame Circle (Fft3F) 110 110 110
Balance as at 31 March RZA=+—Hm&H% 110 110
Note: BI5E -
Fame Circle is wholly owned by Mr. Yip and Mr. Yip is the sole Fame CircleR¥ k42 EHA RELE
director of Fame Circle. #Fame CirclefME—EF o
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z —F —pIF = =+—HI-F/Z

17. FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE

THROUGH PROFIT AND LOSS

ABRE

Life insurance policy

7. BERFEFABRENEREE

2024 2023
—E-MmE —E =4

HK$"000 HK$'000
FExT TAT

1,000 -

The amount represents the insurance premium paid for a 10-
year life insurance policy (the “Insurance Policy”) to insure
a director of the Company. Under the Insurance Policy, the
beneficiary and policy holder is the Group. The Group can
terminate the Insurance Policy at any time and receive cash
at the date of termination based on the account value of
the Insurance Policy (the “Cash Surrender Value”), which is
determined based on the premium paid with the accrued
returns after netting of the charges (including a surrender
charge) in accordance with the terms and conditions of the
Insurance Policy.

The total insured sum is HK$2,000,000. At the inception
of the Insurance Policy, the Group was required to pay an
upfront payment of HK$1,000,000.

Payment for the Insurance Policy is classified as a financial
asset at FVTPL as contractual rights to cash flows do not
represent contractual cash flows that are solely payments of
principle and interest on the principal amount outstanding.
The Insurance Policy is measured under Level 2 fair value
hierarchy. The fair value is measured with reference to the
quotation of the Insurance Policy from the insurance company.

The director of the Company have no intention to terminate
the Insurance Policy within 12 months after the end of the
reporting period and, therefore, the amount was classified as
a non-current asset.

The following table shows the reconciliation of Level 2 fair
value measurement:

ZEBRER/ARR - REZTRAM M
BWTFRMASRE(TREDRE - RIERF
B IEARREFAEALDRAEE - K
SETBER AR IERE - WAL A HIUCER
—ERRERFERCREERFREBD
BHRE  MEFPEEMRBEESNRER
REAMERAR IR IR B A9 R S AR & A
(BREERER)WERTEHRETE

4% IR %8 /2,000,00058 7T « MR ERIA
B ANEBZALNBEEFKIE1,000,000%

7_E°

MREBR SR BN A NBRITRERS
RS RABERS STOFSHAE Y
Hem  WRENKSEARATET
NEHNSRMAE - RERE_RATE
BB E - ATESERRATFIRER
B -

ARBEFEENBEHREI2EAR
RIERE - MARRBRDBAIERDE
}?E o

TRITRE-_BRATEERGTEZH
BE :

HK$°000
FHET

As at 1 April 2023

As at 31 March 2024

R-T-—=%FmMA—H
Purchased BEEE
RZE-_N&EF=A=+—H 1,000

1,000
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z —F —pUF =H=+—HIF)Z

18. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 18. EHNEEREHNERE
LIABILITIES

18.1 Contract assets

181640 EE

140

2024 AV
—E-NE

HK$’000 HK$'000

THT FHTT

Unbilled revenue REBE W 161,438 76,655

Retention receivables EUWIRE & 72,282 56,948
Less: ECL allowance, net B TEHEEEIEERE

FHE (5,501) (1,533)

228,219 132,070

Note:

Unbilled revenue represents the Group’s right to receive
consideration for work completed and not yet billed because
the rights are conditional upon the satisfaction by the
customers on the construction work completed by the Group
and the work is pending for the certification by the customers.
The contract assets are transferred to the trade receivables
when the rights become unconditional, which is typically at
the time the Group obtains the certification of the completed
construction work from the customers.

Retention receivables included in contract assets represent
certified contract payments in respect of works performed,
for which payments are withheld by customers for retention
purposes, and the amount retained is withheld on each
payment up to a maximum amount calculated on a prescribed
percentage of the contract sum.

PaE -

ABEBEWRIEAEEREAETT T2
WEL BB R RENAFEPERAE
SEMEREETENAEEATIEE
&P R M i ARG ARRE - IR
REGHR  GHNEENEEREZEIRE
WHIE  —RAARBESTEREHE R
THRETIZMRER -

FARHEBENRURESECEREOT
ROBAAHNMNR  MEBNRIET
FPHZERE S - REBEENFEMRE
MEBERSRIZANAERTAED LA
HNHRBEHE

Changes of contract assets during the year ended 31 March REE-T-_NF=A=1+—HIF

2024 were mainly due to: T ANEEZHFTEHR

(i) Changes in retention receivables as a result of changes (h FRETHFREEKAELONEE
in number of ongoing and completed contracts during HRES  EHEWRBSER
the year; and 28 R

(ii) Changes in number of contract works that the relevant
services were completed but yet been certified at the
end of each reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M RERME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z —F —pIF = =+—HI-F/Z

18. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (continued)
18.1 Contract assets (continued)

The contract assets are transferred to the trade
receivables when the rights become unconditional,
which is typically at the expiry date of the period for
the provision of assurance by the Group on the service
quality of the construction work performed by the
Group. The gross amount of contract assets expected
to be recovered/settled over one year is HK$29,751,000
(2023: HK$16,233,000), all of the remaining balances
were expected to be recovered/settled within one year.

The details of ECL measurement for contract assets
are set out in note 32.4 to the consolidated financial
statements. Based on ECL assessment, ECL allowance
of HK$5,501,000 (2023: HK$1,533,000) has been
recognised as at 31 March 2024.

The movement in the ECL allowance on contract assets
are as follows:

18. EHEEREGHNAEE®

1816 HNEE@®

RN B EGEER(—RAEREE
MEETHEETIRNREE =R
HEBOHRERE) AHNEE
TERER S ENIE - EEHER
MB—FRE  EEZANEER
B6/529,751,0008 T (ZE = =4 :
16,233,000/ 7T) © FT A SR
R—FERUkE

T EANEERPEEEEN
HBENGA M B HRRNE32.4 -
BIEBHEEBETGE  R2ZT=
W= A=+—HE#R5,501,000
BT (ZZT =% : 1,533,000/ 1)
WIBHEEEEEE -

AHNEENTBHREERBRENSE
E)/ N

2024 2023

—EomEF —TE-=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHTT

Balance as at 1 April RO H — B/ 1,533 1,212
ECL allowance recognised during the ~ FRERNFBHREEERE

year, net BiE - F8E 3,968 321

Balance as at 31 March R=A=+—Hr4AER 5,501 1,533
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z —F —pUF =H=+—HIF)Z

18. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 18. EHNEBEERGHNEBE®W
LIABILITIES (continued)
18.2 Contract liabilities 1828 EE
2024 2023
—E_FE =4
HK$'000 HK$’'000
FTHERT FAET
Contract liabilities arising from BESHBARNREED
construction contracts from billings in A4 &&
advance of performance 464 99
All of the contract liabilities are expected to be FFEEHNABEBEER —FRIK
recovered/settled within one year. Bl #EE o
Revenue recognised in relation to contract EREREHNEE K
liabilities

2024 2023
—EOF —E_=F

HK$°000 HK$°000
FTERT TAT

Revenue recognised that was included T AF & LB BEEHRH
in the contract liabilities balance at BRI
the beginning of the year 929 45
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z —F —pIF = =+—HI-F/Z

18. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 18. EHNEBEREHNEB@W
LIABILITIES (continued)
18.2 Contract liabilities (continued) 18268 EE@W
Unsatisfied long-term construction KB RBEREA
contracts
The transaction price allocated to the remaining EQ;)?EJF—E ' ﬁ@iiﬂﬂﬂ@ﬁ’?ﬁ
unsatisfied or partially satisfied performance obligation EHIBONBTROEENRS
as at 31 March are as follows: fEmmT
2024 2023
—E_EF —E =4
HK$°000 HK$’'000
FET FHET
Within one year —FNR 985,204 991,538
The amounts disclosed above do not include transaction EXBEBEAORBELTNBESEEE
price allocated to performance obligations which have B #1B A  °] AKX B IR 5l M ) R &
been satisfied but not yet recognised due to variable HROBHETHNRRHEE -

consideration constraint.

19. CASH, BANK BALANCES AND PLEDGED 19. RE - BITERRCEBER
DEPOSITS

2024 2023
—E-ME =4

HK$°000 HK$'000
FTET TAT

Cash, bank balances and pledged deposits 8% - $R1T45 8 K

[REEEEEE 133,962 96,261
Less: bank deposits, pledged B BIEIRITER (33,964) (25,179)
Cash and cash equivalents per the FEReERERETH
consolidated statement of cash flows HeMReEEY 99,998 71,082
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fn & M5 H RN

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B{Z —FE_F=H=+—HI-F/Z

19. CASH, BANK BALANCES AND PLEDGED

DEPOSITS (continued)

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates.

Pledged bank deposits earn effective interest rate at 0.68%
—0.93% (2023: 0.01% — 0.68%) per annum and have a
maturity of 1 to 2 month. They have been pledged to secure
bank facilities (note 21).

Included in bank and cash balances of the Group is
HK$23,363,000 (2023: HK$16,705,000) of bank balances
denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) placed with banks in the
PRC. RMB is not a freely convertible currency. Under the PRC’s
Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration
of Settlement and Sales and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for
foreign currencies through banks that are authorised to
conduct foreign exchange business.

The directors consider that the fair values of cash at bank are
not materially different from their carrying amounts, because
their balances have short maturity periods on their inception.
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()
RITESRE RRITFERM RSN X
FREXAIE. ©

EEIARITFERIZ0.68%Z0.93% (==
TZ=F :0.01%Z20.68%) ) B FF R
BEEFIE - R—Z2ME AR E - RITER
VEBIEEURTTBE & HOHE 38 (BYaE21) o

REBERIRTT RIS &% 21E23,363,000
BIT(ZE =% : 16,705,000/ 7T) TF
FEHREHBRITHUARBEIARE]DE
RYSRTITASBR o AR IR AR B A SN EE & Il 16451 LA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

20. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &2 —F —piF = H=

e M RERME

T—HILFE

20. ES R HMESFIE

2024 2023
—E-mEF —EB_=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHETT
Trade payables (note (a)) B 5 MR FRIE (T 5E ) 80,159 36,702
Accruals and other payables (note (b)) FEETE A R H A FUR
(1 &£ (b)) 5514 3,788
85,673 40,490
Notes: Bt i
(@)  Payment terms granted by suppliers are 0 to 90 days (2023: 0 (a) HEBRTHNZBRAEEBREE

to 30 days) from the invoice date of the relevant purchases.

The ageing analysis of trade payables based on the invoice date

is as follows:

ZAMHHLIHOEIOR(ZZT_=F : 0&
30K) °

B HENFURIZER B HIRER 210
T

2024 2023
—EoQmF —FE_=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TET
0 — 30 days 0%£30K 72,258 29,509
- 60 days 31260 6,667 7,166
=90 days 61290k 1,234 27
80,159 36,702
(b)  As at 31 March 2024, accruals and other payables mainly (b) A=4+—8 & ;+

comprised of: (1) accrued professional fee which amounted
to HK$1,938,000 (2023: HK$1,761,000); (2) accrued
employee benefits of approximately HK$1,247,000 (2023:
HK$1,058,000); and (3) amount due to a director which
amounted to HK$1,476,000 (2023: HK$267,000). The amount
due is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

(0) All amounts are short-term and hence, the carrying values of ()
the Group’s trade payables and accruals and other payables are
considered to be a reasonable approximation of fair value.

2023/24 IR o

ZENEFE=
ERPEMENRBEERE )

Eﬁ%%%ﬁm 938, oooﬁésrc(_
=% :1,761,000/87T) ; .:HEE
zmﬂfm,247,000,%75(_$:E¢ :
1,058,000/ 7T) : RQ)EMN —BEERK
181,476,0008 T (=2 = =4 : 267,000
BT o BIEIE A EIKE - £ 8 RAER
TREE -

FTE IR REHFIE - Fit - A&EE
W E 5 RN FORA R B B A R E A&
NHENEEERSESEAFEARER
e

RASEZERARLT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z —F —pUF =H=+—HIF)Z

21. BORROWINGS 21. BX
As at 31 March 2023 and 2024, the borrowings were RZEBE - =ZFR T -_NF=ZA=+—
repayable as follows: H AEENEROT

As at 30 March  As at 31 March
2024 2023
R=-—Z—-NQ R -_=F

F=HA=+H =A=+—8H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FET

Secured bank loans repayable on demand EESKEERN B EMRRT

(note (a)) R () 58,400 1,883
Unsecured corporate bond (note (c)) | QB ES () 2,105 -
60,505 1,883
Portion classified as non-current liabilities DHEAEERBEBENED (2,000) =
Current portion mENE 58,505 1,883
Notes: FfaE
(@)  As at 31 March 2024, the bank loans are interest-bearing at (@ RZZTE-_MNE=A=+—8 " BITEX
4.22% 10 6.19% (2023: 4.58% to 4.76%) per annum. REFRL22%E6.19% (ZF==F :
4.58%%4.76%)5H 8 °
(b)  As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the banking facilities of the by RZZTZWOFR-ZT_=F=F=+—
Group were secured by: H AEEMRITHREZAUTHTAE
1R
(1) Corporate guarantee given by the Company; (1) ZAARHREMLERER:
(2)  Charges on the investment property owned by the ) FREBEMEBHREME I 14)
Group (note 14); and 21 &
(3)  Charges on certain bank deposits (note 19) made by the (3) AEE®HETRITFRELE9)
Group. A -
() On 18 July 2023, the Company issued an unsecured two-year © RZZEZ=FtA+NB  AAGEIAHE
corporate bond with a principal amount of HK$2,000,000 ENEHFEENETERN —RBILFE=
to an independent third party at an issue price equal to the J5 #1784 %8 52,000,0005%8 7T HY £ 3K 1
face value of the bond. The principal of the corporate bond MEHRRIES - RRIBEFNASIRTE
bears interest at rate of 7% per annum and interest is payable FEI%TBEFMBAGFRF—IX -

annually in arrears.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M58 R

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z —F —pIF = =+—HI-F/Z

22. LEASE LIABILITIES/OBLIGATION UNDER 22. HEEE WMEHETHEK
FINANCE LEASES

The analysis of the Group's lease liabilities and obligation AEEHEGGELRERSE THNEB SN
under finance leases is as follows: W

2024 2023
—EE —E =4

HK$'000 HK$’'000
FERT TAT

Total minimum lease payments: SEMRENRBE
Within one year —FK 856 946
After one year but within two years —F1&  ERMFER 375 630

After two years but within five years ME%  BERAEFA 196
1,427 1,576
Future finance charges R 75 E (100) (82)
Present value of lease liabilities HEAEBRE 1,327 1,494
Present value of minimum lease payment: SEBEMFEE -
Within one year —FN 806 876
After one year but within two years —F1% - BRMERA 333 618
After two years but within five years MEE - BERAFA 188 =
1,327 1,494

B —FERB RIS
GIRREIEER) (806) (876)

Less: Portion due within one year included
under current liabilities

R—EFREIHNID
GIRIEREEERN) 521 618

Portion due after one year included under
non-current liabilities

REE-Z-_NFEF=A=+—BIFE -
NEBp—WREI L HAELH - HEH

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group has entered
into lease arrangement for a motor vehicle. The lease periods

are for four and a half year. At the end of the lease term, the
Group has the option to purchase the leased assets at a price
that is expected to be sufficiently lower than the fair value
of the leased asset at the end of the lease. The lease does
not including contingent rentals. As at 31 March 2024, the
effective interest rate on the lease was 6.08% per annum.

The Group has also entered into lease arrangement for
office premises during 31 March 2024 and 2023, details of
which are included in note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the total cash outflows
for the leases are HK$ 1,194,000 (2023: HK$808,000).

ROFEE  RNEEHTHEE  AEEHE
BENFRREEREEEENEHEYTHE
ReAFENERBEEHESE - 2HEM
EVTBREuAEE R-_T_WF=H
=+t—H REAHENERINXSESF
6.08%

REE-_ZT-_NMFEER-_T-_=F=fA=+
—HIEFE  AEENRHAEWER]L
AETHERH  EREABIREREMBER
FHIFE13 ©

BE_Z-_ME=A=+—RI-EE - #
EMR S M A% A1,194,0008 (=
Z =% : 808,000/ 7T) °

2023/24 ¥ o HAKREEZERBRLF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z —F —pUF =H=+—HIF)Z

23. DEFERRED TAXATION 23. IEERIE
The net movement in deferred tax assets/(liabilities) and RERE TS AR R A FER G A AR E 7 18
recognised in the consolidated statement of the financial BE/(BBZHFENAT :

position during the year are as follows:

Deferred tax

Deferred tax liabilities
assets  attributable to
attributable to  accelerated tax
tax losses depreciation

BEEBE MEBETE
By SIWEEHE

BEREEE =i st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FAT
As at 1 April 2022 RZE-_—_FMA—H 5217 (4,878) 339
Recognised in profit or loss KB HER (PHEE9)
(note 9) (2,609) 1,493 (1,116)
As at 31 March 2023 and i —
1 April 2023 —A=+—Hk
“E-=FA—H 2,608 (3,385) (777)
Recognised in profit or loss P18 1R (P 519)
(note 9) (2,608) 1,594 (1,014)
As at 31 March 2024 R-B-WEF
=A=+—H - (1,791) (1,791)
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had total tax RmEIR - A&EEE £H4595,000%
losses of approximately HK$595,000 (2023: HK$16,012,000) TL(ZZE =4 : 16,012,000/ 0) KB
available to carry forward against future taxable income. PTG IEE R P A5 EE - DASR SH R R FE AR T UL
No deferred tax assets have been recognised in respect of A o APAARI & M ey T Al TR - 37
tax loss of approximately HK$595,000 (2023: HK$205,000) BB IEEEL595,0008 T (ZF =
due to unpredictability of future profit streams. Tax losses =4 : 205,000 T) RIELEHIBEE ©
of HK$205,000 do not expire under current legislation and RIBFIREE A - 205,000/8 oI FRTE & 18
HK$390,000 will be expired in 5 years. WA E KR - M390,000% T8 M 5F K
KR o
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24.

25.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M58 R

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z —F —pIF = =+—HI-F/Z

24. IR

SHARE CAPITAL

2024 2023
ZBoQE —F-=F
Number of shares HK$'000  Number of shares HK$'000
BHEE THET BEE FET
Authorised: EE
As at 1 April and 31 March REA—BAK=A=+—H 10,000,000,000 100,000 10,000,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRAR
As at 1 April and 31 March RUNA—BR=A=+—H 1,200,000,000 12,000 1,200,000,000 12,000

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements
therein for the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023 are
presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
of the consolidated financial statements.

Share premium

The share premium represents the difference between the par
value of the shares of the Company and net proceeds received
from the issuance of the shares of the Company.

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the
share premium account of the Company may be applied for
payment of distributions or dividends to the shareholders
provided that immediately following the date on which the
distribution or dividend is proposed to be paid, the Company
is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course
of business.

Other reserve

Other reserve of the Group represents the difference between
the nominal values of the share capital of subsidiaries
acquired by the Group and the nominal value of the
Company’s share issued under the Group’s Reorganisation
(the "Reorganisation”) in connection with the listing of its
shares on the Stock Exchange. Details of the Reorganisation
are set out in the paragraph headed “Reorganisation” in the
section headed “History and Development” in the Company’s
prospectus dated 26 January 2018.

Translation reserve

Translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences
for the translation of financial statements of foreign
operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policy in note 2.3.

25. f#E
AEERBEREANBE T omER—
Eo=gE=A=+-AILEEIEHNE
AU REZ GAEREHENLY -

1 47 (B
BDHEEARARNEAERETADA
BAFEHRFELAOERE -

RERASEERRE - NRBRDE(ER
AARNRBRRAENDIKSKARE - 1
EEBEZEI NI SN BHMEAR

AIBRNEERBEBLABER NG
br=g
Hib ke

AEBEMFEHEEAREMEBENERR
MBRAEERREASESMA(EMR)E
TR R B Bt TR B 22 i T MY EDE 2 [
MWEE -  ERFRHENARRIBHAS =T
—NEFE-AZTRANERERIES R
BRI-SEHE] K-

BEHE

0 R R B R TR 2 T
E = R - EETYREME2 3R
SRR -

2023/24F3 o HEAEEREREBERERLAE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z —F —pUF =H=+—HIF)Z

26. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY

26. AQ B BN T

2024 2023
—EMmF —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THxT THTT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAE
Non-current asset kRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RETBARMIRE 15 143,765 143,765
Current assets REBEE
Other receivables E fib el 3k I8 253 177
Amounts due from subsidiaries U B /B~ B FRIE 77,197 79,198
Cash and cash equivalents ReEREEEED 1,722 996
79,172 80,371
Current liability REBEE
Other payables H Ath FE A FRIR (1,596) (1,704)
Borrowings (BN (105) =
(1,701) (1,704)
Net current assets RBEEFE 77.471 78,667
Total assets less current HEERRBEE
liabilities 221,236 222,432
Non current liabilities kRBEME
Borrowings [EEA (2,000) -
Net assets EEFE 219,326 222,432
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXREE
Share capital (& 24 12,000 12,000
Reserves (G 207,236 210,432
Total equity R 219,326 222,432
Mr. Yip Yuk Kit Mr. Cheung Chun Fai
EEAEE RIRE L4
Director Director
EE2 EE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M RERME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z —F —pIF = =+—HI-F/Z

26. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY (continued)

The movement of the Company’s reserves are as follows:

27.

26. A2 7] B SRR 3 @)

ARFEEHEHOT -

Share Other  Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
R 47 5 ME Hftn i 4y 7 @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
THIL THIL THT THET
Balance as at 1 April 2022 RZEZZFNA—B &8 96,898 143,371 (26,768) 213,501
Loss and total comprehensive FABERZERY B
expenses for the year - - (3,069) (3,069)
Balance asat31 March 2023 andas M-_Z-=F=A=1+—HR
at 1 April 2023 T =FNA-RAZ&R 96,898 143,371 (29,837) 210,432
Loss and total comprehensive FABEREZERYASE
expenses for the year = = (3,196) (3,196)
Balance as at 31 March 2024 R-E-MF=A=1+-H
i 96,898 143,371 (33,033) 207,236
Note: Mer

Other reserve of the Company represents the difference between the
total equity of subsidiaries acquired by the Company and the nominal
value of the Company’s share issued under the Reorganisation.

LEASE COMMITMENTS
As lessee

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the lease commitments for
short-term leases are as follows:

Within one year —FRX

27.

ARBEAMFEEEA R BB B A F AR
SARERBEEAFTHARBARMNEEZA
HERE ©

HEAE

ERAEBEA
R-E-MER-"F-=GF=A=+—
B ERREMEERENT

2024 2023
—E-E B =4

HK$'000 HK$’'000
FET TAET

138 126

2023/24F3 o HEAEEREREBERERLAE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z —F —pUF =H=+—HIF)Z

27. LEASE COMMITMENTS (continued)
As lessor

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the future aggregate
minimum lease receipts under non-cancellable operating
leases in respect of the Group’s investment property are
receivables as follows:

27. HEARE@
EREBEA

R -_NER B -_=F=ZF=+—
B ANEBREEYEBRBETAIHEELE
A i FE UL 2 A SR AR (K AR & R U R AR B AT
j?:

2024 2023

—E-mEF —T=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTER FAT

Within one year —FR" 156 56
After one year but within two years —&&  ERMAFER 56 -
212 56

The Group leases its investment property (note 14) under
operating lease arrangements which run for an initial period
of two years (2023: two years), with an option to renew the
lease terms at the expiry date or at dates as mutually agreed
between the Group and the respective tenant.

28. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the balances and transactions detailed elsewhere
in this report, the Group had the following transactions with
its related parties during the year.

ENEFNEEHAX

Rental expenses paid to a director

AEEEREMELRETHEAREDE
(F&E14) - VIR AHIME(CT =% :
mE)  HEBSNHEERHBHHALE
[ B AR RATE P i E Y B R B A B RR
EIERE -

28. B ARRS
BAWMEE M TR ERRRS
oh o AEERENEERBE T ETU TR
% o

2024
—ENEF

2023
—E-=F
HK$'000
TFET

HK$"000
FExT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M RERME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z —F —pIF = =+—HI-F/Z

28. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
Key management personnel remuneration

The emoluments of the directors and senior management of
the Company, who represent the key management personnel

28.

BEAERS @
TEEEAEME
HE_E-_NER-_FTE-_=F=A=+—
BEFE  ARAEERaREERE (A

during the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023 are as FEEBABMENT :
follows:

2024 2023
—E-MmE T =F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHETT
Salaries, fee and allowances e o me MoERL 3,602 3,480
Discretionary bonuses BB IEAL 303 437
Retirement benefit scheme contributions 3R RI8 & 2] 5 54 54
3,959 3,971

29. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group has been involved
in a number of claims, litigations and potential claims against
the Group in relation to work-related injuries and non-
compliances. The potential claims and litigations against the
Group, as a subcontractor, are insured by main contractor’s
insurance policy, the directors are of the opinion that the
claims, litigations and non-compliances are not expected
to have a material impact on the consolidated financial
statements, and the outcome for potential claims is uncertain.
Accordingly, no provision has been made to the consolidated
financial statements.

30. PERFORMANCE BOND

As at 31 March 2024, the Group has one (2023: two)
outstanding performance bond of approximately
HK$3,067,000 (2023: HK$5,492,000) given by a bank in favor
of the Group’s customer as security for the due performance
and observance of the Group’s obligations under the contract
entered into between the Group and its customer. If the
Group fails to provide satisfactory performance to its customer
to whom performance bond has been given, such customer
may demand the bank to pay it the sum or sum stipulated in
such demand. The Group will become liable to compensate
such bank accordingly. The performance bond will be released
upon completion of the contracting works.

29.

30.

2023/24 IR o

NAREE
R-E-—WNFR T -_=F=ZA=+—
B AEBPRZSEHEAEENTHL
BETEHREHMNER  FARBERR -
HHEAEB(EADBRE) MEBEERRKF
IR BRERERNRBRERR  EERA
ZERE  FARTAREHERTSY
RAVBRRENEATE  ABEHRR
MERATEE - Bt - MERGETH
HRAET B -

BHRESR
R-_ZE-_WNWE=/F=+—H A& H
B (ZE2Z=F - MEREENED
REL 43,067,000 T (ZF =4 :
5,492,000/ 7T) «+ A —HIRITUAAREE
NEFAZHA FAREBEASER
BFEAMVHANETNZABHORETER
EFHER - WAKEEZARTF(ERE
BTRHORFBSIELSEBRENRE -
AERREFPAUNERETRESNERE
KR TR SR B - ARBBABEEE
MABRITELBENEE - BORES
ST TER A 4 T2 18 IR fRRR -

RASEZERARLT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z —F —pUF =H=+—HIF)Z

31. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING  31. RMEEBEANEBE 2 HIR
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing

AEERERPMELRBECEHANE

154

activities can be classified as follows: R
Corporate Lease
Borrowings bond liabilities Total
A DRESH HESE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TEL TEL TEL
As at 1 April 2022 R-E-—FmA—H 6,639 = 489 7,128
Cash-flows: RERE .
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENHEERSMEARLLS = = (768) (768)
Interest element of lease rentals paid ENAERENFEES = = (40) (40)
Proceeds PS5 R 3,136 = = 3,136
Repayments B (7,892) = = (7,892)
Other changes: Hit@® : -
Reassessment of lease term BHAHLTE = = 1,773 1,773
Interest expense for lease liabilities HEARBHERAS - = 40 40
As at 31 March 2023 RZEZ=F=A=1—H 1,883 = 1,494 3,377
As at 1 April 2023 RZBEZ=FNA—H 1,883 - 1,494 3,377
Cash-flows: BeRE !
Capital element of lease rentals paid BERAEAENERT D - - (961) (961)
Interest element of lease rentals paid BERAEAENFIEED - - (79 (79)
Proceeds Fr§30E 62,150 2,000 - 64,150
Repayments (4 (5,633) - - (5,633)
Other changes: Hit#g
Reassessment of lease term EHAEE - - 794 794
Interest expense for lease liabilities MEABNSRX - - 79 79
Accruals of interest RIS - 105 - 105
As at 31 March 2024 R-E-_ME=A=+-H 58,400 2,105 1,327 61,832
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M RERME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z —F —pIF = =+—HI-F/Z

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUE MEASUREMENT

The Group is exposed to financial risks through its use of
financial instruments in its ordinary course of operations.
The financial risks include foreign currency risk, interest
rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall
risk management strategy seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group's financial performance. Risk
management is carried out by the senior management of the
Group and approved by the board of directors.

The Group's exposure to these risks and the financial risk
management policies and practices used by the Group to
manage these risks are described below.

32.1Categories of financial assets and
liabilities

The carrying amounts presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position relate to the following
categories of financial assets and liabilities:

32.

BEEBEERDFEANE

AEERBEBEBBIETERESRTAM
EE R - BERERSEINERE
NERER  EFERBRMEBEEZER - K
SENEREARERERKE ESHAEE
MBERBANBEINFEREREK - Bk
EEDRASESREEBRTIRES
S

AEBEZERRAEAERNEEEERZ
=5 ez P PR O B 765 L e T B R R S 1B 151 K
RTEX e

NITHMEEREBIE

REMBRRARSREESR T
TREERBEIHERM

2024 2023
—E-E B =%
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHBxT T IT
Financial assets SRMEE
Financial assets at amortised cost: IR AFIBRH SR EE ¢
- Trade and other receivables - B 5 ME MU GRIE 29,388 39,425
— Cash, bank balances and -IRE - RITEHREEEBER
pledged deposits 133,962 96,261
— Amount due from the ultimate  — EUREARIEI A 7518
holding company 110 110
163,460 135,796
Financial assets at FVTPL: AT EFABENE/MERE -
Financial assets at fair value BAFEFAEBZNSHEE
through profit and loss 1,000 -
164,460 135,796
Financial liabilities sREE
Financial liabilities measured at HBENAFTENSREE
amortised cost:
— Trade and other payables - B o5 RHEMERNFKIE (85,673) (40,490)
— Lease liabilities -HEaRE (1,327) (1,494)
Borrowings gk (60,505) (1,883)
(147,505) (43,867)

2023/24 IR o

RASEZERARLT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z —F —pUF =H=+—HIF)Z

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 32. B EKREER AFEFE®
VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)
32.2Foreign currency risk

32.2 MR B

156

Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that the fair
value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates.
The Group's exposures to currency risk arise from its
cash at bank denominated in RMB, which are not the
functional currency of the respective group companies.

The following table details the Group’s exposure as at
31 March 2024 and 2023 to significant currency risks
arising from recognised monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currency which are different
from the Group's functional currency.

SN R B R IME [E R B S Bl
TARFEIARKRRASREHT K
BRAR - AKREHERNEEER
KERAARE (LIEEREE QR
MR EH)FHEMRTRE -

TRFANAKEER T _MFER—
T =F=-A=1T—HRANUALKHE
WEEE B IASNR SN EEFHE A B R
EHEERBEMELENEARER
B

2024

—EMmF

RMB

N
Equivalent Equivalent
HER HER
HK$°000 HK$'000
Original currency FET FHTT
Trade and other receivables B 5 I E fth fE W kI8 21,308 =

Cash, bank balance and pledged ~ 3R& - R1T4& 5 R B EFTHR

deposits 23,363 16,706
Trade and other payables B 5 R E M ERSFRIE (3,028) -
Net exposure [ Bz 5 5B 41,643 16,706

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the
Group's profit after income tax during the year and
equity in regards to the strength in the functional
currencies of the group companies against relevant
currencies. Weakens in the same % of functional
currencies of the group companies against relevant
currencies will have equal and opposite impact on the
results of the year. The sensitivity rate is the rate used
when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key
management personnel and represents management's
best assessment of the possible change in foreign
exchange rates.

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ 2023/24 ANNUAL REPORT

TR B R SR B R A RR AR 1R 8 B K
BaHEBARZWEEELH
MERTHENBRRE - KERFZ
DREERAEBER 2REBAIL
RESHFAZEAEEHEFEER
M8 - GUERELETIRNEREE
BEEABHEINERBERMZLL
R BREEBHERAEES
RERHE ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M58 R

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z —F —pIF = =+—HI-F/Z

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)
32.2Foreign currency risk (continued)

32. IBEREER AFEETE®

32.2 S @ B ()

31 March 2024 —E-_ME=A=+—H

Sensitivity
rate

BRELR

Decrease in
profit after
income tax
BRETEH#
R R 2>
HK$'000
FHIT

Decrease in
equity

R D
HK$'000
TAT

RMB AR 5% (1,739) (1,739)
31 March 2023 —E-=4#=fF=+—H
RMB AR 5% (697) (697)

The sensitivity analysis of the Group’s exposure to
foreign currency risk at the end of the year has been
determined based on the assumed percentage change
in foreign currency exchange rates taking place at
the beginning of the financial year and held constant
throughout the year.

32.3Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value
or cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. The Group's
interest rate risk arises primarily from borrowings
and lease liabilities/obligation under finance lease.
Borrowings and lease liabilities/obligation under finance
lease bearing fixed rates expose the Group to fair value
interest rate risk and the exposure to the Group is
considered immaterial.

The exposure to interest rate risk for the Group bank
balances and pledged bank deposits are considered
immaterial.

RER - AREFELIEER 2
B S T BRI EEREE
5 b B BT A5 A A RO B O
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B{Z —FE_F=H=+—HI-F/Z

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 32. Bi¥EAKREER AFEHITEw

VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

32.4Credit risk 3248k

Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty to a
financial instrument would fail to discharge its obligation
under the terms of the financial instrument and cause
a financial loss to the Group. The Group’s exposure
to credit risk mainly arises from granting credit to
customers in the ordinary course of its operations. The
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk on recognised
financial assets is limited to the carrying amount as at
31 March 2024 and 2023 as summarised in note 32.1.

As at 31 March 2024, for trade receivables, the
Group usually provides customers with a credit
term of 28 to 90 days (2023: 28 to 45 days). For
the settlement of trade receivables from provision
of construction services, the Group usually reaches
an agreement on the term of each payment with
the customer by taking into account of factors
such as, among other things, the credit history of
the customer, its liquidity position and the Group's
working capital needs, which varies on a case-
by-case basis that requires the judgement and
experience of the management.

The Group applies the simplified approach for
trade receivables and contract assets to provide
ECL prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits the
use of the lifetime expected loss provision for
these receivables due from third parties. These
evaluations focus on the counterparty’s financial
position, past history of making payments and
take into account information specific to the
counterparty as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the counterparty operates.
Monitoring procedures have been implemented
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue balance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M58 R

For the year ended 31 March 2024 {2 —FE _MF=H=+—HILF)Z

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR BRREERAFEFTE®

VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

32.4Credit risk (continued) 32.4= & A b& im)

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, individual
credit evaluation on significant customers is
performed by an independent valuer engaged
by the management to estimate the ECL of trade
receivables and contract assets. These evaluations
focused on the customer payment history and
current and future ability for payment taking into
account the information specific to the customer
as well as pertaining to the current and future
general economic environment in which the
customer operated.

The expected loss rates are estimated based on
historical observed default rates over the expected
life of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-
looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort. At the end of each reporting
period, the historical default rates are updated
and changes in the forward-looking estimates are
analysed.

Trade receivables and contract assets are written
off (either partially or in full) to the extent that
there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is
generally the case when the Group determines

ﬁéf7—m¢&—i—_£ﬁf
A=1+—8 fAEEEZREHN
BIUAEMEERNTFET
ERERFE - AT EEFE
WHRIRMENEENTAREER
B8 - ZFREEINER
BT R 8 A K & Bl AN 3R
MWREES - RREREIZP
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I B EFR AT B R AT R - B
SRBFBERGNEE (B
HERP) BWMEE o W TIANE
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that the debtor does not have assets or sources of FORAE A B AR €A
income that could generate sufficient cash flows fai&#ﬁ%?ﬂﬁﬁﬁ’] KIE 2 —MRIE
to repay the amounts subject to the write-off. The c AEBEEEEMIRAR

directors of the Group reviewed and considered
no irrecoverable amounts should be taken account
for the overdue trade receivables balances as at 31
March 2024 and 2023.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group has concentration
of credit risk as 42% and 98% (2023: 41% and
97%) of the total trade receivables were due from
the Group’s largest customer and five largest
customers respectively and the aggregate amounts
of trade receivables from the Group’s largest
customer and five largest customers amounted
to HK$12,036,000 and HK$28,198,000 (2023:
HK$15,770,000 and HK$37,994,000) of the
Group’s total trade receivables as at 31 March
2024 respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B{Z —FE_F=H=+—HI-F/Z

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)
32.4Credit risk (continued)

As at 31 March 2024, the Group has adopted
expected loss rate ranging from 0.001% to
25.43% (2023: 0.001% to 19.73%) and 0.001%
t0 25.43% (2023: 0.001% to 19.73%) on the
gross carrying amounts of the trade receivables
and contract assets amounted to HK$28,753,000
(2023: HK$39,078,000) and HK$233,720,000
(2023: HK$133,603,000), respectively. The loss
allowance of trade receivables and contract
assets as at 31 March 2024 are HK$27,000
(2023: HK$262,000) and HK$5,501,000 (2023:
HK$1,533,000), respectively.

Other financial assets at amortised cost include
other receivables and deposits, cash, bank
balances and pledged deposits and amounts due
from a director and the ultimate holding company.
In order to minimise the credit risk of other
receivables and deposits, the management make
periodic collective and individual assessment on
their recoverability based on historical settlement
records and past experience as well as available
forward-looking information. Other monitoring
procedures are in place to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts. In these
regards, the credit risk of other receivables and
deposits are considered to be low.

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ 2023/24 ANNUAL REPORT

BREREER AR EFTEw@®

3245 E R ke @

R-ZEZE-_WFE=A=+—8 -
AEBERBEZERBFERELD
BERRM4E28,753,0008
TT(ZZE =4 : 39,078,000
7 T) & 233,720,000 7T
(Z= - =% :133,603,000
B IT) D B ER AN F0.001%
F25.43% (T - =4 :
0.001%%19.73%) 50.001%
E25.43% (= FE == :
0.001%%E19.73%) A FE HA ks
BR R-ZZE-_NF=A=+
—H BZBRKRFEREGHNE
ENBIERED 5 A27,000
BT (ZZT == : 262,000/
70) }%5,501,0008 (=T ==
4 11,533,000/ 7T) °

REHERAGEZEMERE
ESEEMERYRANRRSE -
Be  |RITEFEREEREK
&EEH&-%%%&%%%&“H&’A
AR © EHEEH?@JT%H&%KIE
)SZ?Z%%E’MZE CEEES
*ETF&BE%??EB%&}BE%«%Q
AR AT {65 PR RO BT RE 1 B 6
BRARR AT B2 AR E
Mk RERIFHE - NEE
TR EL 1 B SR 18 B AT AR B
BERETHE KRB RER -
LTS - EAREUWRIA R IR
HEERRBRSE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M58 R

For the year ended 31 March 2024 {2 —FE _MF=H=+—HILF)Z

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 32. BiEAKREER AFEHITE®w
VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

32.4Credit risk (continued) 32.4=Z & A B& m)

Besides, the management is of opinion that there
is no significant increase in credit risk on these
other receivables and deposits, amount due from
a director and amount due from the ultimate
holding company since initial recognition as the
risk of default is low after considering the factors
as set out in note 2.7 and, thus, ECL recognised is
based on 12-month ECL.

The credit risks on bank balances and pledged
deposits are considered to be insignificant because
the counterparties are banks with high credit
ratings assigned by international credit-rating
agencies.

32.5Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group will
not be able to meet its obligations associated with its
financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or
another financial asset. The Group is exposed to liquidity
risk in respect of settlement of trade payables and its
financing obligations, and also in respect of its cash flow
management. The Group’s objective is to maintain an
appropriate level of liquid assets and committed lines of
funding to meet its liquidity requirements in the short
and longer term.

Management monitors the cash flow forecasts of the
Group in meeting its liabilities.

Analysed below is the Group’s remaining contractual
maturities for its non-derivative financial liabilities as
at 31 March 2024 and 2023. When the creditor has
a choice of when the liability is settled, the liability is
included on the basis of the earliest date on when the
Group can be required to pay. Where the settlement of
the liability is in instalments, each instalment is allocated
to the earliest period in which the Group is committed
to pay.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z —F —pUF =H=+—HIF)Z

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 32. iEREBEER ATFETFE®

VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)
32.5Liquidity risk (continued)

The contractual maturity analysis below is based on the
undiscounted cash flows of the financial liabilities.

32.5 % B 4 R B @)
UTELIHLIMIHERESREE
RARBIRE S REELD -

On demand Over 1 year Total
or within but within  undiscounted Carrying
one year 5 years cash flow amount
RERY —F#%E  RERAE
R—FR RAEFR REAHE REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THT THT THT
As at 31 March 2024 RZB-NE=ZA=1-H
Trade and other payables BHREMENTIA (85,673) - (85,673) (85,673)
Lease liabilities HERE (856) (571) (1.427) (1327
Borrowings (note) AR () (60,893) (2,035) (62,928) (60,505)
147,422 (2,606) (150,028) (147,505)
As at 31 March 2023 RZEZ=F=A=1—H
Trade and other payables B 5 REMERNTE (40,490) - (40,490) (40,490)
Lease liabilities HERE (946) (630) (1,576) (1,494)
Borrowings (note) fE () (1,883) = (1,883) (1,883)
(43,319) (630) (43,949) (43,867)
Note: Mtz -

Borrowings of HK$58,400,000 (2023: HK$1,883,000) with a
repayment on demand clause are included in the “on demand
or within one year” time band in the above maturity analysis.
Taking into account the Group's financial position, the directors
do not believe that it is probable that the bank will exercise
its discretionary right to demand immediate repayment.
The directors believe that such bank loans will be repaid in
accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set out in the
loan agreements. At that time, the principal and interest cash
outflows computed using contractual rates with scheduled
repayment dates within one year time-band amounted to
HK$35,886,000 and within two years time-band amounted to
HK$24,867,000 (2023: within one year time-band amounted
to HK$1,907,000).

The Group considers expected cash flows from financial assets
in assessing and managing liquidity risk, in particular, its cash
resources and other liquid assets that readily generate cash.
The Group's existing cash resources and other liquid assets
significantly exceed the cash outflow requirements.
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33.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M RERME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z —F —pIF = =+—HI-F/Z

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

32.6 Fair value measurement of financial
instruments

The carry amounts of the Group’s financial assets and
liabilities are not materially different from their fair
values as at 31 March 2024 and 2023 due to their short
maturities.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group’s capital management objectives are to ensure the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern and to provide
an adequate return to shareholders by pricing goods and
services commensurately with the level of risk.

The Group actively and regularly reviews its capital structure
and makes adjustments in light of changes in economic
conditions. The Group monitors its capital structure on the
basis of the gearing ratio. For this purpose, gearing ratio is
calculated based on total borrowings divided by the total
equity as at the end of each reporting period and multiplied
by 100%. Total borrowings include bank loans, corporate
bond and lease liabilities. The management reviews the capital
structure by considering the cost of capital and the risks
associated with each class of capital. In view of this, the Group
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders,
issue new shares, return capital to shareholders, raise new
debt financing or sell assets to reduce debt.

The gearing ratio at the end of each reporting period was:

Total borrowings B4

32.

33.

BREREER AR EFTEw@®
326&EMITEZAFENE
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2024
—EB-mF

2023
—E-=F
HK$'000
T

HK$’000
FERT

Borrowings &K 60,505 1,883

Lease liabilities HEaE 1,327 1,494

61,832 3,377

Total equity S HARE 267,835 263,282

Gearing ratio BEAMFLEE 23.1% 1.3%
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SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

MEBHEE

The financial summary of the Group for the last five years is set as

follows:

For the year ended 31 March

AEEBERFOVBHEBHINMT ¢

HE=A=1t-HLEE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
“BCNE ZF-=F —ZF--f T CZT-TF
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THR TEL TEL TEL TEL
Revenue W zs 945,852 786,209 613,617 922,888 509,298
Direct costs e (906,389) (762,014) (594,243) (936,164) (504,127)
Gross profit/(loss) £/ (£8) 39,463 24,195 19,374 (13,276) 5,171
Other (losses)/gains, net i (B18)/ W 58 (m 7,127 1814 15,450 (925)
Administrative expenses THFAX (27,759) (22,023) (18,958) (21,143) (21,564)
ECL (allowance)/reversal on trade GHR) /KEEBERTERAL
receivables and contract assets, net BENBHCEBREE 58 (3,733) (74) 336 (1,071) (986)
Finance costs BB A (1,000) (186) (547) ) 817)
Profit/(loss) before income tax BREEHATER / (E18) 6,794 9,039 2,019 (20,811) (19,121)
Income tax (expense)/credit FERGEL) /e (2,626) (1,116) 5412 701 (976)
Profit/{loss) and total comprehensive FEEH/ (BB k2akS/
income/(loss) for the year (B18) % 4,168 7,923 7.431 (20,110) (20,097)
Other comprehensive gain: Hin2 Ak -
Items that may be reclassified AR BN A EE Bt
subsequently to profit or loss: EXER
Exchange differences on translation of BEBNERMELZR
Overseas operations 27 - - - -
Total comprehensive income/(loss) forthe AR RIEZHEE A2
year attributable to equity holders FE2ENE/ (BB)EE
of the Company 4,195 7,923 7,431 (20,110) (20,097)
Earnings/(loss) per share attributable to KARREREAREERET,/
equity holders of the Company: (B8) :
Basic and diluted EARESE 0.35centsfll  0.66centsfll  0.62 centsflll (1.68) cents flli (1.67) cents fll
As at 31 March
R=BA=1+-H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
“E-ME —T--f <—E_- —E-—%F ZZ-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TAL TAL TAL THAT
Assets and Liabilities BERARE
Non-current assets FEREAE 26,622 39,827 50,263 52,578 69,644
Current assets MEEE 392,558 268,198 247,600 249,529 282,416
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (4312) (1,395) = 5,562 5,774
Current liabilities mEEE (147,033) (43,348) 42,504 48,617 78,248
Total equity s 267,835 263,282 255,359 247,928 268,038
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